
March 4, 2024 
 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA 
MARCH 4, 2024 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 
7:30 P.M. 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Elaine McLain, Mayor 
 

II. ROLL CALL 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  
 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS, 
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF 
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
• Happy Birthday Commissioner Baller 

 
APPOINTMENTS 

A. Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
1. Paul A. Eddleston 
2. Patrick Hillberg 
3. Gordon Davies 

To appoint ________________ as a regular member to the Multi-Modal Transportation 
Board to serve a three-year term to expire March 24, 2027.  

To appoint ________________ as a regular member to the Multi-Modal Transportation 
Board to serve a three-year term to expire March 24, 2027. 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 
All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
Commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission Workshop meeting minutes of February 5, 
2024. 

 
B. Resolution to approve the City Commission regular meeting minutes of February 5, 2024. 

 
C. Resolution to approve the City Commission regular meeting minutes of February 12, 2024. 
 
D. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 

dated February 15, 2024 in the amount of $3,273,834.74. 



March 4, 2024 
 

E. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated February 23, 2024 in the amount of $1,544,386.34. 

F. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated February 28, 2024 in the amount of $6,148,060.15. 

G. Resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the Birmingham Shopping 
District to hold the Day on the Town event on July 27, 2024 contingent upon compliance 
with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of all fees and, further pursuant 
to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff at the 
time of the event, or event cancellation that may be deemed necessary by administrative 
staff, leading up to or at the time of the event.  

H. Resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the Birmingham Shopping 
District to hold the Birmingham Farmers Market on Sundays from May 5 – October 27, 
2024 contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and 
payment of all fees and, further pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may 
be deemed necessary by administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the event.  

I. Resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the Birmingham Shopping 
District to hold Birmingham Movie Nights on Friday June 7, July 19, August 9, and 
September 6, 2024 contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance 
requirements and payment of all fees and, further pursuant to any minor modifications 
that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff at the time of the event, or event 
cancellation that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff, leading up to or at 
the time of the event.  

J. Resolution to award the Edgewood Road Project #6-24(S) to Eminent Excavating LLC in 
the amount of $2,225,421.50 and a 5% construction contingency for a total of 
$2,336,692.58.  In addition, to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreement 
on behalf of the City contingent upon execution of the agreement and meeting all 
insurance and bond requirements by Eminent Excavating LLC.  Funding for this project 
has been budgeted in the following accounts: 

Fund Account Fund ID Number Project Award 5% 
Contingencies 

Total 

Local Street Fund 203.0-449.001-981.0100 $1,306,002.78 $65,300.14 $1,371,302.92 
Sewer Fund 590.0-537.000-981.0100 $703,716.92 $35,185.85 $738,902.76 
Water Fund 591.0-544.000-981.0100 $245,701.80 $12,285.09 $257,986.89 

 
AND  
To approve the appropriation and amendment of the fiscal year 2023/2024 budget as 
follows: 
 
 
 
 



March 4, 2024 
 

Local Street Fund: 
 Revenues: 
 203.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Fund Balance  $691,310 
 Total Revenue        $691,310 
 
 Expenditures: 
 203.0-449.001-981.0100 Public Improvements   $691,310 
 Total Expenses       $691,310 
 
Sewer Fund: 
 Revenues: 
 590.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Net Position  $528,910 
 Total Revenue        $528,910 
 
 Expenditures: 
 590.0-537.000-981.0100 Public Improvements   $528,910 
 Total Expenses       $528,910 
 
Water Fund: 
 Revenues: 
 591.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Net Position  $127,990 
 Total Revenue        $127,990 
 
 Expenditures: 
 591.0-544.000-981.0100 Public Improvements   $127,990 
 Total Expenses       $127,990 
 

 VI. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

VII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS 
A. Resolution to direct the Engineering Department to proceed with the final design of the 

North Adams Road Project from Madison Street to the northern City limits to reduce the 
existing 4 lanes to 3 lanes. 

B. Resolution to convert all one (1) hour parking meters to two (2) hour meters, except those 
on Maple between Old Woodward and Chester, and those on Old Woodward between 
Willits and Brown St., and to expand the 15-minute short-term pilot program through 
downtown, between Brown St. and Harmon, and Woodward and Chester.   

C. Resolution to establish the Ad Hoc Senior/Recreation Center Committee for a term of 3 
years, and to direct the City Manager to serve as an ex-officio member of the committee 
to facilitate the oversight and provision of input on the planning and development of a 
senior/recreation center at 400 E. Lincoln.  



March 4, 2024 

D. Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item for
future discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will happen
tonight.

E. Commission discussion on items from a prior meeting.
1. Cameras on vehicles
2. City run events and sponsors

IX. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA

X. COMMUNICATIONS
A. Advisory Parking Committee Letter

B. Shirley Arlington Letters

XI. REPORTS
A. Commissioner Reports

1. Notice of intention to appoint to the Martha Baldwin Park Board
2. Notice of intention to appoint to the Housing Board of Appeals

B. Commissioner Comments
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas
D. Legislation
E. City Staff

1. 2nd Quarter Budget
2. 2nd Quarter Investment
3. Southeastern Oakland County Water Authority Quarterly Report
4. Torry and Haynes Yield Sign Review

INFORMATION ONLY 

XI!. ADJOURN 
Should you wish to participate in this meeting, you are invited to attend the meeting in person or 
virtually through ZOOM:   https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760  
You may also present your written statement to the City Commission, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin 
Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, Michigan 48012-3001 prior to the hearing. 

NOTICE:  Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for 
effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk's Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-
5115 (TDD) at least one day in advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance.  
Las personas que requieren alojamiento, tales como servicios de interpretación, la participación efectiva en esta reunión 
deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-1880 por lo menos el día antes de la 
reunión pública. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 

https://zoom.us/j/655079760
tel:%28248%29%20530-1880


NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
MULTI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION BOARD 

At the regular meeting of Monday, March 4, 2024, the Birmingham City Commission intends 
to appoint to the Multi-Modal Transportation Board two regular members with terms expiring 
March 24, 2027. 

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the City Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's 
office on or before noon on Wednesday, February 28, 2024.  These documents will appear in 
the public agenda for the regular meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss 
recommendations, and may make nominations and vote on appointments.  

In so far as possible, the seven-member committee shall be composed of the following: one 
pedestrian advocate member; one member with a mobility or vision impairment; one 
member with traffic-focused education and/or experience; one bicycle advocate member; 
one member with urban planning, architecture or design education and/or experience; and 
two members at large living in different geographical areas of the City.  Applicants for this 
position do not have be a qualified elector or property owner in Birmingham. 

Duties of the Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
The purpose of the Multi-Modal Transportation Board shall be to assist in maintaining the 
safe and efficient movement of motorized and non-motorized vehicles and pedestrians on 
the streets and walkways of the city and to advise the City Commission on the 
implementation of the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan, including reviewing project phasing 
and budgeting. 

Applicant(s) Presented For City Commission Consideration: 
All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of the City of Birmingham City Code 
Chapter 2, Article IX, Ethics and Filing the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.  

Criteria/Qualifications 
Traffic-focused education/experience, mobility/vision impairment, 
urban planning, architecture or design education/experience. In 
addition, 2 members at large living in different geographical areas 
of the City. 

Paul A. Eddleston Member of the League of Michigan Bicyclists and Strong Towns 

Patrick Hillberg Sustainable transportation professor currently serving the board as 
an alternate 

Gordon Davies Automotive engineer currently serving the board as an alternate 
member 

3A

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities


SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 

To appoint ________________ as a regular member to the Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
to serve a three-year term to expire March 24, 2027. 

To appoint ________________ as a regular member to the Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
to serve a three-year term to expire March 24, 2027. 

3A



3A



APPLICATION FOR CITY BOARD OR COMMITTEE 

Thank you for your interest in serving on a Board or Committee.  The purpose of this form is to provide the City 
Commission with basic information about applicants considered for appointment.  NOTE: Completed applications are 
included in the City Commission agenda packets.  The information included on this form is open to the public.  All Board 
and Committee members are subject to the provisions of the Ethics Ordinance (Chapter 2, Article IX of the City Code). 

Information on various Boards and Committees and a list of current openings can be found on the City website at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities.      

(Please print clearly) 

Board/Committee of Interest ___________________________________________________________________________ 

Specific Category/Vacancy on Board ____________________________ (see back of this form for information) 

Name __________________________________________ Phone _________________________________ 

Residential Address _______________________________ Email *_________________________________ 

Residential City, Zip _______________________________ Length of Residence ______________________ 

Business Address _________________________________ Occupation _____________________________ 

Business City, Zip _________________________________ 

Reason for Interest:  Explain how your background and skills will enhance the board to which you have applied ________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

List your related employment experience _________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

List your related community activities ____________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

List your related educational experience __________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

To the best of your knowledge, do you or a member of your immediate family have any direct financial or business 
relationships with any supplier, service provider or contractor of the City of Birmingham from which you or they derive 
direct compensation or financial benefit?  If yes, please explain: ______________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Do you currently have a relative serving on the board/committee to which you have applied? __________________ 

Are you an elector (registered voter) in the City of Birmingham? ___________________ 

____________________________________________ _________________________ 
Signature of Applicant Date 
Return the completed and signed application form to:  City of Birmingham, City Clerk’s Office, 151 Martin, Birmingham, MI  48009 or by email to 
clerksoffice@bhamgov.org or by fax to 248.530.1080.              Updated 3/24/2021 
*By providing your email to the City, you agree to receive news & notifications from the City. If you do not wish to 
receive these messages, you may unsubscribe at any time.  

OFFICE USE ONLY 
Meets Requirements?   Yes   No  

Will Attend / Unable to Attend 

3A

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities
mailto:ahauff@bhamgov.org


3A



 MULTI-MODAL 
TRANSPORTATION BOARD

Chapter 110, Sections 110-26 & 110-27 

The purpose of the Multi-Modal Transportation Board shall be to assist in maintaining the safe and efficient 
movement of motorized and non-motorized vehicles and pedestrians on the streets and walkways of the city and to 
advise the city commission on the implementation of the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan, including reviewing 
project phasing and budgeting.  

In so far as possible, the seven member committee shall be composed of the following: one pedestrian advocate 
member; one member with a mobility or vision impairment; one member with traffic-focused education and/or 
experience; one bicycle advocate member; one member with urban planning, architecture or design education 
and/or experience; and two members at large living in different geographical areas of the city.  At least five Board 
members shall be electors or property owners in the city.  The remaining Board members may or may not be 
electors or property owners in the City. 

Term: Three years. 

Last Name First Name

Home Address

Home
Business 

E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Davies Gordon

969 Bennaville

(248)701-5462

gordonhdavies@yahoo.com

Alternate

Birmingham 48009

10/27/202510/24/2022

Doolittle Mark

1305 S. Bates St

(248) 535-0632

mark.j.doolittle@gmail.com

Regular Member at large from a 
different geographical area of city

Birmingham 48009

3/24/202610/24/2022

Hanawalt Sophie

Student representative

12/31/20232/27/2023

Saturday, February 24, 2024 Page 1 of 3

3A



Last Name First Name

Home Address

Home
Business 

E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Hillberg Patrick

1853 Fairview

(248)797-1804

patrick_hillberg@hotmail.com

Alternate

Birmingham 48009

10/27/202510/24/2022

Hocker David

898 Pilgrim

(313) 917-4718

dhocker@globalfacilitiesinc.com

Regular member at large/plan 
experience

Birmingham 48009

3/24/202511/23/2020

Koul Z. Rosie

662 Purdy #103

(248) 420-0906

Regular member-at-large from 
different geographical areas of the 
cityBirmingham 48009

3/24/202512/18/2023

Peard Thomas

645 Suffield

(248) 770-7761

thomaspeard@yahoo.com

Urban planning /architecture /design

Birmingham 48009

3/24/20251/13/2020

Vacated 2/1/2024 3/24/2024

Sharma Angie

Student representative

12/31/20232/27/2023

Saturday, February 24, 2024 Page 2 of 3

3A

mbrown
Rectangle



Last Name First Name

Home Address

Home
Business 

E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

White Doug

1342 Holland St.

(248) 825-2223

dwhite10@peoplepc.com

Bicycle/pedestrian advocate

Birmingham 48009

3/24/20245/14/2018

Zane Joseph

1014 Chestnut St.

(248) 563-3381

Joseph.Michael.Zane@gmail.com

Regular Member

Birmingham 48009

3/24/202512/10/2018

Saturday, February 24, 2024 Page 3 of 3

3A

mbrown
Rectangle



Name of Board: Year: 2024

Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME
SPECIAL 
MEETING

Total 
Mtgs. Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attend

ed 

REGULAR MEMBERS 1/4 2/1 3/7 4/4 5/2 6/6 8/1 9/5 11/7 12/5 2/15
VACANT CM CM P 1 0 100%
Joe Zane CM CM A 0 1 0%
Z. Rosie Koul CM CM A 0 1 0%
David Hocker CM CM P 1 0 100%
Tom Peard CM CM A 0 1 0%
Doug White CM CM A 0 1 0%
Mark Doolittle CM CM P 1 0 100%
ALTERNATES
Gordon Davies CM CM P 1 0 100%
Patrick Hillberg CM CM P 1 0 100%
Jack Lassen (Student) NA NA NA 0 0 #DIV/0!
Owen Reibscheid (Student) NA NA NA 0 0 #DIV/0!
TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

MULTI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION BOARD

3A

mbrown
Highlight

mbrown
Highlight



Name of Board: Year: 2023

Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME 1/5 1/12 2/2 3/2 4/13 5/4 6/1 7/6 8/3 9/7 10/5 11/2 12/5
Total 

Mtgs. Att.
Total 

Absent

Percent 
Attend

ed 

REGULAR MEMBERS
Anthony Long CM CM P A CM P A CM CM A P P P 5 3 63%
Joe Zane CM CM P P CM A A CM CM A P P P 5 3 63%
Victoria Policicchio CM CM P P CM P A CM CM P P A A 5 3 63%
David Hocker CM CM A P CM P P CM CM P A A P 5 3 63%
Tom Peard CM CM P P CM P P CM CM P P P A 7 1 88%
Doug White CM CM P P CM P P CM CM A P P P 7 1 88%
Mark Doolittle CM CM P P CM A A CM CM A P P P 5 3 63%
ALTERNATES
Gordon Davies CM CM P P CM A P CM CM P P P P 7 1 88%
Patrick Hillberg CM CM P P CM A P CM CM P P P P 7 1 88%
Angie Sharma (Student) NA NA NA P CM P A CM CM A A A A 2 5 29%
Sophie Hanawalt (Student) NA NA NA P CM P A CM CM A A A A 2 5 29%
TOTAL 0 0 8 10 0 7 5 0 0 5 8 7 7

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

MULTI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION BOARD

3A

mbrown
Highlight

mbrown
Highlight



Name of Board: Year: 2022

Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME 2/3 3/3 4/7 5/5 6/2
SPEC 
MTG 7/7 8/4 9/1 10/6 11/3 12/1

SPEC 
MTG

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS 5/19
Anthony Long P p P P P A P P A P p A 9 3 75%
Joe Zane P P A A P P P P P P A P 9 3 75%
Victoria Policicchio P P P P P A A P P A P P 9 3 75%
David Hocker P P P P P P P P P P P P 12 0 100%
Tom Peard P P P P P P A A P P P P 10 2 83%
Doug White P P P P P P P P P A p A 10 2 83%
Michael St. Germaine NA NA P P A A A A NA NA NA NA 2 4 33%
Mark Doolittle NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA P P
ALTERNATES
Amanda Fishburn A A A P A A A A A A NA NA 1 9 10%
Mark Doolittle NA NA P A P A P A P P NA NA 5 3 63%
Gordon Davies NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA P A
Patrick Hillberg NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA P P

0 0 #DIV/0!
TOTAL 6 6 7 7 7 4 5 5 6 5 8 6 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

MULTI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION BOARD

3A

mbrown
Highlight

mbrown
Highlight



12/11/23, 3:17 PM Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 1/4

(a)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(b)

ARTICLE II. - MULTI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION BOARD

Footnotes:

--- (2) ---

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2138, adopted February 10, 2014, amended article II in its entirety to read as herein set out.

Formerly, article II pertained to the traffic and safety board, and derived from the Code of 1963, §§ 10.91—10.96.

Sec. 110-26. - Composition.

The multi-modal transportation board shall consist of nonvoting ex officio members and seven

members appointed by the city commission. The nonvoting ex officio members shall be

appointed by the city manager. They may include the city engineer, city planner, police chief, or

their designated representative, or other representatives as the city manager deems appropriate.

Insofar as possible, the city commission shall appoint members as follows:

One pedestrian advocate member;

One member with a mobility or vision impairment;

One member with traffic-focused education and/or experience;

One bicycle advocate member;

One member with urban planning, architecture or design education and/or experience; and

Two members at large living in different geographical areas of the city.

At least five board members shall be electors or property owners in the city. The remaining board

members may or may not be electors or property owners in the city.

The city commission may appoint two alternate members to serve as needed on the multi-modal

transportation board during their term of appointment. An alternate member may be called on a

rotating basis to sit as a regular member of the multi-modal transportation board in the absence

of a regular member. An alternate member may also be called to service in the place of a regular

member for the purpose of reaching a decision on a case in which the regular member has

abstained for reasons of conflict of interest. An alternate member having been appointed shall

serve in the case until a final decision has been made. An alternate member shall have the same

voting rights as a regular member of the multi-modal transportation board.

(Ord. No. 2138, 2-10-14; Ord. No. 2200, 9-12-16; Ord. No. 2203, 10-10-16)

Sec. 110-27. - Terms of members.

3A



12/11/23, 3:17 PM Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 2/4

Initial members of the multi-modal transportation board shall serve for the following terms: two

members shall be appointed for one-year terms, two members shall be appointed for two-year terms, and

three members shall be appointed for three-year terms. Thereafter, all appointments, except to fill

vacancies, shall be for a term of three years. All appointments for the purpose of filling vacancies occurring

otherwise than by expiration of term of office shall be for the unexpired term.

(Ord. No. 2138, 2-10-14)

Sec. 110-28. - Compensation.

All members of the multi-modal transportation board shall serve without compensation.

(Ord. No. 2138, 2-10-14)

Sec. 110-29. - Organization.

The multi-modal transportation board shall, from its appointed members, elect a chair who shall be the

presiding officer of the board, and a vice-chair who shall serve in the absence of the chair. A secretary, who

shall keep and maintain the proceedings of the board, shall be appointed by the board. The secretary need

not be a member of the board. The terms of office for such officers shall be one year and until their

successors have been elected. The ex officio members of the board may not act as the chair or vice-chair

but may serve as secretary.

(Ord. No. 2138, 2-10-14)

Sec. 110-30. - Meetings and quorum.

The multi-modal transportation board shall hold meetings at such time and place as may be established

by the board. Special meetings may be called by the secretary at the written request of the chair or any

three members of the board on at least two days' notice. A quorum for the transaction of business at the

regular and special meetings shall be four appointed members and at least one ex officio member or their

designated representative.

(Ord. No. 2138, 2-10-14)

Sec. 110-31. - Scope of authority.

The multi-modal transportation board is a non-administrative board serving solely in an advisory

capacity. In that capacity the board may make recommendations to the city commission but may not

assume any legislative or administrative authority of the city commission or any department or board

3A



12/11/23, 3:17 PM Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 3/4

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

established by the city commission except as specifically provided in this chapter. The multi-modal

transportation board is not authorized to expend city funds.

(Ord. No. 2138, 2-10-14)

Sec. 110-32. - Purpose and duties.

The purpose of the multi-modal transportation board shall be to assist in maintaining the safe and

efficient movement of motorized and non-motorized vehicles and pedestrians on the streets and walkways

of the city and to advise the city commission on the implementation of the multi-modal transportation plan,

including reviewing project phasing and budgeting. In furtherance of its purpose, the board shall endeavor

to provide the following:

Advice on the implementation of the city's multi-modal transportation plan to the city

commission.

Review of the multi-modal transportation plan to assure that it remains current with citywide

multi-modal transportation movements and regional transportation plans and initiatives.

An objective and technical multi-modal evaluation of plans for all road reconstruction and

road resurfacing projects, sidewalk and pedestrian crossing projects, intersection or bridge

projects, bicycle and transit facility improvement projects.

An objective and technical evaluation of transportation issues brought to the attention of or

identified by the board.

An objective and technical evaluation of the transportation plan submitted for proposed

development or redevelopment, as referred to the board by the planning board.

An objective and technical multi-modal evaluation of site plans submitted for proposed

development or redevelopment, as referred to the board by the planning board.

An objective and technical multi-modal evaluation of any ordinance amendments related to

transportation issues, as referred to the board by the planning board or city commission.

The application of accepted transportation engineering practices, multi-modal transportation

planning and complete streets practices and national standards, including those published by

the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, in solving and

preventing transportation problems.

Objective and technical recommendations regarding transportation engineering safety issues

to the city commission.

A forum for the voluntary coordination of groups interested in transportation issues.

A forum to review and decide appeals of administrative decisions made by the police

department on transportation-related regulatory requests under article VII of this chapter.

3A



12/11/23, 3:17 PM Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

about:blank 4/4

(Ord. No. 2138, 2-10-14)

Secs. 110-33—110-55. - Reserved.

3A



 

Birmingham City Commission Special Meeting Minutes - Workshop 
February 5, 2024 

Municipal Building, 151 Martin 
6:30 p.m. 

Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/905430821  

 
This will be considered a workshop session of the City Commission. No formal actions will be 
taken. The purpose of this workshop is to engage in a presentation regarding Parliamentary 
Procedure and Robert’s Rules of Order.  

 
I. Call to Order 
Elaine McLain, Mayor 

 
II. Roll Call 

City Clerk Bingham called the roll. 
 
Present: Mayor McLain 
  MPT Schafer  
  Commissioner Baller 
  Commissioner Haig 
  Commissioner Host 
  Commissioner Long 
  Commissioner Longe 
   
Absent: None 
 
Staff:  City Manager Ecker; City Clerk Bingham, IT Manager Brunk, Assistant City Manager Clemence, 
City Engineer Coatta, Planning Director Dupuis, Police Chief Grewe, City Attorney Kucharek, Department of Public 
Services Director Zielinski 
 
III. Presentation & Discussion 
CM Ecker introduced Eleanor “Coco” Siewert, a Registered and Certified Parliamentarian. 
 
Ms. Siewart made a presentation to the Commission. Ms. Siewert and staff answered informational questions 
from the Commission. 
 
Staff provided information regarding a potential presentation from the Ethics Board. 
  
Commissioners made the following comments: 

● Minutes should be treated as a summary of a meeting, and further detail, if needed, can be sought via 
the linked recordings of the meetings. 

 
02-028-24 Determining the Content of an Ethics Board Presentation 
 

5A

https://vimeo.com/905430821


MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by Commissioner Host:  
To have Ms. Kucharek or Ms. Ecker provide the Ethics Board’s questions to the Commission in a written format 
and provide the Commission with a requested deadline for any replies to be considered, and then to accept the 
replies and to allow the City Manager to direct the Ethics Board and to schedule a presentation to the 
Commission.  
 
Commissioner Baller recommended that the questionnaire be structured so as to allow for easier data 
compilation.  
 
The Mayor voiced support for the motion. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

 
   Nays, None 
 

IV.      Public Comment 
David Bloom made a comment about the minutes. 
 
V. Adjourn 
The Commission motioned to adjourn the meeting at 7:34 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 

5A



Birmingham City Commission Minutes 
February 5, 2024 

Municipal Building, 151 Martin 
7:30 p.m. 

Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/905430821 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Elaine McLain, Mayor, opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 

II. ROLL CALL
City Clerk Bingham called the roll. 

Present: Mayor McLain 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Longe 

Absent: None 

Staff: City Manager Ecker; City Clerk Bingham, Assistant City Manager Clemence, City 
Engineer Coatta, Senior Planner Cowan, Police Chief Grewe, Building Official Johnson, Police 
Captain Kearney, City Attorney Kucharek, Public Services Manager Markus 

02-029-24 Change to the Agenda

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by MPT Schafer: 
To move the closed session to occur after the consent agenda and prior to the City Manager’s 
report. 

In reply to Commissioner Host, Commissioner Longe said she believed the change would 
contribute to efficient conduct of the meeting. 

Commissioner Host and the Mayor voiced support for the motion. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

5B

https://vimeo.com/905430821


Nays, None 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS,
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

Announcements 
● The City of Birmingham, along with the nation, recognizes Black History Month in 

February. We celebrate the legacy of Black Americans whose power to lead, to overcome 
and to expand the meaning and practice of American democracy has helped our nation 
become a more fair and just society. The City continues to make significant progress in 
understanding the important history of Black families in early Birmingham, and remains 
committed to seeking opportunities to share the whole story of our community in the 
future.

02-030-24 Public Arts Board

The Commission interviewed Monica Neville for the appointment. 

MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Host:  
To appoint Monica Neville to the Public Arts Board as a regular member for a three-year term to 
expire January 28, 2027. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

Nays, None 

02-031-24 Public Arts Board

The Commission interviewed Shabnam Hosseini for the appointment. 

MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Longe:  
To appoint Shabnam Hosseini to the Public Arts Board as an alternate member for the remainder 
of a three-year term to expire January 28, 2025. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

5B



Nays, None 

02-032-24 Historic District Study Committee

The Commission interviewed Katherine Barta for the appointment. After a clarification from Ms. 
Barta’s interview, the Commission noted that Ms. Barta had a personal, and not a financial, 
interest in historic preservation. 

MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Haig:  
To appoint Katherine Barta as a regular member to the Historic District Study Committee to serve 
the remainder of a three-year term to expire June 25, 2026. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

Nays, None 

CC Bingham swore in the present appointees. 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA
David Bloom commented regarding free speech. 

V. CONSENT AGENDA

02-033-24 Consent Agenda

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by MPT Schafer: 
To move the Consent Agenda with the exception of Items H and I. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Longe 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

Nays, None 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission Long Range Planning meeting minutes of
January 20, 2024.

5B



B. Resolution to approve the City Commission regular meeting minutes of January 22, 2024.

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated January 25, 2024 in the amount of $2,377,776.27.

D. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated January 31, 2024 in the amount of $396,739.34.

E. Resolution to approve the Memorandum of Understanding and the Cost Reimbursement 
Agreement with the FBI and to authorize the Chief of Police to sign the agreements on 
behalf of the City.

F. Resolution to approve an extension of the public services and minor home repair contract 
with NEXT for the purpose of expending remaining program year 2021-2022 Community 
Development Block Grant funds for Yard Services and Minor Home Repair Services 
administered by NEXT through December 31, 2024; and further, to authorize the Mayor 
and the City Clerk to sign the amendment on behalf of the City.

G. Resolution to approve the purchase of root control services, as quoted by Duke's Root 
Control, Inc. for the 2024 Sewer Root Control Program, in the amount not to exceed
$125,085.30. Funding for this project has been budgeted in the following account: Fund 
Account   Fund ID Number   Project Award
Sewer Fund   590.0-538.000-811.0000   $125,085.30
AND
To approve the appropriation and amendment of the fiscal year 2023/2024 budget as 
follows:
Sewer Fund:

Revenues: 
590.0-00.00-400.0 Draw from Net Position $25,085.30 
Total Revenue  $25,085.30 

Expenditures: 
590.0-537.000-811.0000 Other Contractual Services  $25,085.30 
Total Expenses  $25,085.30 

02-034-24 Award of the Bid for Truck Transport and Tank Wagon Deliveries (Item
I) 

Commissioner Haig pulled Item I. DPSD Zielinski answered informational questions from the 
Commission. 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To split the award of the bid for truck transport and tank wagon deliveries of unleaded gasoline 
and diesel fuel to the following vendors, to enable a backup supply source to be available to the 

5B



City should the need arise, based on bid factors included in their respective bids for a two-year 
period beginning February 1, 2024, with the option to extend terms and conditions an additional 
two years upon mutual consent: 
 
Truck Transport deliveries: 
1. RKA Petroleum Companies, 28340 Wick Rd., Romulus, MI, 48174 and 
2. Marathon Flint Company, 1919 S Dort Highway, Flint, MI 48503 
 
Tank Wagon deliveries: 
1. RKA Petroleum Companies, 28340 Wick Rd., Romulus, MI, 48174 and 
2. Gen Oil Company, 1238 Anderson Rd., Clawson, MI 48017 
 
Funds for this purchase of gasoline and diesel fuels are budgeted in Auto Equipment Fund - Fuel 
Expense account #661-441.006-737.0000. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

     
   Nays, None 
 
02-035-24 Amendment to Chapter 2 – Administration, Article IX. – Ethics, Sec.  

2-325(a)(4) (Item H) 
 
Paul Reagan, a member of the public, pulled Item H. He opposed the proposed change to the 
Ethics Ordinance. 
 
Public Comment 
Jim Mirro supported Mr. Reagan. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To amend Chapter 2 – Administration, Article IX. – Ethics, Sec. 2-325(a) Board of ethics (4) 
allowing for a business or property owner in the City of Birmingham to serve on the Ethics Board 
as appointed by the City Commission. 
 
Staff answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
Individual Commissioner comments were as follows: 

● The change would not eliminate residents from the Board of Ethics. It would expand 
eligibility to allow for property- or business-owning non-residents to serve on the Board 
of Ethics. Board of Ethics opinions are thorough and considered, and there is likely a small 
pool of applicants who have both the capacity and availability to serve on the Board. 
Having two alternate positions on the Board is wise, given that succession planning for 

5B



the Board is necessary. The Commission would have to use its discretion to determine 
appropriate appointees;  

● The change was being proposed because too few residents were volunteering their time. 
Any interested residents would be encouraged to apply for volunteer boards and 
committees in order to ensure there are enough members to conduct City business; 

● The proposed language was not an attempt to obscure any outcome, and it was 
disappointing that the Board of Ethics has seen an increase in its utilization recently; 

● The Commission should not make the recommended changes because the Board of Ethics 
can judge Commissioners, which could have the outcome of non-residents impacting 
voter-elected officials. If applications to the Board of Ethics remain an issue, the matter 
should be revisited in a year’s time; and, 

● The City strives to ensure that its boards and committees are devoid of conflicts-of-
interest. Many municipalities do not have formal Boards of Ethics, and it is valuable that 
the City has one. 

 
Public Comment 
Mr. Bloom commented on how the independence of the Board of Ethics members could potentially 
be increased. 
 
Irene Hathaway opposed the proposed change to the Ethics Ordinance, and supported the City 
increasing its efforts to publicize Board of Ethics positions to residents first. 
 
Suzanne Faber also supported the City increasing its efforts to publicize Board of Ethics positions 
to residents first. 
 
It was noted in reply to Brooke Reiter that residential renters are able to serve on the City’s 
boards and committees. 
 
Judy Doyle, alternate on the Board of Ethics, commented that the preceding discussion might 
serve to recruit additional resident applications to serve on the Board of Ethics. 
 
Mr. Mirro reiterated his support for Mr. Reagan, and commented on the increased frequency of 
the Board of Ethics’ utilization. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, None 
     
   Nays, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 
 

02-036-24 Amendment to Chapter 2 – Administration, Article IX. – Ethics, Sec.  
2-325(a)(4) (Item H) (Part II) 
 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Long, seconded by Commissioner Baller: 

5B



To table this issue for 60 days, and then to bring it back. 
 
Commissioner comments were as follows: 

● This conversation hopefully will generate enough resident awareness and interest that 
there will be no shortage of applications for the Board of Ethics. Residents should sign up 
for the City’s emails and other communications, and should encourage others to do the 
same. Residents can also note open board and committee positions at the end of each 
Commission agenda; and, 

● City information is available via multiple different sources, and now that residents are 
aware of it they should seek it out. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

 
   Nays, Commissioner Host 
 
02-037-24 Closed Session Pursuant to MCL § 15.268 Sec. 8(h) of the Open  

Meetings Act  
 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe: 
To meet in closed session to discuss a written attorney/client privilege communication pursuant 
to MCL § 15.268 Sec. 8(h) of the Open Meetings Act. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Host 

 
   Nays, None 
 
The Commission went into closed session at 8:48 p.m. 
 
The Commission returned from closed session at 9:02 p.m. 
 

VI. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

VII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
02-038-24 Staff Update – Shirley Rd. & Arlington St. Interim Report for  

City-Initiated Unimproved Street Project 

5B



 
Commissioner Baller recused himself from the discussion citing his residence within the project 
area and left the room at 9:02 p.m. 
 
Individual Commissioner comments were as follows: 

● Members of the Commission are residents. These changes would represent improvements 
to the project area’s health and safety by improving the water and sewer infrastructure. 
The Commission has an obligation to ensure that the roadway is safe. The Fire Chief has 
said that the hydrants likely have insufficient water pressure due to the current 
infrastructure. Road improvements in the project area would increase accessibility and 
safety. The focus of this conversation should be the failing infrastructure. All of the 
Commission deliberation on the matter has occurred in public, and can be reviewed via 
the minutes, the agendas, and/or video recordings online. Members of the public can 
reach the Mayor on her City-provided cell phone at 248-490-7188. Collaboration and 
safety should be the priority of these proceedings; 

● There has been limited but vocal public conjecture that the Commission made its decision 
prior to hearing from the public, and/or that the Commission does not listen to the public. 
In contrast to those accusations, the Commission has participated in a number of 
conversations on the matter in public as well as a publicly-accessible walk in the 
neighborhood. Individual Commissioners declined to engage with residents who wanted 
to speak privately to Commissioners in order to avoid the appearance of prematurely 
reaching a decision. Accusing the Commission of enacting a foregone conclusion or 
ignoring public input when the evidence is to the contrary does damage to the community 
and the process. The Commission will make the best decision it possibly can; 

● Misinformation and bullying have been present among some members of the public’s 
reactions to the proposed project. These reactions have intimidated some other members 
of the public into not participating publicly. While the Commission has been described by 
some members of the public as inflexible, the Commissioners have repeatedly stated their 
commitment to weighing all of the information available. Sidewalks are safer than a lack 
of sidewalks, and advocating for children requires that to be recognized; 

● The vitriol of the public discourse regarding this matter is relatively unprecedented within 
Birmingham. Some members of the public have engaged in threats, name calling, insulting 
staff, and misinformation. Residents should be aware that when certain parties attempt 
to generate suspicion of the Commission, it may be an attempt to pressure the 
Commission into voting a certain way. While those attempting to generate suspicion of 
the Commission are within their rights, they should also consider their impact on the 
members of the Commission, and should consider whether their actions are based in truth; 

● Thanks were due to all City staff and Commissioners that enabled the walk of the project 
area to occur; and, 

● Government exists to serve the residents. Some members of the public have been 
described as being part of a lobbyist group or a special interest group. These members of 
the public are also residents, and the Commission should listen intently to their opinions. 

 
A number of Commissioners also noted that: 

● All correspondence that came to the Commission regarding the matter was reviewed; 
● While the tone of some of the correspondence was inappropriate, the extent of the 

correspondence was valuable and appreciated; 
● The Commissioners did not respond directly to the correspondence so that the 

5B



Commission could deliberate as a body; 
● The Commission would hear information from all parties, and that said information would 

be considered with an open mind; 
● It would be challenging to make a decision on this matter given the heightened 

atmosphere; 
● Members of the public should not endeavor to threaten, insult, or intimidate members of 

the Commission; 
● The discussion should proceed civilly and respectfully; and, 
● Staff deserved thanks for their work on the item. 

 
SP Cowan and CE Coatta presented the item. 
 
Commissioners continued their discussion. Individual Commissioner comments were as follows: 

● The discussion could be separated into three separate sections: water and sewer, street 
type, and sidewalks. It might be appropriate to approve the replacement of water and 
sewer infrastructure within the project area, and then to send the road surface, design, 
and reconstruction back for further board review. The unimproved streets funding 
methodology should also be reviewed, because the City’s Insurance Services Office rating 
(ISO) was reduced in part due to its older water infrastructure; 

● While staff recommendations are guided by City plans, neither those recommendations or 
those plans are binding on the Commission. The Commission should improve the water 
and sewer, but should otherwise return the street to its present condition. One member 
of the public supplied an alternate proposal for sidewalks and street design which should 
be considered; 

● Staff deserved thanks for their presentation of the item. The City’s street width and 
sidewalk goals were adopted before any of the present Commissioners were elected. The 
Ad Hoc Unimproved Street Study Committee (AHUSSC) recommended that the City adopt 
a City-initiated process for improving streets for a number of reasons. It would behoove 
the City to re-evaluate the way it selects projects. The present project area has never 
been assessed for improvement. While a 26 foot width may be the street standard, it may 
not be appropriate in every location. Residents have requested that the City propose 
creative alternatives for this project. It may be most appropriate to table the item or to 
return it to the Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) for the generation of creative 
alternatives. A compromise solution may be a bit wider, may have partial, complementary 
sidewalks on each side of the street, may generally take the conditions more into 
consideration, and/or may include a bicycle lane; 

● The City’s plans are advisory, and cannot be appropriately applied to each circumstance. 
Shirley and Arlington is a unique neighborhood within the City. Westwood was another 
somewhat unique circumstance, and the width of that street was maintained rather than 
reduced. The water and sewer improvements in the project area are a necessity. It would 
then be appropriate to improve the road surface by adding curbs and using either concrete 
or asphalt. The sidewalk aspect of the project should not be proceeded with. The project 
should not be tabled because the project area needs new sewer and water lines as soon 
as possible; 

● Collaboration between the City, Commissioners, and residents should focus on promoting 
safety within the project area for both present and future residents. It may be appropriate 
to send this back to the MMTB for expedited review, asking for a creative design that 
integrates water, sewer, road, pedestrian, and young children’s safety needs; 

5B



● There was significant agreement on the importance of the water and sewer 
improvements, and on the value of improving the road. Once the road is improved, 
maintenance of the road surface would be paid for by the City rather than the project 
area’s residents; and, 

● The AHUSSC considered alternative funding methods for road improvements and did not 
recommend any, in part because other Birmingham streets have been improved using the 
present funding method. Westwood, a street that recently chose to remain unimproved, 
is now being noted for its poor surface quality by some residents. 

 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Long, seconded by Commissioner Longe: 
We approve to go forward with the water and sewer, that the City replaces the roadway and the 
curbs, and the roadway is asphalt and remains the same width that it is right now, and no 
sidewalks. 
 
Commissioner comments were: 

● The project area residents did not request asphalt; 
● Everyone should look at the October 2, 2023 Commission workshop on unimproved roads 

to understand the cost structure for unimproved versus improved and the payback period; 
● If the water and sewer is improved, it is possible that the manhole covers, grates, and 

curbs would need to be replaced; and, 
● One Commissioner would not support the project without road improvement, citing the 

issues with Westwood’s road surface. Additionally, sidewalks are safer than walking in the 
road. 

 
Staff provided guidance regarding the process and answered informational questions from the 
Commission.  
 
Public Comment 
Fremont Scott supported replacing only the necessary curbs. 
 
Jenny Shebib supported saving as much of the curb as possible. 
 
Mike Minelli supported the water and sewer improvements, more attention for sidewalk repair, 
and breaking future projects into smaller portions for review purposes. 
 
Richard Silbergleit, Cary Miliron, Lisa Drake, Ms. Shebib, Renee Billmeyer, Pam Minelli, and Creagh 
Milford supported the motion.  
 
Ms. Hathaway supported each street being evaluated individually when improvement is under 
consideration. 
 
Mr. Mirro commented on whether Arlington and Shirley are improved roads, on horizontal drilling, 
and on the coverage of this item in the news media. 
 
Scott Allen supported narrowing the streets and adding sidewalks in the project area.  
 
Vanessa Durham supported the addition of sidewalks. 
 

5B



Ms. Billmeyer supported the addition of sidewalks in the City in general, though not in the project 
area. 
 
Mr. Bloom commented on the horizontal drilling process and read excerpts from another resident’s 
letter which was previously provided to the Commission.  
 
Mark Lakin asked about the timeframe of the project as proposed by the motion.  
 
Lauren Buttazzoni asked how the motion would impact potential future street width or sidewalk 
changes in the project area. 
 
Madeline Kleitch commented on how projects impact the water level in the project areas.  
 
Ms. Faber commented on road narrowing in the City. 
 
Rosie Koul thanked the Commission, residents, and City staff for their participation in the process. 
 
A number of residents thanked the Commission for their process and expressed remorse for the 
behavior of some members of the public.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 

 
   Nays, Commissioner Host 
 
The Commissioner entered a brief recess, and returned from recess. Commissioner Baller rejoined 
the meeting at 11:34 p.m. 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS 
02-039-24 Brandon Street – Shirley Road to Linden Road – Adding to Arlington  

Road and Shirley Road Project 
 
CE Coatta presented the item and answered informational questions from the Commission.  
 
Commission discussed road surface improvements, better parking for the park, and the width of 
the road. There was discussion that a sidewalk on one or both sides of the street might also be 
beneficial.  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Longe: 
To direct the Engineering Department to add Brandon Street to the Arlington Street and Shirley 
Street project and proceed with the final design to include construction of the street within the 
project area that will meet the City standards for an improved street with a five foot wide sidewalk 
on at least one side of the road, accommodating parking and entrance to the park, as well as a 
gate for pump house road.  

5B



 
Commissioner comment was as follows: 

● It might be prudent to have Engineering return with design based on the setbacks and 
rights of way before this motion is advanced; 

 
Public Comment 
Mr. Mirro commented on potential sidewalk and parking locations. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

     
Nays, None 
 

02-040-24 Speed Mitigation Report 
 
Chief Grewe summarized the report and answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
Commissioner comment was as follows: 

● Speed signs and other speed mitigation measures should be standardized; 
● Other speed mitigation measures should be considered; and, 
● Given the lateness of the hour, this conversation should perhaps be continued in the 

future. 
 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Long, seconded by Commissioner Baller: 
To move this to an agenda item for further discussion and a decision process on another day. 
 
Commissioner comment was as follows: 

● There was a worthwhile question about whether to continue with the status quo.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

     
Nays, None 

 
Commission Items for Future Discussion 
 
02-041-24 Cameras on City Vehicles 
 

5B



MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To consider the addition of front and rear facing cameras to all City vehicles. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

     
Nays, None 

 
Commission Discussion On Items From A Prior Meeting 
 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 
 

IX. COMMUNICATIONS 
 

X. REPORTS 
A. Commissioner Reports 

1. Notice of intention to appoint to the Architectural Review Committee 
2. Notice of intention to appoint to the Planning Board 

B. Commissioner Comments 
 
The Mayor encourages unhoused individuals to request co-response support from the social 
worker who works with the City’s police. 
 
The Mayor noted that the Birmingham Youth Assistance Dog Show was a success. 
 
The Mayor reiterated that credible threats to elected officials affect discourse, that the Attorney 
General’s office has been informed of recent threats, and that the Attorney General’s office would 
be informed again if threats recur.  
 

C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
1. Ethics Opinion 2023-03  
2. Ethics Opinion 2023-04 

D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
   

INFORMATION ONLY  
 

XI. ADJOURN 
The Commission motioned to adjourn at 12:29 a.m. 

5B



    
 
 

 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 

 

5B



Birmingham City Commission Minutes 
February 12, 2024 

Municipal Building, 151 Martin 
7:30 p.m. 

Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/910298478 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Elaine McLain, Mayor, opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 

II. ROLL CALL
City Clerk Bingham called the roll. 

Present: Mayor McLain 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Longe 

Absent: None 

Staff: City Manager Ecker; Marketing and Public Relations Specialist Bassett, City Clerk 
Bingham, Assistant City Manager Clemence, Senior Planner Cowan, Planning Director Dupuis, 
Assistant City Manager Fairbairn, Police Chief Grewe, Building Official Johnson, City Attorney 
Kucharek, Department of Public Services Director Zielinski 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS,
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

Announcements 
• The City’s Ad Hoc Aging in Place Committee is still accepting the Community Survey from

the public. The Community Survey is for residents of all ages and available in both print
form as well as online at engage.bhamgov.org/aginginplace. In an effort to reach as many
residents as possible, the City will be mailing a print copy of the Community Survey in every
resident’s water bill. Respondents may complete the survey in print form and mail it back
to the City or drop it off at City Hall, the Baldwin Public Library, The Birmingham Museum
or Next. Printed copies of the Community Survey are also available at all of these locations.

• On February 28, 2024, 2023, the Ad Hoc Aging in Place Committee will hold their regular
meeting at 1:00 p.m. at Next (2121 Midvale St, Birmingham, MI 48009) to receive public
input from residents as it relates to aging in place. The committee welcomes anyone who
wishes to have input into developing a Citywide Aging in Place Action Plan to attend and
be heard.

5C

https://vimeo.com/910298478
http://engage.bhamgov.org/aginginplace


• The Oakland County Treasurer’s Office is in the final stretch of their Foreclosure Prevention 
efforts. The tax foreclosure deadline for the 2021 or prior year taxes is on April 1, 2024. 
That means if these taxes aren’t paid off by April 1st or any interested party hasn’t entered 
into a repayment schedule with the Treasurer’s office by then, the property will be 
foreclosed.  

• The Oakland County Treasurer’s Office is here to help and strongly encourages taxpayers 
to contact their office before the tax foreclosure deadline if they have delinquent taxes for 
2021 or prior tax years. Taxpayers interested in scheduling a Taxpayer Assistance Meeting 
may call us at 248-858-0611 or they may visit www.oakgov.com/treasurer. An 
informational page from the Oakland County Treasurer’s Office is available at the end of 
tonight’s agenda packet.  

 
Appointments 
 
02-042-24 2024 Student Board Representatives to City Boards and Committees 
 
MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Longe, seconded by Commissioner Long:  
To approve the appointments of those students as non-voting student members for the calendar 
year 2024 for the boards as enumerated by the Mayor. 
 
The student representatives introduced themselves, and the Commissioners imparted 
encouragement and advice. 
 
VOICE VOTE:  Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

     
   Nays, None 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
Paul Reagan and David Bloom commented on interactions between the Commission and the 
public. 
 
Diane Cancro made comments about sewage and water issues in her yard. 
 
Jim Mirro commented about future improvements to Shirley and Arlington. 
 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 

02-043-24 Consent Agenda 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To move the Consent Agenda with the exception of Items A, C, D, H, I. 

5C

http://www.oakgov.com/treasurer


 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

     
   Nays, None 

B. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated February 7, 2024 in the amount of $561,604.79. 

E. Resolution to set a public hearing date of March 18, 2024 to consider the Special Land 
Use Permit Amendment for 115 Willits – Mare Mediterranean – to transfer ownership and 
update the Special Land Use Permit with the new owner, Birmingham Prime Hospitality, 
LLC.  

F. Resolution to accept the resignation of Victoria Policicchio from the Multi-Modal 
Transpiration board, to thank her for her service, and to direct the City Clerk to begin the 
process of filling the vacancy.  

G. Resolution to recognize the following seven student representatives for their service in 
2023 on Birmingham boards and committees and award each student a certificate in 
appreciation for their civic involvement: 

Ian Weinberg Historic District Committee/ Design Review 
Board 

Alex Motea Museum Board 
Kate Glasier Parks and Recreation Board 
Asher Kaftan Planning Board 
Matthew Weigand Planning Board 
Luke DeSanto Public Arts Board 
Andrew McLean Public Arts Board 

 
02-044-24 Special City Commission Meeting Minutes — January 30, 2024 (Item A) 

 
The item was pulled by staff in order to note spelling corrections. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To approve the special City Commission meeting minutes of Tuesday, January 30, 2024 with the 
corrections outlined by the City Clerk. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 

5C



Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

 
   Nays, None 
 
02-045-24 $1 Green Fee Increase for Golf Rounds (Item C) 

 
The item was pulled by Commissioner Baller. Staff answered informational questions from the 
Commissioners. 
 
Individual Commissioner comment was as follows: 

● Given planned improvements, it might be more appropriate to raise the green fees by a 
greater amount than presently proposed; 

● If the green fees are increased too much at once, it may deter golfers from using 
Birmingham’s courses; 

● Communicating the planned improvements with the public would likely increase 
acceptance of increased fees; 

● City administration should review the courses’ finances to determine whether the 
proposed increase would generate enough revenue to perform the planned 
improvements; 

● Staff deserved commendation for planning ahead on this item; and, 
● Enacting a greater increase in green fees presently would help limit the extent to which 

the City’s general fund will need to be used to subsidize the golf courses in the future. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve a $1 Green Fee increase to the golf round fees as described, presented, detailed, and 
documented.  
 
Public Comment 
Ms. Cancro supported a $2 green fee increase. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor McLain 

 
   Nays, Commissioner Baller 
 
02-046-24 Local Approval Notice — Churchill’s Cigar Shop, Inc. (Item D) 
 
Mr. Reagan pulled the item and asked at what point a transfer of shares meets the threshold 
for being a sale. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Long: 

5C



To authorize the City Clerk to complete the Local Approval Notice at the request of Churchill’s 
Cigar Shop, Inc. to approve the request for a transfer of shares for a business which holds a Class 
C and SDM License with Sunday Sales (PM) and Outdoor Service Area located at 116-118 S Old 
Woodward Ave., Birmingham, Oakland County, MI to now include .007652 shares to Jeffery 
Samona, .007652 Shares to Lance Samona, .007652 Shares to Justin Samona, .007652 Shares 
to Dominic Samona, .007652 Shares to Travis Samona, .002547 Shares to Mario Samona, .002547 
Shares to Andrew Samona and .002547 Shares to Armani Samona. 
 
Commissioner comment was as follows: 

● One of the owners is transferring shares, as a gift, to eight other applicants within a 
family; and, 

● This is not a transfer of ownership from one entity to another. It is the transfer of shares 
within the existing entity. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Baller 
Mayor McLain 

 
   Nays, None 
 
02-047-24 Sculpture Donation — “Connection” by James Kaye (Item H) 
 
Commissioner Haig pulled the item and said he wanted staff to have the opportunity to present 
the miniatures of the pieces provided by the artists. 
 
Staff presented the item. Artist James Kaye spoke about the item. 
 
The Commission thanked Mr. Kaye. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To approve the sculpture donation of “Connection” by James Kaye at the location off of W. Maple 
just west of the museum. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Baller 
Mayor McLain 

 
   Nays, None 
 
02-048-24 Sculpture Donation — “Mulligan” by Martin Van Almen (Item I) 

5C



 
Commissioner Haig pulled the item and said he wanted staff to have the opportunity to present 
the miniatures of the pieces provided by the artists. 
 
Staff presented the item.  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To approve the sculpture donation of “Mulligan” by Martin Van Almen to be installed at Lincoln 
Hills Golf Course behind the first tee box on the existing concrete pad. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Baller 
Mayor McLain 

 
   Nays, None 
 

VI. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
CM Ecker presented the report. 
 

VII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
02-049-24 Speed Mitigation Report 
 
PC Grewe summarized the item. 
 
Individual Commissioner comment was as follows: 

● The costs of additional speed boards and enforcement should be determined, and 
additional speed boards and enforcement should be considered; 

● Speed limit enforcement is done to preserve the community’s health, safety, and welfare; 
and, 

● The Multi-Modal Transportation Board has evaluated the potential use of speed bumps in 
the past and noted that they would be inappropriate in many Birmingham contexts. 

 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To have the City administration come back to us with more information about speed boards - 
placement, how many, how much they cost - and, a report on stepped up enforcement - what it 
would cost, what would be proposed in the neighborhoods, targeting streets that have high traffic, 
cut-throughs, and high speeds - and engaging the City's Communications Director to 
communicate that the City likes people to go the speed limit and whatever the City will eventually 
end up doing. 
 
Commissioner comment was as follows: 

5C



● It is important to go the speed limit in the neighborhoods and to avoid tailgating other 
drivers. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Baller 
Mayor McLain 

 
   Nays, None 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS 
02-050-24 Public Hearing to Consider Annual Liquor License Renewals 
 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 8:59 p.m. and introduced the item. 
 
CC Bingham and PD Dupuis presented the item. 
 
Seeing no public comment, the Mayor closed the public hearing at 9:06 p.m. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To approve the renewal of liquor licenses for the 2024 licensing period for the following 
establishments holding a Class B, Class C, or Microbrewery Liquor License that are in compliance 
with Chapter 10, Alcoholic Liquors of the City Code:    

• All Seasons Senior Living 
• Bella Piatti 
• Birmingham Pub 
• Birmingham Theater 
• Brooklyn Pizza 
• Churchills Bistro 
• Community House 
• Dick O’Dows 
• Elie’s Mediterranean  
• Emagine Palladium 
• Fleming’s Prime Steakhouse 
• Forest Grill 2 
• Griffin Claw Brewing Company 
• Hazel Ravines & Downtown 
• Hyde Park Steak House 
• La Strada Italian Kitchen and Bar 

• Lincoln Hills Golf Course  
• Luxe Bar and Grille 
• Mare Mediterranean 
• Pernoi 
• Phoenicia Restaurant 
• Salvatore Scallopini 
• Springdale Golf Course 
• Streetside Seafood 
• Sushi Japan 
• Tallulah Wine Bar and Bistro 
• The Daxton Hotel 
• The Morrie Birmingham 
• Townsend Hotel 
• Townhouse Kitchen & Bar 
• Whistlestop

 
 

And 
 

5C



To make a motion adopting a resolution to set public hearings on Monday, March 18, 2024 
to consider whether the City Commission shall file objections with the Michigan Liquor 
Control Commission for the renewal of licenses held by the following establishments that are 
in violation of Chapter 10, Alcoholic Liquors of the City Code: 

• 220 Restaurant 
• Adachi Restaurant 
• Employee Meal 
• Market North End 
• Papa Joe’s/Bistro Joe’s 

• Sidecar/Slice/Shift 
• Social Kitchen and Bar 
• Toast 
• Zana

 
And 
 
Further, to direct the City Manager to notify the owners and operators of licensed 
establishments for which a public hearing is set via first class certified mail, to inform them 
of the public hearing date set for the March 18, 2024 7:30 p.m. City Commission meeting, 
and inform them that they may submit any written material for consideration by the City 
Commission prior to or at the public hearing, that the licensee or counsel of licensee may 
appear at the hearing in person or via zoom, and that the licensee or counsel of licensee 
may present witnesses or written evidence for City Commission consideration at the public 
hearing. 
 
The Commission briefly noted that a number of the establishments on the list for the March 18, 
2024 hearing had also violated Chapter 10, Alcoholic Liquors of the City Code in years prior.
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Baller 
Mayor McLain 

 
   Nays, None 
 
02-051-24 400 E. Lincoln - Senior/Recreation Assessment and Conceptual Design  

Award 
 
CM Ecker provided an overview of the item. 
 
The teams from Krieger Klatt Architects and NORR, LLC each presented to the Commission while 
the other team waited outside the Commission room. Krieger Klatt Architects presented first. 
Between the presentations the meeting entered a brief recess, and then returned from recess. 
 
City staff and each team answered informational questions from the Commission.  
 
Commissioner comments were as follows: 

● This project will overlap in part with the YMCA’s tenancy at the project site, and the City 
will need to determine how to best manage that overlap; 

5C



● It will be important to define the stakeholders clearly and to maintain open lines of 
communication; 

● This compressed timeline was not the same as an expedited or premium timeline; 
● Six Commissioners said they would have preferred to be more included in the process 

leading up to this point. In the future, the Commission should be included in the process 
from an earlier point, including potential reviews of requests for proposal and selection 
criteria;  

● Staff should provide the Commissioners with the scoring sheets and any other information 
used to recommend these two teams for the Commissioners’ reference; 

● NORR, LLC provided an estimate $25,000 lower than Krieger Klatt Architects, which 
needed to be considered; 

● While Krieger Klatt Architects’ local experience was valuable, NORR, LLC demonstrated 
care about community work;  

● The cost difference may or may not end up being statistically significant in terms of the 
entire project; 

● Both bidders were excellent candidates; 
● Given the time constraints of the process, it would be appropriate to move forward this 

evening with one of the two teams; 
● The NORR, LLC bid would involve working with one firm, whereas Krieger Klatt Architects’ 

bid would involve working with two firms; 
● NORR, LLC’s use of A.M. Higley as a cost consultant would be preferable to a construction 

company’s estimator; and, 
● NORR, LLC proposed one more public engagement meeting than Krieger Klatt Architects 

proposed. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Long, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To adopt a resolution to approve the 2024-bid proposal with NORR, LLC to furnish all labor, 
equipment, material and supervision necessary for the “Birmingham Senior/Recreation Building” 
facility assessment and conceptual designs for a renovation/expansion project of the City-owned 
building at 400 East Lincoln St., Birmingham MI 48009, in the amount not to exceed $133,694.00. 
In addition, to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the City. No 
City funding is necessary for this project. 
 
Public Comment 
 
George Dilgard and Gordon Rinschler commented on the motion. 
 
Commissioner comments were as follows: 

● One Commissioner had been more inclined to vote for Krieger Klatt Architects due to prior 
positive experience with Krieger Klatt Architects, and due to the firm’s local experience, 
but would not vote against NORR, LLC. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Baller 

5C



Mayor McLain 
 
   Nays, None 
 
The Mayor thanked both teams.
 
Commission Items for Future Discussion 
 
02-052-24 City Events 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Mayor McLain: 
To talk about the City’s willingness and ability to run and sponsor events. 
 
VOICE VOTE:  Ayes, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Haig 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

     
Nays, None 

 
02-053-24 Horizontal Directional Drilling 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To determine the possibility of having directional drilling companies be invited to bid on the City’s 
residential water and sewer replacements. 
 
VOICE VOTE:  Ayes, Commissioner Haig 

 Commissioner Host 
     

Nays, MPT Schafer 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Long 
Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Baller 

 
Commission Discussion On Items From A Prior Meeting 
 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 
 

IX. COMMUNICATIONS 
A. Communications regarding Arlington and Shirley 

 

5C



Staff noted that two further pieces of correspondence regarding the topic would be included in 
the next Commission agenda. 
 

X. REPORTS 
A. Commissioner Reports 

1. Notice of intention to appoint to the Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
 
The Mayor reported back from the MML’s Live at the League and the Women Officials’ Network 
Board Meeting. She noted her upcoming participation in a call with State Senator McMorrow and 
a conversation with the Lathrup Village Police.  
 
MPT Schafer provided information about Birmingham Youth Assistance’s Youth in Service Awards 
program. 
 

B. Commissioner Comments 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 

D. Legislation 
 
The Mayor noted legislation regarding the prevention of robocalls. 
 
E. City Staff 

1. Report from City Attorney 
 
CA Kucharek summarized the report. 

   
INFORMATION ONLY  
 

XI. ADJOURN 
The Commission motioned to adjourn at 11:36 p.m. 
    
 
 

 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 

 

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/15/2024

03/04/2024

PAPER CHECK

1,080.2521ST CENTURY MEDIA- MICHIGAN005430*296465

177.30ADVANCED VETERINARY MEDICAL CENTER009699296466

579.09AETNA BEHAVIORAL HEALTH LLC007266*296467

13.99ANN ARBOR DISTRICT LIBRARYMISC296468

240.00AQUARIUM DESIGN INC009202*296469

540.00ARTECH PRINTING INC000500*296470

20.80BOB BARKER CO INC001122296471

89.99BILLINGS LAWN EQUIPMENT INC.002231296472

2,555.51BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526296473

131.25BSB COMMUNICATIONS, INC.005717296474

69.23CANON SOLUTIONS AMERICA INC009078*296475

1,192.00CAPITAL TIRE, INC.007732296476

300.00CAROL BACAK-EGBO009597296477

116.00CAROLINE ROBINSON009809*296478

3,000.00EGLE009562296479

235.14CERTIFIED POWER, INC007134296480

20,370.71COMERICA BANK000979296481

178.50COMFORT INN & SUITES005074*296482

10,132.63CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*296483

2,289.51CUMMINS BRIDGEWAY LLC003923296484

4,711.20THE D.M. BURR GROUP009024296485

1,905.00DAKTRONICS, INC006852*296486

47.64DOWNRIVER REFRIGERATION000190296487

111.52DTE ENERGY000179*296488

188.04DTE ENERGY000179*296489

2,463.29DTE ENERGY000179*296490

131.35DTE ENERGY000179*296491

90.94DTE ENERGY000179*296492

2,951.88DTE ENERGY000179*296493

21.18DTE ENERGY000179*296494

451.39DTE ENERGY000179*296495

176.69DTE ENERGY000179*296496

33.38DTE ENERGY000179*296497

1,076.05DTE ENERGY000179*296498

518.18DTE ENERGY000179*296499

455.06DTE ENERGY000179*296500

54,994.88DTE ENERGY000180*296501

18,880.00DVM UTILITIES009340296502

10.99ERIN COLETTIMISC296503

2,340.00ETNA SUPPLY001495296504

357.94GORDON FOOD004604*296505

50.00GA BUSINESS PURCHASER LLC000249*296506 5D



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/15/2024

03/04/2024

2,218.92HEINZ, JOANUBREFUND296507

1,780.00HERO INDUSTRIES, INCMISC296508

772.55HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*296509

10,493.00HORIZON COMMUNICATIONS CO. INC009029*296510

769.49INTERMEDIA. NET INC009551296511

2,605.37INTERSTATE BATTERIES OF SE MICH000342296512

2,484.25JENETTE MAITZ009559*296513

500.00JOY YOUNG009821296514

6,370.68KIMBERLY FENCE & SUPPLY INC009133*296515

31.26KROGER COMPANY000362*296516

100.00LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MANAGEMENT INC006817296517

83.10LITHIA MOTORS, INC SUPPORT SERVICES009375296518

2,000.00MERRITT CIESLAK DESIGN PLC009351296519

775.00MICHIGAN POLICE EQUIP.003099296520

900.00MICHIGAN STATE POLICE001497296521

706.67MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230296522

2,835.00MILLER CANFIELD PADDOCK AND001950296523

8,854.77MKSK INC008319296524

79,307.00MML WORKERS' COMP FUND000649*296525

886.20NATIONAL TIME & SIGNAL CORP000668296526

8,820.00NICK'S MAINTENANCE SERVICE004827*296527

1,400.00NOAR TECHNOLOGIES009704296528

1,050.00DAVID DECKER009749296529

2,886.00OAKLAND COUNTY000477*296530

5,102.21OAKLAND SCHOOLS000675*296531

477.00OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370*296532

340.00OXFORD OVERHEAD DOOR SALES CO.001626296533

1,000.00POSTMASTER000801*296534

256.42PREMIUM AIR SYSTEMS INC003629296535

570.75ROYAL OAK P.D.Q. LLC000218296536

403.17SHARE CORPORATION009548296537

227.02SHERWIN-WILLIAMS COMPANY007142296538

5,190.00STALKER RADAR009798296539

629.48T-MOBILE007408*296540

325.00TAYLOR FREEZER OF MICH INC001076*296541

247.60TIRE WHOLESALERS CO INC000275296542

61.68UPTOWN MARKET OF BIRMINGHAM008941*296543

17.50US FIGURE SKATING ASSOC.001279*296544

221.20VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*296545

1,279.67VERIZON WIRELESS000158*296546

149.64VERIZON WIRELESS000158*296547

152.14VERIZON WIRELESS000158*296548

2,485.00VFP FIRE SYSTEMS009806296549

5D



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/15/2024

03/04/2024

254.07WEINGARTZ SUPPLY CO.000299296550

969.22WEISSMAN'S COSTUMES002171*296551

801.86WOLVERINE005112296552

106.08XEROX CORPORATION008391*296553

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $295,174.47

ACH TRANSACTION

130.00ART/DESIGN GROUP LTD001357*10050

181.50BEIER HOWLETT P.C.000517*10051

146.27BEVERLY HILLS ACE007345*10052

2,131,709.41BIRMINGHAM PUBLIC SCHOOLS-TAXES008840*10053

118.50BLUE WATER INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS INC000542*10054

405.90CINTAS CORPORATION00060510055

28.65CINTAS CORPORATION00060510056

407.07CIVICPLUS, LLC009540*10057

554.00CLUB PROPHET008044*10058

1,220.71CONTRACTORS CLOTHING CO00266810059

630.00ZECO, LLC009557*10060

450.35DELTA TEMP SERVICES INC00918110061

423.00DELTA TEMP SERVICES INC009181*10061

764.00CHRISTOPHER DEMAN006999*10062

2,353.72DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*10063

6,393.15DUNCAN PARKING TECH INC001077*10064

62.18FIRE DEFENSE EQUIP CO INC00021310065

152.50FIRE SYSTEMS OF MICHIGAN LLC001230*10066

472.77GRAINGER000243*10067

201.93GRAINGER, INC00829310068

33,281.07HUBBELL ROTH & CLARK INC00033110069

22,529.27J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY00026110070

922.59JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*10071

621.84KONE INC00408510072

2,086.45KONE INC004085*10072

1,419.72KROPF MECHANICAL SERVICE COMPANY005876*10073

314.70LEATHERS & ASSOCIATES INC004362*10074

1,383.00LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.005550*10075

803.46LOWER HURON SUPPLY CO INC003527*10076

1,011.66MIDWEST TAPE00201310077

205.00NELSON BROTHERS SEWER00119410078

1,301.14NETWORK SERVICES COMPANY007755*10079

970.20NEXT007856*10080

720,541.80OAKLAND COUNTY TREASURER- TAX PYMNT008843*10081

911.25OSCAR W. LARSON CO.002767*10082

4,772.66PRINTING SYSTEMS INC000897*10083

21,146.40RAM CONSTRUCTION SERVICES OF MICHIG009666*10084 5D



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/15/2024

03/04/2024

6,901.83RKA PETROLEUM003554*10085

8,621.12US SIGNAL COMPANY LLC00926610086

220.50VIGILANTE SECURITY INC000969*10087

169.00WAGEWORKS, INC.00968710088

1,720.00WINDCAVE INC009783*10089

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $2,978,660.27

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $3,273,834.74

5D



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/22/2024

03/04/2024

PAPER CHECK

383.3421ST CENTURY MEDIA- MICHIGAN005430*296554

2,581.47ACCUFORM PRINTING & GRAPHICS, INC009346296555

40.00ACTION MAT & TOWEL RENTAL, INC006638296556

360.00AMANDA MCBRIDE009393*296557

1,000.00AMSON CUSTOM HOMES LLCBDREFUND296558

1,927.00ANDERSON ECKSTEIN WESTRICK INC000167296559

20,439.00ANDREW & GILLIAN RIFKINTAXMISC*296560

354.00ARTECH PRINTING INC000500296561

200.00ATESIAN PROPERTIES, INCBDREFUND296562

300.00AVRIPAS CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND296563

100.00AXIOM CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND296564

2,508.00BALIAN LEGAL, PLC009609296565

1,455.74BEDROCK EXPRESS LTD009568*296566

347.74CITY OF BERKLEY002482*296567

100.00BILLY WHITE ROOFING LLCBDREFUND296568

200.00BLOOMFIELD CONSTRUCTION COBDREFUND296569

1,000.00BLOOMINGDALE HOMES INCBDREFUND296570

100.00BLUMKE INSTALLATIONSBDREFUND296571

500.00BOJI GROUPBDREFUND296572

25.80BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526296573

1,031.36BRADFORD & ANNA COULTERTAXMISC*296574

279.60BRUCE WHITE GALLERY007919*296575

100.00C & G CEMENT CEMENT CONTRACTORS INCBDREFUND296576

7,594.50CADILLAC ASPHALT, LLC003907296577

200.00CASA VILLA HOMESBDREFUND296578

853.06RYAN KATZ001086*296579

500.00CLEMENT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY LLCBDREFUND296580

871.76CLISBY & JESSICA JARRARDTAXMISC*296581

578.16COL'S FAMILY RESTAURANT009167296582

723.95COOL THREADS EMBROIDERY008512296583

100.00CRAIG RYAN FINE CLOTHINGBDREFUND296584

2,282.67CYNERGY PRODUCTS004386296585

100.00David J. Barrett, JrBDREFUND296586

221.78DJL3 LLCUBREFUND*296587

179.12DTE ENERGY000179*296588

819.64ELITE IMAGING SYSTEMS, INC004493296589

100.00ERIE CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND296590

9,234.67FARMINGTON COMM. LIBRARY000585296591

100.00FOUNDATION SYSTEMS OF MICHIGAN INC.BDREFUND296592

1,860.00FRAIBERG & PERNIE PLLC009387*296593

428.74FRANK DUSHAJUBREFUND*296594

100.00GREAT LAKES LANDSCAPE DESIGN, INCBDREFUND296595 5E



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/22/2024

03/04/2024

200.00 GRENNAN CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND296596

284.64 GA BUSINESS PURCHASER LLC000249*296597

1,200.00 GUNNERS METER & PARTS INC001531296598

646.58 HALT FIRE INC001447296599

1,743.71 HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*296600

100.00 HOME PRO ROOFINGBDREFUND296601

5,000.00 HORIZON RETAIL CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND296602

6,824.68 INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES001090296603

360.00 IRENE S WASSEL009401*296605

200.00 JOHN LINDSAY MAYER LANDSCAPE ARCHITBDREFUND296606

200.00 JOHN MCCARTER CONSTRUCTION LLCBDREFUND296607

1,080.00 JUSTIN ZAYID009403*296608

400.00 KELLY BUILDING & DEVELOPMENT CO LLCBDREFUND296609

700.00 KENDALL DESIGN AND BUILDBDREFUND296610

543.01 CHRISTOPHER KOCH002659*296611

2,047.70 KONICA MINOLTA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS004904296612

79.80 KROGER COMPANY000362*296613

1,000.00 LAKES DEVELOPMENT GROUPBDREFUND296614

2,976.00 LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN P. FENECH009386*296615

270.30 ALEX LINKE009422*296616

1,477.48 LITHIA MOTORS, INC SUPPORT SERVICES009375296617

200.00 MAINSTREET DESIGN & BUILDBDREFUND296618

300.00 Maple Willits, LLCBDREFUND296619

200.00 MAPLEWOOD 720 LLCBDREFUND296620

100.00 MARTIN SPORTS & ENTERTAINMENTBDREFUND296621

500.00 MGSE SECURITY LLC009085*296622

100.00 MICHIGAN STATE INDUSTRIESMISC296623

100.00 MICHIGAN-SHIGA SISTER STATE BOARD002089*296624

2,031.80 MOBILE HEALTH RESOURCES007163296625

100.00 NAGLE PAVING COBDREFUND296626

834,346.68 OAKLAND COUNTY000477*296627

27,456.74 OVERDRIVE, INC.006785296628

500.00 PELLA WINDOWS & DOORS, INC.BDREFUND296629

100.00 PHILLIPS SIGN & LIGHTING INCBDREFUND296630

56.99 PLAYAWAY PRODUCTS LLC009612296631

360.00 RABAA & NACHAWATI PLLC009394*296632

500.00 RENEWAL BY ANDERSENBDREFUND296633

40.84 ROYAL OAK P.D.Q. LLC000218*296634

39.33 RUSSELL HARDWARE COMPANY000221296635

383.70 SAM'S CLUB/SYNCHRONY BANK002806*296636

100.00 SAS SERVICES INCBDREFUND296637

200.00 SCOTT PATRICK MCDONALDBDREFUND296638

7,160.00 SCOTT QUALITY HOMES II LLCBDREFUND296639

5E



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/22/2024

03/04/2024

174.70 SHERWIN WILLIAMS COMPANY007114296640

89.12 SHERWIN-WILLIAMS COMPANY007142296641

100.00 SIGNGRAPHIX, INC.BDREFUND296642

1,312.00 STANLEY STEEMER003743*296643

7,361.37 STEPHANIE ZEKELMANTAXMISC*296644

2,000.00 STERLING DEVELOPMENT CORPBDREFUND296645

7,556.40 STRYKER SALES CORPORATION004544296646

1,690.00 SUCCESS 911, LLC009819296647

969.99 SYSTEMATIC FIRE PROTECTION INC009810296648

360.00 THE EDITH BLAKNEY LAW FIRM, PLLC009384*296649

250.98 TIRE WHOLESALERS CO INC000275296650

315.00 TURNER SANITATION, INC004379*296651

17.50 US FIGURE SKATING ASSOC.001279*296652

1,000.00 USZTAN LLCBDREFUND296653

129.60 VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*296654

308.16 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*296655

89.89 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*296656

100.00 VITAL SIGNSBDREFUND296657

2,000.00 WALLSIDE INCBDREFUND296658

100.00 WARBY PARKER, INC.BDREFUND296659

58.10 WEISSMAN'S COSTUMES002171*296660

768.47 WELLS FARGO VENDOR FIN SERV009026*296661

100.00 WHITE WOLF LANDSCAPINGBDREFUND296662

100.00 WILLOUGHBY, MICHAEL LBDREFUND296663

500.00 WINDOW PRO HOLDINGS LLCBDREFUND296664

77.25 BRANDON WYNN009460*296665

44.49 XEROX CORPORATION008391*296666

1,547.15 ZOOBEAN009463*296667

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $993,511.25

ACH TRANSACTION

366.53 AIRGAS USA, LLC00370810097

360.00 BATTI LAW PLLC009383*10098

43,231.98 BEIER HOWLETT PC000517*10099

18,136.48 BEIER HOWLETT PC000517*10100

7.19 BEVERLY HILLS ACE007345*10101

546.25 CLAIRE CHUNG009122*10102

199.21 CINTAS CORPORATION00060510103

178.02 CINTAS CORPORATION000605*10104

29.56 CINTAS CORPORATION00060510105

146.89 CINTAS CORPORATION000605*10106

1,004.00 CMP DISTRIBUTORS INC00223410107

1,470.58 COMERICA BANK00175010108

303,995.09 COMERICA BANK00175010108 5E



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/22/2024

03/04/2024

739.83 COMERICA BANK - RHC00317610109

98,930.19 COMERICA BANK - RHC00317610109

180.00 CONTRACTORS CLOTHING CO00266810110

250.00 ZECO, LLC009557*10111

2,000.00 DELTA TEMP SERVICES INC009181*10112

583.31 DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*10113

1,075.08 EJ USA, INC.00019610114

1,242.00 FIRE SYSTEMS OF MICHIGAN LLC00123010115

10.48 GRAINGER000243*10116

132.65 SCOTT GREWE001663*10117

402.50 MICHELLE HOLLO00792710118

7,902.48 HUBBELL ROTH & CLARK INC00033110119

720.00 IDUMESARO LAW FIRM, PLLC009390*10120

65.88 J.C. EHRLICH CO. INC.007870*10121

32,277.72 J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY00026110122

52.00 JAX KAR WASH002576*10123

525.00 JCC CREATIVE LLC00924910124

702.45 JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*10125

487.90 KANOPY, INC008827*10126

1,162.00 HAILEY R KASPER007827*10127

123.79 RYAN KEARNEY005465*10128

660.00 KELLER THOMA000891*10129

4,963.46 KROPF MECHANICAL SERVICE COMPANY005876*10130

360.00 LAMB LEGAL CONSULTING SERVICES009392*10131

396.00 LAW OFFICE OF MICHAEL J. DICK009385*10132

1,818.64 LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.005550*10133

1,476.00 MARCIA C ROSS PC009398*10134

9,513.53 MIDWEST TAPE00201310135

792.00 NBS COMMERCIAL INTERIORS00833610136

2,050.00 NEWTONS SOLUTIONS LLC00927610137

589.60 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*10138

408.00 ORLANDO LAW PRACTICE PC009395*10139

239.00 OSCAR W. LARSON CO.002767*10140

1,150.52 PEPSI COLA001753*10141

175.00 ROSE PEST SOLUTIONS001181*10142

225.00 SIGNS-N-DESIGNS INC003785*10143

113.30 UNIQUE MGMT SERVICE, INC00586110144

528.00 VIGILANTE SECURITY INC000969*10145

6,180.00 YELLOW DOOR LAW009379*10146

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $550,875.09

5E



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/22/2024

03/04/2024

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $1,544,386.34

5E



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/28/2024

03/04/2024

PAPER CHECK

936.5021ST CENTURY MEDIA- MICHIGAN005430*296668

1,468.31ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT LLC006324296669

39.00ANTHONY PAREDES009823*296670

39.38AT&T006759*296671

362.62DAVID BARTLEY008708*296672

200.00BASEMENT CRACKS & LEAKS/METROBDREFUND296673

200.00BRIXNSTONE LLCBDREFUND296674

500.00COASTAL DESIGN & BUILDBDREFUND296677

200.00CONSTRUCTEAMBDREFUND296679

14,741.90CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*296680

1,350.21CORE & MAIN LP008582296681

15,000.00DEBI CHUN HABIGERBDREFUND296682

200.00DEVONCE CUSTOM CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND296684

500.00DOBIBDREFUND296685

500.00DROBOT CUSTOM BUILDING INCBDREFUND296686

19.56DTE ENERGY000179*296687

9,273.33DTE ENERGY000180*296689

100.00EDWARD J STENGER JR REVOC TRUSTBDREFUND296690

38.33FIRST ADVANTAGE OCCUPATIONAL CORP007366*296691

691.87GORDON FOOD004604*296692

211.85GREAT LAKES POPCORN CO000245*296693

5,820.36GREAT LAKES WATER AUTHORITY008007*296694

1,128.18HERSCH'S INC.009782296696

500.00HOLCOMB CONTRACTINGBDREFUND296697

149.15HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*296698

353.56HOWIES HOCKEY INC009563*296699

5,700.00HRH CONSTRUCTION LLCBDREFUND296700

150.00HUNTER ROBERTS HOMESBDREFUND296701

200.00JOHN MCCARTER CONSTRUCTION LLCBDREFUND296703

500.00KELLY BUILDING & DEVELOPMENT CO LLCBDREFUND296705

1,000.00KENNEDY, ANNEBDREFUND296706

443.00KGM DISTRIBUTORS INC004088*296707

199.00KIPLINGER LETTER001406296708

1,668.00LAW OFFICES OF JOSHUA L. HADLEY, PL009822*296709

44,225.63MCKENNA ASSOCIATES INC000888*296711

39.00MELISSA WANGLERMISC*296712

21,699.31MICHIGAN DEPT. OF TRANSPORATION004687296713

66.85MICHIGAN NOTARY SERVICE001715*296714

16.36MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230296715

200.00MOSHER & ASSOCIATES LANDSCAPE DESIGBDREFUND296716

200.00OAK ELECTRIC SERVICE INCBDREFUND296717

846.00OAKLAND COUNTY CLERKS OFFICE009787*296718 5F



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/28/2024

03/04/2024

522.00OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370*296719

666.18ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC009478*296720

1,000.00OLDE WORLD HOMES LLCBDREFUND296721

1,100.00PAT BATTAGLIABDREFUND296722

500.00PETRONA COBDREFUND296724

78.00SCOT POUNDERS006691*296727

2,500.00PRM CUSTOM BUILDERS LLCBDREFUND296729

78.00PTS COMMUNICATIONS, INC006625*296730

500.00PYTIAK DESIGN & BUILDBDREFUND296731

100.00Rapid RoofingBDREFUND296732

100.00ROMA CEMENT CO INCBDREFUND296733

500.00RONNISCH CONSTRUCTION GROUPBDREFUND296734

1,000.00SACHSE CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND296735

100.00SCHOENHERR HOMES LLCBDREFUND296736

2,471.00SECURE DOOR, LLC006590296737

497.41SERVICE GLASS COMPANY INC009178*296738

1,312.00STANLEY STEEMER003743*296739

374.00STANLEY STEEMER003743*296740

387.20TIRE WHOLESALERS CO INC000275296741

300.00TITTLE BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION LLCBDREFUND296742

255.73UPTOWN MARKET OF BIRMINGHAM008941*296743

226.80VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*296744

365.98VERIZON WIRELESS000158*296745

1,339.57VERIZON WIRELESS000158*296746

98.38VERIZON WIRELESS000158*296747

1,271.28VILLAGE AUTOMOTIVE INC006491296748

91.88VITAL TITLE LLCUBREFUND*296749

409.70WEINGARTZ SUPPLY CO.000299296750

100.68SCOTT ZIELINSKI009147*296751

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $149,923.05

EFT TRANSFER

71,583.83BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MICHIGAN009593*" "

SUBTOTAL EFT TRANSFER $71,583.83

ACH TRANSACTION

65.00ART/DESIGN GROUP LTD001357*10151

39.00MATTHEW J. BARTALINO003839*10152

114.44BIRMINGHAM OIL CHANGE CENTER, LLC007624*10153

4,136,512.71BIRMINGHAM PUBLIC SCHOOLS-TAXES008840*10154

39.00CHRISTINA WOODS00935210155

186.84CINTAS CORPORATION00060510156

4,721.02CROWN CASTLE FIBER LLC009195*10157

2,350.21DELTA TEMP SERVICES INC009181*10158 5F



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

02/28/2024

03/04/2024

131.43DETROIT CHEMICAL & PAPER SUPPLY007359*10159

1,077.67DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*10160

657.32EJ USA, INC.00019610161

39.00AARON D FORD00951710162

358.05GRAINGER000243*10163

2,700.00H&H POWDERCOATING009824*10164

90.00HAYES PRECISION INC001672*10165

195.00THOMAS I. HUGHES003824*10166

40,809.68J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY00026110167

439.04JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*10168

122.41KONE INC00408510169

1,558.87LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.00555010170

1,397.60LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.005550*10170

46,604.00NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS00186410172

1,555,916.17OAKLAND COUNTY TREASURER- TAX PYMNT008843*10173

295.00OSCAR W. LARSON CO.002767*10174

8,000.00RESERVE ACCOUNT005344*10175

175.00ROSE PEST SOLUTIONS001181*10176

76,801.00SOCRRA00025410177

45,118.81STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES009625*10178

39.00PAUL WELLS000301*10179

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $5,926,553.27

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $6,148,060.15

5F



MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: February 19, 2024  

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Special Event Application: Day on the Town 

INTRODUCTION: 
The Birmingham Shopping District has submitted a special event application to hold the Day 
on the Town event on July 27, 2024. Set up for the event is scheduled for from 7:00 a.m. until 
9:00 a.m. The event begins at 9:00 a.m. and concludes at 6:00 p.m. Teardown is scheduled for 
6:00 p.m. until 8:00 p.m.  

BACKGROUND: 
The necessary departments reviewed the proposed event details submitted in the application, and 
departments provided feedback on requirements and estimated costs. DPS, Planning, Building, 
Engineering, Police and Fire have indicated their approval.  

This all day shopping event in the heart of Downtown Birmingham has proven to be the largest 
sale day of the year for many local merchants.  The event may also include music and family 
friendly activities.  They are also working with the Birmingham Police Department who will be 
holding their open house during the event.  

The following events occur in July in Birmingham and do not pose a conflict for this event: 
 Farmers Market Sundays Lot #6 
Movie Nights 7/19/24 Booth Park 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the application and has no objection as to form or content. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
All costs associated with this event will be paid by the applicant. 

SUSTAINABILITY:  
The Birmingham Shopping District will provide recycling containers in addition to the trash 
receptacles. 

5G



PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The Birmingham Shopping District notified residents and businesses about the details of this event 
by letter mailed at least two weeks prior to the City Commission meeting. The addresses that 
were notified were within 300 feet of the event space. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Commission is being asked to approve a special event permit for the Day on the Town 
event to be held July 27, 2024 from 9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., with set up July 27, 2024 from 7:00 
a.m. until 9:00 a.m. Teardown will begin July 27, 2024 at 6:00 p.m.

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Special event application
• Notification letter with map of event area distributed to residents/businesses within

300 feet of the event area dated 02/09/2024. Notification addresses are on file in the
Clerk’s Office.

• Department approval page with comments and estimated costs

 SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
To make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the 
Birmingham Shopping District to hold the Day on the Town event on July 27, 2024 contingent 
upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of all fees and, further 
pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff at the 
time of the event, or event cancellation that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff, 
leading up to or at the time of the event. 

5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



DEPARTMENT APPROVALS 
 EVENT NAME: Day on the Town  
LICENSE NUMBER #34-00012451 COMMISSION HEARING DATE: 03/04/24  
NOTE TO STAFF:  Please submit approval by 2/19/24  DATE OF EVENT:  07/27/24  
  

DEPARTMENT APPROVED COMMENTS PERMITS 
REQUIRED 

(Must be obtained 
directly from individual 

departments) 

ESTIMATED 
COSTS 

(Must be paid two 
weeks prior to the 

event. License will not 
be issued if unpaid.) 

ACTUAL 
COSTS 

(Event will be 
invoiced by the 
Clerk’s office 

after the event) 
 

PLANNING 
101.0-000.000-636.0005 

248.530.1855 
 

TBC No Cost No Comment  0   

BUILDING 
101.0-000.000.636.0005 

248.530.1850 

MJM 1. All exits, exit accesses, and exit 
discharges must be maintained 
2. Tents that require permits need a tent 
layout plan for review 
3. All tents are required to have flame 
certification 
4. Tents and canopies must be stabilized 
with weights 
5. Electrical cords or water lines must be 
taped or matted to prevent trip hazards 

Tents over 400 
SQFT. 

$262.35  

FIRE 
101.0-000.000-636.0004 

248.530.1900 

 
JS 

1. Crown manager required for event 
1/250 ratio 

2. Maintain proper clearance around 
fire hydrants and fire dept. 
connections to buildings 

3. Maintain fire lanes 
4. Fire extinguishers required for 

tents. ABC 5lb.  
5. Food trucks and all tents require 

inspection prior to event.  
6. See attached 2024 City Event 

Bulletin 
7. Fire/ EMS response from 

respective fire stations. 
 

  
 
 
 
 

$0.00 

 

5G



POLICE 
101.0-000.000.636.0003 

248.530.1870 

RK 2 detail Ofcs, 1 drone/Overwatch, and 
barricades. 

 $3,183.30  

PUBLIC SERVICES 
101.0-000.000-636.0002 

248.530.1642 

CL Set up and Clean up costs including 
Barricades.  ADDITIONAL COST COULD 
OCCUR for any items added to the typical 
set up scope or if clean up is more 
extensive than previous years. 

 $5,000  

ENGINEERING 
101.0-000.000.636.0002 

248.530.1839 

MC An obstruction permit for closing the road 
will be required.   
Oakland and Haynes might be under 
construction.  The project doucments will 
include this event for no work, and make 
sure sidewalks on Old Woodward are 
clear for this event.  

Obstruction Permit  $100.00  

PARKING 
 Free parking in all City parking garages None 0 0 

INSURANCE 
248.530.1807 

 Need to submit COI no less than 2 weeks 
prior to event 
Need to submit Hold Harmless Agreement 

None 0 0 

CLERK 
101.0-000.000-614.0000 

248.530.1803 

 Notification letters to be mailed by 
applicant no later than ___.  
Notification addresses on file in the 
Clerk’s Office.   
 

Applications for 
vendors license 
must be submitted 
no later than ____. 

0 0 
 

 
  TOTALS: 

Estimated and 
Actual Costs 

$8,545.65  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FOR CLERK’S OFFICE USE 
 
Deposit paid ___________ 
 
Actual Cost     
 
Due/Refund    
 5G



 
 
 Rev. 2/21/24 
h:\shared\special events\- general information\approval page.doc 

5G



MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: February 19, 2024  

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Special Event Application:  Birmingham Farmers Market 

INTRODUCTION: 
The Birmingham Shopping District has submitted a special event application to hold the 
Birmingham Farmers Market Sundays from May 5 - October 27, 2024. Set up for the event is 
scheduled for Sundays 7:00 a.m. – 9:00 a.m. The event begins at 9:00 a.m. and concludes at 
2:00 p.m. Teardown is scheduled for 2:00 p.m. – 3:30 p.m. 

BACKGROUND: 
The necessary departments reviewed the proposed event details submitted in the application, and 
departments provided feedback on requirements and estimated costs. DPS, Planning, Building, 
Engineering, Police and Fire have indicated their approval.  

This will be the 22nd season of the Birmingham Farmers Market.  The market offers the community 
access to fresh produce directly from growers.  Throughout the season, more than 75 booths will 
feature a diverse array of Michigan-grown produce, plants, flowers, baked goods, prepared foods, 
soaps and miscellaneous items. 

The following events occur in May - October in Birmingham and do not pose a conflict for this 
event: 

• Celebrate Birmingham Parade/Party 5/18 Shain Park & City Streets 
• Art Birmingham  5/10 - 5/11  Shain Park & City Streets 
• Memorial Day Ceremony 5/27 Shain Park 
• Movie Nights 6/7, 7/19, 

8/9, 9/86 Booth Park 
• Village Fair 5/29 - 6/2 Shain Park & City Streets 
• Day on the Town 7/27 City Streets 
• In the Park Concert Series 6/12 – 8/14 Shain Park 
• Common Ground Art Fair 9/28 – 9/29 Shain Park & City Streets 
• Yoga in the Park 6/15 Shain Park 

5H



LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the application and has no objection as to form or content. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
All costs associated with this event will be paid by the applicant. 

SUSTAINABILITY:  
The Birmingham Shopping District will place recycling containers in addition to the trash 
receptacles.  

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The Birmingham Shopping District notified residents and businesses about the details of this event 
by letter mailed at least two weeks prior to the City Commission meeting. The addresses that 
were notified were within 300 feet of the event space. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Commission is being asked to approve a special event permit for the Birmingham Farmers 
Market to be held Sundays from May 5 - October 27, 2024 from 9:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m., with set 
up 7:00 a.m. - 9:00 a.m. Teardown will begin 2:00 p.m. – 3:30 p.m. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Special event application
• Notification letter with map of event area distributed to residents/businesses within

300 feet of the event area dated 02/09/2024. Notification addresses are on file in the
Clerk’s Office.

• Department approval page with comments and estimated costs

 SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
To make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the 
Birmingham Shopping District to hold the Birmingham Farmers Market on Sundays from May 5 – 
October 27, 2024 contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and 
payment of all fees and, further pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be 
deemed necessary by administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the event. 

5H



5H



5H



5H



5H



5H



5H



5H



5H



5H



5H



5H



DEPARTMENT APPROVALS 
 EVENT NAME: Farmers Market  
LICENSE NUMBER #24-00012452 COMMISSION HEARING DATE: 03/04/24  
NOTE TO STAFF:  Please submit approval by 02/19/24 DATE OF EVENT:05/05/24-10-27/24  
  

DEPARTMENT APPROVED COMMENTS PERMITS 
REQUIRED 

(Must be obtained 
directly from individual 

departments) 

ESTIMATED 
COSTS 

(Must be paid two 
weeks prior to the 

event. License will not 
be issued if unpaid.) 

ACTUAL 
COSTS 

(Event will be 
invoiced by the 
Clerk’s office 

after the event) 
 

PLANNING 
101.0-000.000-636.0005 

248.530.1855 
 

TBC No Cost No Comment  0  

BUILDING 
101.0-000.000.636.0005 

248.530.1850 

MJM All tents are required to be weighted 
down. 

Tents over 400 
SQFT. 

$1399.20  

FIRE 
101.0-000.000-636.0004 

248.530.1900 

 
JS 

Please review attached City Event 
Bulleting issued by the Fire Marshal’s 
Office. 
Fire Inspectors to walk through weekly. 
Fire/ EMS response from respective fire 
stations.  

  
 

$0.00 

 

POLICE 
101.0-000.000.636.0003 

248.530.1870 

RK On-duty officers will place barricades to 
secure lot #6 for set-up before each 
Sunday and provide extra patrols during 
the events.  Two additional officers will 
work at the Super-Hero event.  

 $707.40  

PUBLIC SERVICES 
101.0-000.000-636.0002 

248.530.1642 

 
CL 

Estimate based on actual costs of DPS 
services requested by BSD for this event 
in previous years. Additional costs may 
apply should scope of work change. 

  
$7,000 

 

ENGINEERING 
101.0-000.000.636.0002 

248.530.1839 

MC No permits are required  None $0  

PARKING 
AF None None 0 0 

5H



INSURANCE 
248.530.1807 

Need to submit COI no less than 2 weeks 
prior to event 
Need to submit Hold Harmless Agreement 

None 0 0 

CLERK 
101.0-000.000-614.0000 

248.530.1803 

Notification letters to be mailed by 
applicant no later than ___.  
Notification addresses on file in the 
Clerk’s Office.   

Applications for 
vendors license 
must be submitted 
no later than ____. 

0 0 

TOTALS: 
Estimated and 
Actual Costs 

$9,106.60 

Rev. 2/21/24 
h:\shared\special events\- general information\approval page.doc 

FOR CLERK’S OFFICE USE 

Deposit paid ___________ 

Actual Cost   

Due/Refund  

5H



MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: February 19, 2024  

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Special Event Application:  Birmingham Movie Nights 

INTRODUCTION: 
The Birmingham Shopping District has submitted a special event application to hold Birmingham 
Movie Nights on Friday June 7, July 19, August 9, and September 6, 2024. Set up for the event 
is scheduled for 12:00 p.m. until 6:30 p.m. The event begins at 6:30 p.m. and concludes at 10:00 
p.m. Teardown is scheduled for 10:00 p.m. until 11:00 p.m.

BACKGROUND: 
The necessary departments reviewed the proposed event details submitted in the application, and 
departments provided feedback on requirements and estimated costs. DPS, Planning, Building, 
Engineering, Police and Fire have indicated their approval.  

The Birmingham Shopping District will hold four movie nights.  They plan to have pre-movie 
entertainment and sponsor booths.  

The following events occur in June, July, August and September in Birmingham and do not pose 
a conflict for this event: 

 Village Fair        05/29/24 - 06/02/24  Shain Park 
Yoga in the Park 06/15/24  Shain Park 
Common Ground Art Fair  09/28/24 - 09/29/24  Shain Park 
 Day on the Town        07/27/24        City Streets 
 Farmers Market   Sundays        Lot #6 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the application and has no objection as to form or content. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
All costs associated with this event will be paid by the applicant. 

5I



2 

SUSTAINABILITY:  
The Birmingham Shopping District will provide recycling containers in addition to the trash 
receptacles. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The Birmingham Shopping District notified residents and businesses about the details of this event 
by letter mailed at least two weeks prior to the City Commission meeting. The addresses that 
were notified were within 300 feet of the event space. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Commission is being asked to approve a special event permit for Birmingham Movie 
Nights to be held Friday June 7, July 19, August 9, and September 6, 2024 from 6:30 p.m. to 
10:00 p.m., with set up from 12:00 p.m. until 6:30 p.m. Teardown will begin at 10:00 p.m. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Special event application
• Notification letter with map of event area distributed to residents/businesses within

300 feet of the event area dated 02/09/2024. Notification addresses are on file in the
Clerk’s Office.

• Department approval page with comments and estimated costs

 SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
To make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the 
Birmingham Shopping District to hold Birmingham Movie Nights on Friday June 7, July 19, August 
9, and September 6, 2024 contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements 
and payment of all fees and, further pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be 
deemed necessary by administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the event. 

5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



5I



DEPARTMENT APPROVALS 
 EVENT NAME: Movie Nights  
LICENSE NUMBER #24-00012453 COMMISSION HEARING DATE: 03/04/24  
NOTE TO STAFF:  Please submit approval by 02/19/24 DATE OF EVENT: 06/07/24-09/06/24  
  

DEPARTMENT APPROVED COMMENTS PERMITS 
REQUIRED 

(Must be obtained 
directly from individual 

departments) 

ESTIMATED 
COSTS 

(Must be paid two 
weeks prior to the 

event. License will not 
be issued if unpaid.) 

ACTUAL 
COSTS 

(Event will be 
invoiced by the 
Clerk’s office 

after the event) 
 

PLANNING 
101.0-000.000-636.0005 

248.530.1855 
 

TBC No Cost No Comment  0   

BUILDING 
101.0-000.000.636.0005 

248.530.1850 

MJM No department involvement. Tents over 400 
SQFT. 

$0  

FIRE 
101.0-000.000-636.0004 

248.530.1900 

 
 
 
 
 

JS 

Fire/ EMS to respond from respective 
stations.  
Cooking areas and food trucks will require 
inspection. 
Fire extinguisher required for cooking 
areas 
Crow managers required 1/250 people 
ratio 
Provide wire bridges for extension cords 
as necessary 
Tents will require flame retardant cert.  
 

  
 
 
 

$0.00 

 

POLICE 
101.0-000.000.636.0003 

248.530.1870 

RK 2 officers will be dedicated to each of the 
4 movie nights.  Parking Enforcement will 
place barricades and meter bags before 
each event.  On-duty officers will give 
extra patrols.    

 $2,829.60  

PUBLIC SERVICES 
101.0-000.000-636.0002 

248.530.1642 

CL No stakes driven in the ground.  
Estimated costs include: 
Banner placement and removal. 
Barricade placement and removal for 
each event.   
Set up/clean up for each event 

 $3,000  

5I



ENGINEERING 
101.0-000.000.636.0002 

248.530.1839

MC No permits required None $0 

PARKING 
AF Guests pay the going rate at all garages 

and meters 
None 0 0 

INSURANCE 
248.530.1807 

Need to submit COI no less than 2 weeks 
prior to event 
Need to submit Hold Harmless Agreement 

None 

CLERK 
101.0-000.000-614.0000 

248.530.1803 

Notification letters to be mailed by 
applicant no later than ___.  
Notification addresses on file in the 
Clerk’s Office.   

Applications for 
vendors license 
must be submitted 
no later than ____. 

0 0 

TOTALS: 
Estimated and 
Actual Costs 

$5829.60 

Rev. 2/21/24 
h:\shared\special events\- general information\approval page.doc 

FOR CLERK’S OFFICE USE 

Deposit paid ___________ 

Actual Cost   

Due/Refund  

5I



MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department  

DATE: February 28, 2024

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager

FROM: Melissa A. Coatta, City Engineer

SUBJECT: Edgewood Road Project 
Contract #6-24(S) Contract Award 

INTRODUCTION: 
The City received and opened bids for the Edgewood Road Project Contract #6-24(S) on 
December 21, 2024, and received six (6) bids.  The Engineering Department recommends 
awarding this contract to Eminent Excavating LLC.  

BACKGROUND: 
The Edgewood Road Project includes the removal of the existing road that was mostly installed 
in the late 1950s and installing a new concrete pavement with the following underground 
improvements: 

Edgewood Road – E. Lincoln St. to Catalpa Dr.: 
Replacing the existing sewer ranging in size from 10" to 18" diameter, and installing separated 
storm sewer on the northern portion of Edgewood Road.  The separate storm will be temporarily 
directed to St. James Park and will incorporate a future rain garden in the master plan for this 
park.  The existing sewer ranks towards the top of the infrastructure ratings for sewer and road. 
These sewers were reviewed for trenchless repair, such as cured-in-place lining.  It is not 
recommended due to the pipe offsets, and existing pipe conditions.  

Edgewood Road – Catalpa Dr. to E. Southlawn Blvd.: 
A new 8" diameter water main will connect to an existing stub left on E. Southlawn Blvd. in 2006 
and to an existing stub on Catalpa in 2014.  The water model currently recommends an 8" 
diameter water main in this section of Edgewood to improve water pressure and flow in this area. 

This project also includes replacing an existing 6” diameter water main on Grant Street between 
Humphrey and Bennaville Road.  This work was bid in the 2022-2023 Asphalt Resurfacing 
Program and the City received a cost of over $500.00 per foot for the watermain only. The 
Engineering Department elected not to award that portion and wait until a nearby project was 

5J



 

 

 

 

 

2 

 

being constructed.  The approximate cost per foot for the watermain only by Eminent Excavating 
LLC is approximately $335.00.  After the water main installation, this section of the road will be 
milled and a 1.5" asphalt overlay will be installed.  
 
A water and sewer lateral special assessment district (SAD) along Edgewood Road was presented 
to the City Commission on January 8, 2024, and on January 22, 2024, for a confirmation of roll. 
The SAD was approved by the City Commission.   
 
The Engineering Department opened bids on December 21, 2023, and six (6) bids were received 
as listed in the attached summary.  The lowest and most responsive bidder was Eminent 
Excavating LLC of $2,225,421.50 for Paving Alternate #1 (concrete road) and $2,079,694.50 for 
Paving Alternate #2 (asphalt road with concrete curb and gutter). Eminent Excavating LLC’s price 
of $2,225,421.50 (for concrete road) was approximately $237,024.75 (10.6%) more than the 
engineer's estimate.  Factors that influence bid pricing include rising labor and material costs.  
The Engineering Department recommends proceeding with concrete pavement on this project 
due to the minor increase in price for a material that has a longer lifespan.  
 
Eminent Excavating LLC has previously worked in the City of Birmingham as a subcontractor on 
the Maple Road Project.  The Engineering Department also contacted references provided in their 
bid, and we are fully confident that they are quailed to perform the type of work.  
 
As required for all City construction projects, Eminent Excavating LLC has submitted a 5% bid 
security with their bid which will be forfeited if they do not provide signed contracts, bonds, and 
insurance required by the contract.   
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City's standard RFP and contract language was used for bidding this project which the City 
Attorney has reviewed and approved. No legal issues existed nor objections by the City Attorney.    
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
This project is budgeted for the 23/24 fiscal year, however, the road, sewer, and water portions 
are over the budget amounts. Budget amendments are required for the water and sewer costs 
over the budget amounts.  The total construction cost for the project is estimated to be 
$2,368,192.58 which includes Eminent Excavating LLC bid amount of $2,225,421.50 and a 5% 
construction contingency. The project award will be funded by the following accounts:  
 

Fund Account Fund ID Number Project Award 5% 
Contingencies 

Total 

Local Street Fund 203.0-449.001-981.0100 $1,306,002.78 $65,300.14 $1,371,302.92 

Sewer Fund 590.0-537.000-981.0100 $703,716.92 $35,185.85 $738,902.76 

Water Fund 591.0-544.000-981.0100 $245,701.80 $12,285.09 $257,986.89 

 
SUSTAINABILITY: 
This project will install a portion of the separated storm sewer and drain towards St. James Park 
and outlet to Edgewood sewer. A bio-swale will be incorporated during the upcoming renovation 
at St. James Park.   
 
 

5J



 

 

 

 

 

3 

 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Property owners received notification during the water and sewer lateral special assessment 
district. A property owner meeting was held on February 29, 2024 and communication with 
property owners in the project will be included in the general project announcement.   
  
SUMMARY: 
The Engineering Department recommends the Edgewood Road Project Contract #6-24(S) be 
awarded to Eminent Excavating LLC.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

• Project Area Map 
• Bid Summary 
• Nowak and Fraus Recommendation Letter 
• Existing Sewer Conditions  
• Plans  
• Contract Book  

 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to award the Edgewood Road Project #6-24(S) to Eminent 
Excavating LLC in the amount of $2,225,421.50 and a 5% construction contingency for a total of 
$2,336,692.58.  In addition, to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreement on 
behalf of the City contingent upon execution of the agreement and meeting all insurance and 
bond requirements by Eminent Excavating LLC.  Funding for this project has been budgeted in 
the following accounts: 
 

Fund Account Fund ID Number Project Award 5% 
Contingencies 

Total 

Local Street Fund 203.0-449.001-981.0100 $1,306,002.78 $65,300.14 $1,371,302.92 

Sewer Fund 590.0-537.000-981.0100 $703,716.92 $35,185.85 $738,902.76 

Water Fund 591.0-544.000-981.0100 $245,701.80 $12,285.09 $257,986.89 

 
AND  
To approve the appropriation and amendment of the fiscal year 2023/2024 budget as follows: 
 
Local Street Fund: 
 Revenues: 
 203.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Fund Balance  $691,310 
 Total Revenue        $691,310 
 
 Expenditures: 
 203.0-449.001-981.0100 Public Improvements   $691,310 
 Total Expenses       $691,310 
 
Sewer Fund: 
 Revenues: 
 590.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Net Position  $528,910 
 Total Revenue        $528,910 
 

5J



 

 

 

 

 

4 

 

 Expenditures: 
 590.0-537.000-981.0100 Public Improvements   $528,910 
 Total Expenses       $528,910 
 
Water Fund: 
 Revenues: 
 591.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Net Position  $127,990 
 Total Revenue        $127,990 
 
 Expenditures: 
 591.0-544.000-981.0100 Public Improvements   $127,990 
 Total Expenses       $127,990 
 

5J



0 0.03 0.06 0.09 0.120.015
Miles

Ü

Edgewood Road and Grant Street

5J

mcoatta
Polygon

mcoatta
Polygon

mcoatta
Callout
Project Location

mcoatta
Arrow



BID TABULATION Bids Due:  December 21, 2023 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

2024 EDGEWOOD ROAD PAVING PROJECT

CONTRACT #6-24(S)

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

EDGEWOOD RD. SEWER PAY ITEMS

1. 24" Combined Sewer, C76, CL-IV, Trench A 21 LF 250.00$         5,250.00$            553.00$         11,613.00$          300.00$         6,300.00$            

2. 21" Combined Sewer, C76, CL-IV, Trench A 521 LF 200.00$         104,200.00$         274.00$         142,754.00$         260.00$         135,460.00$         

3. 18" Combined Sewer, C76, CL-IV, Trench A 114 LF 170.00$         19,380.00$          164.00$         18,696.00$          250.00$         28,500.00$          

4. 15" Combined Sewer, C76, CL-IV, Trench A 239 LF 160.00$         38,240.00$          126.00$         30,114.00$          230.00$         54,970.00$          

5. 12" Combined Sewer, C76, CL-IV, Trench A 52 LF 155.00$         8,060.00$            110.00$         5,720.00$            220.00$         11,440.00$          

6. 10" Combined Sewer, PVC SDR 26, Trench A 134 LF 145.00$         19,430.00$          187.00$         25,058.00$          230.00$         30,820.00$          

7. 8" Combined Sewer, PVC SDR 26, Trench A 28 LF 135.00$         3,780.00$            160.00$         4,480.00$            190.00$         5,320.00$            

8. 15" Storm Sewer, C76, CL-IV, Trench A 195 LF 140.00$         27,300.00$          120.00$         23,400.00$          150.00$         29,250.00$          

9. 12" Storm Sewer, C76, CL-IV, Trench A 393 LF 125.00$         49,125.00$          116.00$         45,588.00$          130.00$         51,090.00$          

10. 10" Storm Sewer, PVC SDR 26, Trench A 10 LF 115.00$         1,150.00$            200.00$         2,000.00$            150.00$         1,500.00$            

11. Sewer Service, 8" PVC SDR 26 31 LF 100.00$         3,100.00$            104.00$         3,224.00$            200.00$         6,200.00$            

12. Sewer Service, 6" PVC SDR 23.5 635 LF 90.00$           57,150.00$          102.00$         64,770.00$          170.00$         107,950.00$         

13. New 5'-0" Diameter Combined Manhole w/ Drop 

Connection (Construct Online)

1 EA 7,500.00$      7,500.00$            8,445.00$      8,445.00$            12,500.00$     12,500.00$          

14. New 5'-0" Diameter Combined Manhole 4 EA 6,500.00$      26,000.00$          10,400.00$     41,600.00$          7,500.00$      30,000.00$          

15. New 4'-0" Diameter Combined Manhole 4 EA 4,200.00$      16,800.00$          5,520.00$      22,080.00$          6,500.00$      26,000.00$          

16. New 5'-0" Diameter Storm Catch Basin w/ 2' Sump 

& Trap

1 EA 5,200.00$      5,200.00$            7,500.00$      7,500.00$            7,000.00$      7,000.00$            

17. New 4'-0" Diameter Storm Catch Basin w/ 2' Sump 

& Trap

5 EA 3,500.00$      17,500.00$          4,700.00$      23,500.00$          5,500.00$      27,500.00$          

18. New 4'-0" Diameter Storm Catch Basin w/ 2' Sump 6 EA 3,300.00$      19,800.00$          4,400.00$      26,400.00$          5,000.00$      30,000.00$          

19. New 2'-0" Diameter Inlet 5 EA 2,600.00$      13,000.00$          2,080.00$      10,400.00$          3,500.00$      17,500.00$          

20. 6" Perforated Pipe Underdrain (No Sock) 3,022 LF 20.00$           60,440.00$          21.40$           64,670.80$          22.00$           66,484.00$          

21. Sewer Investigation, Laterals 6 EA 2,500.00$      15,000.00$          1,040.00$      6,240.00$            700.00$         4,200.00$            

22. Sewer Service Tap, 8" 2 EA 900.00$         1,800.00$            450.00$         900.00$               1,250.00$      2,500.00$            

23. Sewer Service Tap, 6" 21 EA 750.00$         15,750.00$          400.00$         8,400.00$            1,000.00$      21,000.00$          

24. Sewer Service Tap, 24" 1 EA 2,200.00$      2,200.00$            750.00$         750.00$               2,500.00$      2,500.00$            

25. Sewer Service Tap, 21" 1 EA 2,000.00$      2,000.00$            750.00$         750.00$               2,300.00$      2,300.00$            

26. Sewer Service Tap, 15" 1 EA 1,500.00$      1,500.00$            600.00$         600.00$               1,700.00$      1,700.00$            

27. Sewer Service Tap, 12" 2 EA 1,000.00$      2,000.00$            600.00$         1,200.00$            * 1,500.00$      3,000.00$            

28. Sewer Service Tap, 10" 1 EA 900.00$         900.00$               500.00$         500.00$               1,250.00$      1,250.00$            

29. Sewer Tap, 6", Underdrain 2 EA 750.00$         1,500.00$            200.00$         400.00$               500.00$         1,000.00$            

30. Reconstruct Manhole (if and where needed) 20 VF 300.00$         6,000.00$            450.00$         9,000.00$            150.00$         3,000.00$            

31. Remove & Replace Structure Cover (as directed by 

City)

1,650 LB 8.00$            13,200.00$          5.00$            8,250.00$            3.00$            4,950.00$            

Eminent Excavating LLC

514 S. Fort Street

Detroit, Michigan 48217

Gibralter Construction Co.

2650 Van Horn Rd.

Trenton, Michigan 48183

F.D.M Contracting, Inc.

49156 Van Dyke

Shelby Twp., Michigan 48317

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2024\6-24(S)_EDGEWOOD\03_Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_6-24S Page 15J



BID TABULATION Bids Due:  December 21, 2023 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

2024 EDGEWOOD ROAD PAVING PROJECT

CONTRACT #6-24(S)

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

Eminent Excavating LLC

514 S. Fort Street

Detroit, Michigan 48217

Gibralter Construction Co.

2650 Van Horn Rd.

Trenton, Michigan 48183

F.D.M Contracting, Inc.

49156 Van Dyke

Shelby Twp., Michigan 48317

32. Remove Ex. Sewer Manhole 4 EA 1,000.00$      4,000.00$            1,080.00$      4,320.00$            800.00$         3,200.00$            

33. Remove Ex. Drainage Structure 6 EA 600.00$         3,600.00$            1,000.00$      6,000.00$            * 800.00$         4,800.00$            

34. Remove Ex. 18" Combined Sewer 668 LF 40.00$           26,720.00$          41.00$           27,388.00$          15.00$           10,020.00$          

35. Remove Ex. 15" Combined Sewer 106 LF 40.00$           4,240.00$            41.00$           4,346.00$            15.00$           1,590.00$            

36. Remove Ex. 12" Combined Sewer 170 LF 40.00$           6,800.00$            41.00$           6,970.00$            15.00$           2,550.00$            

37. Remove Ex. 10" Combined Sewer 133 LF 40.00$           5,320.00$            41.00$           5,453.00$            15.00$           1,995.00$            

38. Remove Ex. 8" Combined Sewer 29 LF 40.00$           1,160.00$            41.00$           1,189.00$            15.00$           435.00$               

39. Remove Ex. 12" Storm Sewer 88 LF 40.00$           3,520.00$            41.00$           3,608.00$            35.00$           3,080.00$            

40. Remove Ex. 10" Storm Sewer 34 LF 40.00$           1,360.00$            41.00$           1,394.00$            35.00$           1,190.00$            

41. Bulkhead Pipe, Larger than 8" 3 EA 1,000.00$      3,000.00$            450.00$         1,350.00$            300.00$         900.00$               

42. CCTV Sewer Acceptance Inspection 1 LS 10,000.00$     10,000.00$          10,000.00$     10,000.00$          10,000.00$     10,000.00$          

SUBTOTAL - EDGEWOOD RD. SEWER PAY ITEMS 633,975.00$     691,020.80$     772,944.00$     

EDGEWOOD RD. WATER MAIN PAY ITEMS

43. 8" Gate Valve & Well 1 EA 6,500.00$      6,500.00$            9,870.00$      9,870.00$            8,500.00$      8,500.00$            

44. 8" D.I. CL 52 Water Main w/ Polywrap, Trench A 278 LF 210.00$         58,380.00$          304.00$         84,512.00$          250.00$         69,500.00$          

45. 8" Water Main Connection to Ex. 8" Water Main 2 EA 7,500.00$      15,000.00$          2,800.00$      5,600.00$            6,500.00$      13,000.00$          

46. New Water Service, 1", Trench A, Copper 184 LF 80.00$           14,720.00$          111.00$         20,424.00$          60.00$           11,040.00$          

47. Water Service Connection, 1" 9 EA 2,500.00$      22,500.00$          600.00$         5,400.00$            1,000.00$      9,000.00$            

48. Install Curb Stop & Box, 1" 9 EA 1,500.00$      13,500.00$          1,214.00$      10,926.00$          600.00$         5,400.00$            

49. Hydra-Stop, Insta-Valve 250, 8" 1 EA 9,000.00$      9,000.00$            9,000.00$      9,000.00$            1,000.00$      1,000.00$            

50. Hydra-Stop, Line-Stop, 8" 2 EA 5,000.00$      10,000.00$          6,000.00$      12,000.00$          100.00$         200.00$               

SUBTOTAL - EDGEWOOD RD. WATER MAIN PAY ITEMS 149,600.00$     157,732.00$     117,640.00$     

EDGEWOOD RD. PAVING PAY ITEMS

51. SEE ALTERNATES BELOW 

52. Subgrade Undercutting, 21AA Limestone 850 CY 65.00$           55,250.00$          89.00$           75,650.00$          35.00$           29,750.00$          

53. Subgrade Undercutting, 1"x3" Limestone 850 CY 65.00$           55,250.00$          89.00$           75,650.00$          25.00$           21,250.00$          

54. Subgrade Geogrid Fabric, Tensar Triax TX130S 2,600 SY 3.00$            7,800.00$            8.00$            20,800.00$          4.00$            10,400.00$          

55. Remove and Salvage Brick Pavers 300 SF 10.00$           3,000.00$            10.00$           3,000.00$            5.00$            1,500.00$            

56. Removing Concrete Drive Approach 249 SY 10.00$           2,490.00$            10.00$           2,490.00$            12.00$           2,988.00$            

57. Removing Concrete Sidewalk & Ramp (sawcutting 

included)

302 SY 15.00$           4,530.00$            11.00$           3,322.00$            10.00$           3,020.00$            

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2024\6-24(S)_EDGEWOOD\03_Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_6-24S Page 25J



BID TABULATION Bids Due:  December 21, 2023 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

2024 EDGEWOOD ROAD PAVING PROJECT

CONTRACT #6-24(S)

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

Eminent Excavating LLC

514 S. Fort Street

Detroit, Michigan 48217

Gibralter Construction Co.

2650 Van Horn Rd.

Trenton, Michigan 48183

F.D.M Contracting, Inc.

49156 Van Dyke

Shelby Twp., Michigan 48317

58. Removing Pavement Full Depth (Curb & Gutter 

included)

5,420 SY 18.00$           97,560.00$          6.85$            37,127.00$          12.00$           65,040.00$          

59. Aggregate Base, MDOT 21AA Limestone, 8" 5,592 SY 30.00$           167,760.00$         16.44$           91,932.48$          22.00$           123,024.00$         

60. Replace Lincoln Avenue Composite Pavement (Per 

Detail)

1 LS 40,000.00$     40,000.00$          24,000.00$     24,000.00$          20,000.00$     20,000.00$          

61. SEE ALTERNATES BELOW 

62. SEE ALTERNATES BELOW 

63. SEE ALTERNATES BELOW 

64. SEE ALTERNATES BELOW 

65. SEE ALTERNATES BELOW 

66. SEE ALTERNATES BELOW 

67. Concrete Drive Approach, 6", Incl. integral 6" Curb 21 SY 65.00$           1,365.00$            65.00$           1,365.00$            65.00$           1,365.00$            

68. Concrete Drive Approach, 6" 292 SY 60.00$           17,520.00$          70.00$           20,440.00$          65.00$           18,980.00$          

69. Concrete Sidewalk, 6" (Includes Ramps) 910 SF 8.00$            7,280.00$            11.00$           10,010.00$          9.00$            8,190.00$            

70. Concrete Sidewalk, 4" 1,825 SF 6.50$            11,862.50$          8.00$            14,600.00$          7.50$            13,687.50$          

71. Handicap Ramp Truncated Domes 110 SF 32.50$           3,575.00$            40.00$           4,400.00$            160.00$         17,600.00$          

72. Adjust Structure Cover 11 EA 600.00$         6,600.00$            750.00$         8,250.00$            1,000.00$      11,000.00$          

73. Maintenance Aggregate for Entire Project 1 LS 50,000.00$     50,000.00$          20,000.00$     20,000.00$          20,000.00$     20,000.00$          

SUBTOTAL - EDGEWOOD RD. PAVING PAY ITEMS 531,842.50$     413,036.48$     367,794.50$     *

EDGEWOOD RD. GENERAL PAY ITEMS

74. Mobilization (Max. 5% of Total Bid) 1 LS 100,000.00$   100,000.00$         80,000.00$     80,000.00$          90,000.00$     90,000.00$          

75. Pavement Marking, Polyurea, 24 inch Stop Bar, 

White

104 LF 15.00$           1,560.00$            20.00$           2,080.00$            15.00$           1,560.00$            

76. Pavement Marking, Polyurea, 24 inch 

Crosshatching, White

342 LF 15.00$           5,130.00$            20.00$           6,840.00$            15.00$           5,130.00$            

77. Recessing Pavt Mkrg, Transv 892 SF 5.00$            4,460.00$            10.00$           8,920.00$            7.00$            6,244.00$            

78. Remove Pavt Mkrg, Transv (Catalpa Intersection) 80 SF 10.00$           800.00$               6.00$            480.00$               7.00$            560.00$               

79. Water and Sewer Allowance 1 LS 50,000.00$     50,000.00$          50,000.00$     50,000.00$          50,000.00$     50,000.00$          

80. Salvage Existing Signs 1 LS 5,000.00$      5,000.00$            500.00$         500.00$               10,000.00$     1,000.00$            

81. New Signs 20 SF 30.00$           600.00$               25.00$           500.00$               40.00$           800.00$               

82. Sign Post, U-Channel 48 LF 20.00$           960.00$               15.00$           720.00$               18.00$           864.00$               

83. Tree Protection, 3" Dia. Or Greater 37 EA 25.00$           925.00$               250.00$         9,250.00$            125.00$         4,625.00$            

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2024\6-24(S)_EDGEWOOD\03_Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_6-24S Page 35J



BID TABULATION Bids Due:  December 21, 2023 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

2024 EDGEWOOD ROAD PAVING PROJECT

CONTRACT #6-24(S)

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

Eminent Excavating LLC

514 S. Fort Street

Detroit, Michigan 48217

Gibralter Construction Co.

2650 Van Horn Rd.

Trenton, Michigan 48183

F.D.M Contracting, Inc.

49156 Van Dyke

Shelby Twp., Michigan 48317

84. Restoration - St. James Park 1 LS 10,000.00$     10,000.00$          13,600.00$     13,600.00$          30,000.00$     30,000.00$          

85. Mulch, 3" 100 SY 20.00$           2,000.00$            5.00$            500.00$               * 20.00$           2,000.00$            

86. Topsoil, 3" 1,500 SY 5.00$            7,500.00$            10.00$           15,000.00$          10.00$           15,000.00$          

87. Sod, Class A 1,500 SY 7.00$            10,500.00$          6.00$            9,000.00$            10.00$           15,000.00$          

88. Inlet Filter 22 EA 150.00$         3,300.00$            200.00$         4,400.00$            150.00$         3,300.00$            

89. Inlet Sediment Pit 22 EA 150.00$         3,300.00$            250.00$         5,500.00$            1.00$            22.00$                 

90. SEE ALTERNATES BELOW 

91. SEE ALTERNATES BELOW 

SUBTOTAL - EDGEWOOD RD. GENERAL PAY ITEMS 106,035.00$     127,290.00$     136,105.00$     

PAVING ALTERNATIVE #1 - EDGEWOOD RD. PAVING PAY ITEMS (CONCRETE)

51. Earth Excavation 1,485 CY 50.00$           72,250.00$          35.00$           50,575.00$          37.00$           53,465.00$          

61. Concrete Pavement, Non-reinforced, 7", Incl. 

integral 6" curb

4,875 SY 63.00$           307,125.00$         65.00$           316,875.00$         63.00$           307,125.00$         

62. Bituminous Mixture No. 5EML (2.0" Wearing 

Course)

50 TON 270.00$         13,500.00$          252.00$         12,600.00$          300.00$         15,000.00$          

63. Bituminous Mixture No. 4EML (2.0" Leveling 

Course)

50 TON 270.00$         13,500.00$          204.00$         10,200.00$          300.00$         15,000.00$          

64. Concrete Curb & Gutter (18" Wide, "Birmingham 

Roll")

215 LF 33.00$           7,095.00$            50.00$           10,750.00$          40.00$           8,600.00$            

65. MDOT "M" Approach Gutter Detail, 18" Wd. Curb 

& Gutter

0 LF -$              -$                    60.00$           -$                    100.00$         -$                    

66. MDOT "M" Approach Gutter Detail (Formed in 

Conc. Pavt. w/ int. curb)

65 LF 35.00$           2,275.00$            60.00$           3,900.00$            40.00$           2,600.00$            

ALTERNATIVE #1 - GENERAL PAY ITEMS -$                    

90. Traffic Maintenance & Control 1 LS 30,000.00$     30,000.00$          30,000.00$     30,000.00$          30,000.00$          

91. Inspector Crew Days $650.00 /DAY 40 26,000.00$          90 58,500.00$          90 58,500.00$          

SUBTOTAL - PAVING ALTERNATIVE #1 - PAY ITEMS 571,745.00$     573,400.00$     580,290.00$     

PAVING ALTERNATIVE #2 - EDGEWOOD RD. PAVING PAY ITEMS (ASHPALT)

51. Earth Excavation 1,045 CY 50.00$           52,250.00$          35.00$           36,575.00$          37.00$           38,665.00$          

61. Concrete Pavement, Non-reinforced, 7", Incl. 

integral 6" curb

310 SY 94.00$           29,140.00$          75.00$           23,250.00$          75.00$           23,250.00$          

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2024\6-24(S)_EDGEWOOD\03_Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_6-24S Page 45J



BID TABULATION Bids Due:  December 21, 2023 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

2024 EDGEWOOD ROAD PAVING PROJECT

CONTRACT #6-24(S)

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

Eminent Excavating LLC

514 S. Fort Street

Detroit, Michigan 48217

Gibralter Construction Co.

2650 Van Horn Rd.

Trenton, Michigan 48183

F.D.M Contracting, Inc.

49156 Van Dyke

Shelby Twp., Michigan 48317

62. Bituminous Mixture No. 5EML (2.0" Wearing 

Course)

503 TON 140.00$         70,420.00$          176.00$         88,528.00$          160.00$         80,480.00$          

63. Bituminous Mixture No. 4EML (2.0" Leveling 

Course)

503 TON 131.00$         65,893.00$          150.00$         75,450.00$          150.00$         75,450.00$          

64. Concrete Curb & Gutter (18" Wide, "Birmingham 

Roll")

3,002 LF 20.00$           60,040.00$          45.00$           135,090.00$         35.00$           105,070.00$         

65. MDOT "M" Approach Gutter Detail, 18" Wd. Curb 

& Gutter

65 LF 35.00$           2,275.00$            45.00$           2,925.00$            50.00$           3,250.00$            

66. MDOT "M" Approach Gutter Detail (Formed in 

Conc. Pavt. w/ int. curb)

0 LF - - 50.00$           -$                    100.00$         -$                    

ALTERNATIVE #2 - GENERAL PAY ITEMS

74. Mobilization (Max. 5% of Total Bid) 1 LS 90,000.00$     90,000.00$          90,000.00$     90,000.00$          

90. Traffic Maintenance & Control 1 LS 30,000.00$     30,000.00$          22,000.00$     22,000.00$          30,000.00$     30,000.00$          

91. Inspector Crew Days $650.00 /DAY 40 26,000.00$          90 58,500.00$          90 58,500.00$          

SUBTOTAL - PAVING ALTERNATIVE #2 - PAY ITEMS 426,018.00$     522,318.00$     504,665.00$     *

GRANT STREET WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT PAY ITEMS

92. Erosion Control, Inlet Protection Fabric Drop 8 EA 150.00$         1,200.00$            200.00$         1,600.00$            150.00$         1,200.00$            

93. Curb and Gutter, Remove 6 LF 100.00$         600.00$               50.00$           300.00$               30.00$           180.00$               

94. Cold Milling HMA 1.5" 1,571 SY 5.00$            7,855.00$            7.00$            10,997.00$          10.00$           15,710.00$          

95. HMA Surface Removal 345 SY 9.00$            3,105.00$            19.00$           6,555.00$            10.00$           3,450.00$            

96. Subgrade Undercut & Backfill 35 CY 65.00$           2,275.00$            90.00$           3,150.00$            50.00$           1,750.00$            

97. Agg Base, 21AA LS, 8 inch 345 SY 45.00$           15,525.00$          26.00$           8,970.00$            25.00$           8,625.00$            

98. Curb and Gutter, Concrete 6 LF 40.00$           240.00$               100.00$         600.00$               110.00$         660.00$               

99. HMA 4EML 68 TON 278.00$         18,904.00$          163.00$         11,084.00$          300.00$         20,400.00$          

100. HMA 5EML 200 TON 190.00$         38,000.00$          191.00$         38,200.00$          210.00$         42,000.00$          

101. Water Main, 8 inch DI CL 54 w/ Polywrap, Tr A 428 LF 210.00$         89,880.00$          238.00$         101,864.00$         275.00$         117,700.00$         

102. Gate Valve & Well, 8 inch 2 EA 6,000.00$      12,000.00$          10,000.00$     20,000.00$          8,500.00$      17,000.00$          

103. Water Main Connection, 8 inch to ex 8 inch 4 EA 7,000.00$      28,000.00$          7,000.00$      28,000.00$          8,000.00$      32,000.00$          

104. Temp Hydra-Stop, 8 inch 2 EA 5,000.00$      10,000.00$          6,000.00$      12,000.00$          100.00$         200.00$               

105. Water Main, Abandon 414 LF 10.00$           4,140.00$            30.00$           12,420.00$          12.00$           4,968.00$            

106. Turf Establishment 10 SY 50.00$           500.00$               60.00$           600.00$               50.00$           500.00$               

EDGEWOOD ROAD TOTAL BID W/PAVING ALTERNATE #1 (CONCRETE): 1,993,197.50$  1,962,479.28$  1,974,773.50$  

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2024\6-24(S)_EDGEWOOD\03_Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_6-24S Page 55J



BID TABULATION Bids Due:  December 21, 2023 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

2024 EDGEWOOD ROAD PAVING PROJECT

CONTRACT #6-24(S)

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

Eminent Excavating LLC

514 S. Fort Street

Detroit, Michigan 48217

Gibralter Construction Co.

2650 Van Horn Rd.

Trenton, Michigan 48183

F.D.M Contracting, Inc.

49156 Van Dyke

Shelby Twp., Michigan 48317

EDGEWOOD ROAD TOTAL BID W/PAVING ALTERNATE #2 (ASHPALT): 1,847,470.50$  1,911,397.28$  1,899,148.50$  *

GRANT STREET WATER MAIN TOTAL BID: 232,224.00$     256,340.00$     266,343.00$     

OVERAL CONTRACT TOTAL BID W/PAVING ALTERNATE #1 (CONCRETE): 2,225,421.50$  2,218,819.28$  2,241,116.50$  

OVERAL CONTRACT TOTAL BID W/ PAVING ALTERNATE #2 (ASHPALT): 2,079,694.50$  2,167,737.28$  2,165,491.50$  *

Other Bids Received:

Diponio Contracting

Bid Alternate #1 2,064,514.10$      

Bid Alternate #2 1,986,658.10$      

V.I.L. Construction, Inc.

Bid Alternate #1 2,558,179.35$      

Bid Alternate #2 2,470,557.65$      

Angelo Iafrate Construction Co.

Bid Alternate #1 2,558,861.00$      

Bid Alternate #2 2,440,387.00$      

Corrected By Engineer*

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2024\6-24(S)_EDGEWOOD\03_Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_6-24S Page 65J



 

 

 

 NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS  

46777 WOODWARD 

AVENUE 

PONTIAC, MI 48342-5032 

WWW.NOWAKFRAUS.COM VOICE: 248.332.7931  

FAX: 248.332.8257  

 

 

 

 

 

Civil engineers 

 

Land surveyors 

 

Land planners 

 

 

January 25, 2024  

 

 

City of Birmingham 

151 Martin Street 

Birmingham, MI 48012 

 

 

Attn:  Ms. Melissa A. Coatta, P.E. 

 City Engineer  

 

Re: Recommendation for Bid Award 

Edgewood Road Paving Project - Contract #6-24S 

 NFE Job #M516 

  

 

 

Dear Ms. Coatta, 

 

Bids for the subject project were received, opened, and read on Thursday, December 21st, 2023, at 2:00 

p.m. at City Hall. A total of six (6) bids were received and read. The bids have been tabulated, checked, 

and are in order. There were two paving alternates that were included in the bid, and each resulted in a 

different low bidder: Alternate #1 includes primarily concrete pavement, and Alternate #2 includes 

primarily asphalt pavement.  For Alternate #1 (“concrete”), Gibraltar Construction Company (Gibraltar) 

was the low bidder with a total bid for the overall contract of $2,218,819.28, and the 2nd low bidder was 

Eminent Excavating LLC (Eminent) with a total bid of $2,225,421.50. For Alternate #2 (“asphalt”), 

Eminent was the low bidder with a total bid of $2,079,694.50, and the 2nd low bidder was FDM 

Contracting Inc. (FDM) with a total bid of $2,165,491.50.  

 

Since Gibraltar Construction Company was a competitive bidder and has not previously completed work 

for the city, Nowak and Fraus Engineers (NFE) conducted a thorough review of their references to obtain 

background information on this company. Upon discussions with the various references listed in their 

bidding documents, the feedback that was received by NFE generally ranged from fair to poor. 

References stated that their experience with Gibraltar included poor communication & response, 

requests for numerous and substantial cost extras, and issues with meeting schedule deadlines.  

 

NFE also reviewed references as a background check for Eminent, and found that the feedback was 

generally good to excellent. Furthermore, Eminent was a subcontractor for the 2020 Maple Road 

Reconstruction project that successfully completed a large amount of new sidewalk for this downtown 

project. Based on references, we do not have any concerns about their capability to perform the work.    

 

5J



  

 

 NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS  

46777 WOODWARD 

AVENUE 

PONTIAC, MI 48342-5032 

WWW.NOWAKFRAUS.COM VOICE: 248.332.7931  

FAX: 248.332.8257  

 

We understand that the City is planning to select the Alternate #1 (“concrete”) option for this contract. 

Due to the relatively close total bid values between the two low bidders (less that $7,000), and the 

aforementioned concerns with low bidder, we therefore recommend that Contract #6-24S for the 

Edgewood Road Paving Project be awarded to Eminent Excavating, LLC in the amount of $2,225,421.50. 

 

Please do not hesitate to contact our office if you have any questions or comments.  

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

 

Paul Tulikangas, P.E.        Brett Buchholz, P.E., 

Associate / Engineering Manager      Principal   

           

 

 

5J



 

 

 

 

 

 

5J



 

 

 

 

 

 

5J



 

 

 

 

 

 

5J



 

 

 

 

5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



5J



MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department 

DATE: February 26, 2024  

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager

FROM: Melissa A. Coatta, City Engineer

SUBJECT: North Adams Road Traffic Study

INTRODUCTION: 
The north end of Adams Road, from Madison Street to the northern City limits, is planned to be 
paved this summer/fall and budgeted for in fiscal year 24/25.  The Engineering Department had 
a traffic study completed and recommends reducing the existing 4 road lanes to 3 road lanes.    

BACKGROUND: 
North Adams Road from Madison Street to the northern City limits, just north of Adams Road 
Bridge, has been in the capital improvement plan since the City’s budget in 2019/2020. The 
project goal is to repave the road with minor water and sewer improvements in the summer/fall 
of 2024.  

The Engineering Department had a traffic study completed on this corridor of Adams Road due 
to the existing 3 lanes south of Madison Street, which recommends a road diet from 4 lanes to 3 
lanes.  A road diet is a reduction in through traffic lanes. The most common type of road diet is 
converting existing 4 lanes, two lanes in each direction, to 3 lanes, one lane in each direction with 
a center turn lane.  The City previously completed a road diet on Maple Road from the western 
City limits to Southfield Road. The preliminary goal of a road diet is improving safety and reducing 
traffic crashes which are typically rear-end.  

The Engineering firm Fleis & Vandenbrink completed the field data in March 2023 and provided 
a preliminary traffic study to the Multi-Modal Transportation Board in May 2023.  The final traffic 
study was completed in June 2023 and recommends reducing the existing 4 lanes to 3 lanes.   

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the suggested resolution and has no objections. 

8A



 

 

 

 

 

2 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
Design engineering for this project is in the 23/24 fiscal year and the construction of the project 
is proposed for fiscal year 24/25.   
 
SUSTAINABILITY: 
The road diet study shows safety improvement and reduced crashes along the North Adams 
Roads corridor.   
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
This item was presented in a public setting at the Multi-Modal Transportation Board in May 2023. 
Future communication with property owners in and near the project will occur before the project 
is started, and updates will be provided during construction.   
 
SUMMARY: 
The Engineering Department recommends North Adams Road from Madison Street to the 
northern City limits be reduced from existing 4 lanes to 3 lanes. Once a recommendation is made 
by the City Commission for road design, the Engineering Department will proceed with the final 
design.    
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

• Adams Road Traffic Study  
• 5/4/2023 Multi-Modal Transportation Board Meeting Minutes  

• PowerPoint Presentation  
 

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to direct the Engineering Department to proceed with the 
final design of the North Adams Road Project from Madison Street to the northern City limits to 
reduce the existing 4 lanes to 3 lanes.   
 

8A



City Of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
Thursday, May 4, 2023 

151 Martin Street, City Commission Room 205, Birmingham, MI 

Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board held 
Thursday, May 4, 2023. Chair White convened the meeting at 6:00 p.m.  

A. Rollcall 
Present: Chair Doug White, Vice-Chair Tom Peard; Board Members David Hocker, Anthony  

Long, Victoria Policicchio; Student Representatives Sophie Hanawalt, Angie 
Sharma 

 
Absent: Board Member Mark Doolittle, Joe Zane; Alternate Board Members Gordon  

Davies, Patrick Hillberg 
 
Staff:   Senior Planner Cowan; City Engineer Coatta, City Transcriptionist Eichenhorn,  

Police Captain Kearney 
 
F&V:  Julie Kroll 
 
MKSK: Brad Strader 
 
B. Introductions & Chair Comments  
 
VC Peard provided introductory comments.  
 
C. Review of the Agenda 
D. Approval of MMTB Minutes of March 2, 2023 
 
Motion by VC Peard  
Seconded by Mr. Long to approve the MMTB Minutes of March 2, 2023 as amended.  
 
Motion carried, 5-0.  
 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas:  Policicchio, Hocker, Peard, White, Long 
Nays:  None  
 
E. Unfinished Business 

1. S. Eton Road Design Concepts, 14 Mile to Yosemite 
 
Staff, Mr. Strader, and Ms. Kroll presented the item and answered informational questions from 
the Board. 
 
Board discussion was as follows: 

● There was an increased opportunity to improve the safety of S. Eton since the road was 

8A



being reconstructed; 
● There should be a bidirectional bike lane on one side of the street, and all of the on-street 

parking should be preserved; 
● Option C3 could be modified to have 20 feet for parking and a 2.5 foot buffer zone on 

each side; 
● It might be possible to reduce the parking while improving the sight distance; 
● It did not seem possible to entirely preserve the parking given that drivers and pedestrians 

reported the sight distances were unsafe and the area does not meet the City’s sight 
distance standards;  

● The elimination of the two feet off the amenity zone on the west side maybe be prohibitive 
for people trying to park; 

● It might be appropriate to modify Option C1 for south of Lincoln to preserve but reduce 
the parking and also to preserve but reduce the amenity zone in order to increase green 
space; and, 

● Staff’s and Consultants’ work was appreciated by the Board. 
 
In reply to Board discussion, Staff and Consultants said: 

● A 2.5 foot buffer zone could be explored, but might cause issues with vehicle door 
openings entering the bike lane; 

● The Police Department was not in favor of maintaining the bidirectional bike lane because 
it is an unexpected design and creates difficult to manage conditions at the intersection 
with Yosemite; 

● It might be possible to reduce the curb on the west side of the street and to reduce, but 
not eliminate, parking in order to improve sight distances; 

● While it might be possible to do ‘Small Car Only’ parking in certain spots to improve sight 
distances, drivers tend to disregard those signs; 

● Staff and Consultants would return with a design with bump outs and pedestrian island 
crossings for north of Lincoln; and, 

● Board consensus seemed to be to leave the green space at the intersection of Lincoln and 
S. Eton instead of potentially using it for parking/ 

 
Public Comment 
 
Carol Tardie recommended a four-way stop at Bradford and S. Eton and a sign at 14 Mile and S. 
Eton that prohibits through traffic between 4 p.m. and 6 p.m.  
 
Larry Bertollini supported no additional parking at Lincoln and S. Eton, the potential removal of 
the amenity zones, and a potential bidirectional bike lane. He asked if there were catch basins on 
S. Eton south of Lincoln. 
 
Denise Rumzey supported signage for the public parking in front of Bolyard Lumber and no 
additional parking at Lincoln and S. Eton. She did not support widening the south part of S. Eton 
from Lincoln to 14 Mile.  
 
Claudia Unruh reviewed her email to the Board. She added that safety should be the City’s priority, 
that the removal of parking would be an evidence-based change for improving safety significantly, 
and that she would be interested in learning more about evidence-based traffic calming measures. 
She asked whether a study had been conducted to prove that on street parking on S. Eton had 

8A



to be maintained. 
 
Mr. Long thanked the public for their participation. He said there was a need for parking on S. 
Eton, especially closer to Maple. He ventured that removing parking from S. Eton would result in 
more parking on the adjacent streets.  
 
The Chair also thanked the public for their participation. 
 

2. Adams Road – Road Diet DRAFT Review 
 
SP Cowan introduced the item. Ms. Kroll presented the item and answered informational questions 
from the Board.  
 
Mr. Hocker noted that while emergency vehicles could use the middle lane generally, Adams has 
a break in the middle lane at Lake Park which would prevent emergency vehicles from being able 
to continue down the middle lane without stopping. 
 
In reply to Mr. Hocker, Ms. Kroll noted that vehicles should be allowing emergency vehicles to 
pass. She said she would solicit feedback from the Fire Department on road diets.1 
 
VC Peard and Mr. Long said that while they had been skeptical about the Maple road diet, it 
ended up being a very beneficial change.  
 
Mr. Hocker said the Maple road diet increased the volume of traffic on nearby streets.  
 
Ms. Hanawalt said the Adams road diet might increase traffic and speedi in the Poppleton Park 
neighborhood. She recommended speaking to the residents of the neighborhood. 
 
F. New Business 
G. Meeting Open to the Public for items not on the Agenda 
H. Miscellaneous Communications 

1. Multi-Modal Transportation Day 2023 Planning 
 
SP Cowan presented the item. 
 
Motion by Ms. Policicchio 
Seconded by VC Peard to schedule a special meeting of the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board for May 25, 2023 at 12 p.m.   
 
Motion carried, 5-0.  
 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas:  Policicchio, Hocker, Peard, White, Long 
Nays:  None 
 
I. Next Meeting 

1 As amended at the June 1, 2023 meeting. 

8A



J. Adjournment  
 
No further business being evident, the Board adjourned at 8:03 p.m.  
 
 
 

 

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner Director  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 

8A



North Adams Road Traffic 
Study

Engineering 
Department
Date:  March 4, 2024

Madison Ave. to Northern City Limits 

8A



North Adams Road Traffic Study

Introduction
• North Adams Road Resurfacing: Madison Ave. to Northern City Limits 

• Road Resurfacing
• Minor sewer improvements
• Minor water main improvements 

• Schedule
• Design Engineering in 23/24 fiscal year budget
• Construction in 24/25 fiscal year budget
• Construction: Summer/Fall 2024 

8A



North Adams Road Traffic Study

Background
• Capital Improvement Program 

• First time included was in fiscal year 19/20 for road resurfacing 

• Current Road Conditions: 
• Four lanes of traffic:

• Two Northbound Lanes 
• Two Southbound Lanes 

• South of this section of Adams road is three lanes:
• One Northbound Lane
• One Southbound Lane
• One Center Turn Lane 

8A



North Adams Road Traffic Study

8A



North Adams Road Traffic Study

8A



North Adams Road Traffic Study

Traffic Study
• Fleis & Vandenbrick
• Data Collected in March 2023 
• Presented to Multi-Modal Transportation Board in May 2023 
• Final Study Completed in June 2023 

8A



North Adams Road Traffic Study

Traffic Study
• Results recommends a road diet reducing roadway to three lanes

• Most common road diet is four lanes to three lanes
• Improves safety
• Reduces crashes along Adams Road by 13%-14%

8A



North Adams Road Traffic Study

Traffic Study
• Previous Locations of Road Diet:

• Adams Road – 2003: North of Woodward to north of Maple Road
• 4 Lanes to 3 Lanes

• Maple Road – 2016: East of Cranbrook Road to Southfield Road
• 4 Lanes to 3 Lanes

• Cranbrook Road – 2020: Lincoln Road to south of Maple Road 
• 4 Lanes to 3 Lanes 

8A



North Adams Road Traffic Study

Summary
• Recommend Engineering Department to complete final design of North 

Adams Road from Madison Street to the northern City limits to include 
reducing the existing four lanes to 3 lanes as recommended in the 
Traffic Study

8A



.

MEMORANDUM 
City Manager’s Office 

DATE: February 21, 2024 

TO: City Commission 

 FROM: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

SUBJECT: Establishment of an Ad Hoc Senior/Recreation Center Committee  

INTRODUCTION: 
The City of Birmingham, like the rest of the country, is watching its population age.  By 2040, 
approximately one in five Americans will be age 65 or older, up from approximately one in eight 
in 2000.  Research is needed to determine the specific demographic trends occurring and forecast 
to occur within the City, and to determine the type of services needed to support these 
demographic changes. 

BACKGROUND: 
The City Commission adopted strategic goals in November of 2022, which included supporting 
an engaged and connected community by offering City services and amenities that enrich the 
lives of residents of all ages as a main goal.   This strategic goal includes a recommendation to 
“create a task force to facilitate an aging in place plan, develop a plan for a permanent 
senior/community center to house NEXT senior services and to offer space for multigenerational 
programs, engage with youth in the community with a teen board or committee”. 

Based on the goals identified in the Strategic Plan, the City Commission purchased the current 
YMCA building and property at 400 E. Lincoln in July 2023.   The property was proposed for future 
use as a senior/recreation center, including the future home of Birmingham NEXT, other 
recreational services to be provided by the YMCA or others, the possible relocation of the 
Birmingham Parks and Recreation Division, community meeting space and/or similar uses. 

City staff now recommends creating a new ad hoc committee with a distinct name and a specific 
scope of work to oversee the development of a senior/recreation center.  The function of the Ad 
Hoc Senior/Recreation Center Committee (SCC) would be to provide oversight and input on the 
planning and development of a senior/recreation center at 400 E. Lincoln, and to provide 
recommendations throughout the process to the City Commission.   

8B



 
The scope of work of the SCC could include the following: 
 

 Crafting the project vision, goals and objectives  
 Preparing the project process outline and estimated timeline  
 Reviewing final needs analysis report  
 Evaluating concept plan options and recommending the preferred option 
 Outlining the parameters and applicable regulations for site plan and design review 
 Conducting final site plan and design review 
 Reviewing potential funding options 
 Recommending the use of consultants for design and/or build services 
 Drafting RFPs for final design, construction plan preparation and/or construction 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has reviewed the resolution and has no concerns or objections. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There are no fiscal impacts associated with this agenda item at this time. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
There are no public communications required for this agenda item. 

 
SUMMARY: 
The City Commission may wish to adopt a resolution to establish the Ad Hoc Senior/Recreation 
Center Committee, to be composed of seven members representing the City Commission, 
Planning Board, Parks and Recreation Board, Architectural Review Committee, Ad Hoc Aging in 
Place Committee, Birmingham NEXT, and the Birmingham YMCA.   

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

 Exhibit A – Ad Hoc Senior/Recreation Center Committee 
 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to establish the Ad Hoc Senior/Recreation Center Committee 
for a term of 3 years, and to direct the City Manager to serve as an ex-officio member of the 
committee to facilitate the oversight and provision of input on the planning and development of a 
senior/recreation center at 400 E. Lincoln. 
 
 

  

8B



EXHIBIT A – AD HOC SENIOR/RECREATION CENTER COMMITTEE ROSTER 

AD HOC SENIOR/RECREATION CENTER COMMITTEE 
Terms: 3 years 

 
Members: Seven members representing the City Commission, various City boards, 
Birmingham NEXT, and the Birmingham YMCA.  A majority of the members shall be residents 
of Birmingham and qualified voters. Staff from the Managers Office will serve as ex-officio 
member(s) of the committee. 

 
Duties: The function of the Ad Hoc Senior/Recreation Center Committee (SCC) is to provide 
oversight and input on the planning and development of a senior/recreation center at 400 E. 
Lincoln, and to provide recommendations throughout the process to the City Commission.  The 
duties of the SCC include, but are not limited to: 

 Crafting the project vision, goals and objectives  
 Preparing the project process outline and estimated timeline  
 Reviewing final needs analysis report  
 Evaluating concept plan options and recommending the preferred option 
 Outlining the parameters and applicable regulations for site plan and design review 
 Conducting final site plan and design review 
 Reviewing potential funding options 
 Recommending the use of consultants for design and/or build services 
 Drafting RFPs for final design, construction plan preparation and/or construction 

 
Committee Members Term Expires 

City Commissioner March 2027 

Planning Board Member March 2027 

Parks and Recreation Board Member March 2027 

Architectural Review Committee Member March 2027 

Ad Hoc Aging in Place Committee Member March 2027 

NEXT Representative March 2027 

YMCA Representative March 2027 
 

8B



Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Fwd: Senior/Community Center Feasibility Study Process
1 message

Jana Ecker <Jecker@bhamgov.org> Thu, Feb 29, 2024 at 12:05 PM
To: Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Jana L. Ecker
City Manager
Birmingham, MI
(248) 530-1811

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: <bkoseck@comcast.net>
Date: Wed, Feb 28, 2024 at 12:29 PM
Subject: Senior/Community Center Feasibility Study Process
To: <emclain@bhamgov.org>, <kschafer@bhamgov.org>, <cballer@bhamgov.org>, <ahaig@bhamgov.org>,
<bhost@bhamgov.org>, <along@bhamgov.org>, <vtlonge@bhamgov.org>
Cc: <jecker@bhamgov.org>, <cbraun@birminghamk12.mi.us>

CITY COMMISSIONERS – BIRMINGHAM, MICHIGAN

REGARDING: SENIOR CENTER FEASIBILITY STUDY

February 26, 2024

 

My name is Bert Koseck. I am a resident of the City of Birmingham (36-years), a licensed architect (37-years), a former member of the Board of
Zoning Appeals (18-years), and current member of the Planning Board (9-years). My letter here is from the perspective of a resident/taxpayer who
deeply cares about my community and my expertise as an architect.

 

I am retired from an architectural firm where I had extensive experience in the programming and design of community and recreation centers.
Projects varied in size and scope from small renovations to the design of one of the largest community/recreation centers in our state (examples
include the Livonia Community/Recreation Center, Macomb Community Center, Van Buren Township Community Center, Greater Midland
Community Center, Ann Arbor YMCA, Wayne County Community College Recreation Center…These alone add up to over 800,000 SF in area and
$360M in cost).

 

My experience allows me to understand the importance of the process in the development of a community building. With the onset of the making of
a new home for NEXT, the process should not be viewed simply as “just the first step” but instead, “the most important step.” This initial feasibility
study will determine the destiny of this community center and for better or worse, our city will live with and pay for the result for many decades to
come. The work product from this phase should provide the city with information that will help the city in making “informed decisions.” To maximize
our success, it should be led by people that have vast expertise in the programming and design of community centers, have done research and have
knowledge of future trends, provide data and metrics for honest evaluation, and create a functional design response.

 

A WELL-DESIGNED SENIOR/COMMUNITY CENTER

 

I have witnessed this…..A well programmed and designed community center will draw people to the building, create human connections, and
provide a sense of joy and belonging. All things that our new Birmingham Master Plan promotes to improve social connections and make for

8B

mailto:bkoseck@comcast.net
mailto:emclain@bhamgov.org
mailto:kschafer@bhamgov.org
mailto:cballer@bhamgov.org
mailto:ahaig@bhamgov.org
mailto:bhost@bhamgov.org
mailto:along@bhamgov.org
mailto:vtlonge@bhamgov.org
mailto:jecker@bhamgov.org
mailto:cbraun@birminghamk12.mi.us


desirable place to live. For us, as a bonus, we have the opportunity to have a community center that will revitalize or replace a highly visible aging
building, is centrally located, easily accessible, and adjacent to a public park.

A POORLY DESIGNED SENIOR/COMMUNITY CENTER

Unfortunately, I have also witnessed this…..If not done right, a poor design could simply just provide for the “container” of the program spaces and
be expensive to maintain and operate. Rooms may be too small, too large, or irregularly shaped to properly function. Spaces may not have the
flexibility for multi-use or to accommodate future trends. There may be an abundance of expensive non-program type spaces (corridors, stairs,
ramps). If the scientifically determined space program were to call for a 20,000 SF only utilizing 50% of the existing YMCA building, “inventing”
additional programs to fill the building will come at a substantial initial cost and the future expenses to maintain and operate. An example might be
the Parks and Recreation offices – What would dictate that they would be relocated to the YMCA building? Has their staff size substantially grown,
does their current location not function, has their current space been analyzed to see if it could be reconfigured and improved, does it need to be in
the new community center building? Maybe it should be for all good reasons, but not just to “fill space.”

CRITICISM OF THE PROCESS

I know that there are many things that have influenced the project to date. Please accept my thoughts below as being positive, with the intent of
helping the positive outcome of the project. My perspective on this comes from many years of experience in reading and responding to hundreds of
RFP’s issued by government entities, including community centers. In my opinion, the process to date has had a number of issues or missed
opportunities. The RFP was vaguely written, the proposal review team did not include the appropriate expertise in evaluating proposals for this type
of project, the evaluation team shortlist process and metrics were not clearly articulated, the two finalist written proposals were difficult to clearly
understand the experience of the firms and team members’ involvement in relevant projects, and the City Commission interview format and allocated
time frame made it impossible to clearly understand each of the teams project approach and the expertise of the individuals.

WHERE SHOULD BE GO FROM HERE?

At this point, the City Commission has selected an architect consultant. I would hope that the architect consultant firm team members consist of
people passionate about the project, have vast expertise with community centers, include someone that is skilled at leading the programming and
public engagement discussion, have a talented designer who can arrive at a functional and beautiful design response, understand land planning
principals including our city and the unique context of the site, and can quantify this information so that we are making smart decisions.  How might
we as a city move forward for this phase of the project to maximize its success for Birmingham? I offer the following:

A. OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE

Who among the city staff has the complete skillset to guiding us through this process? Who has the expertise in helping us in the selection of the
most appropriate architects, engineers, and contractors for this unique project type as well as the financial aspects of the project? The federal
government and other entities such public universities and health care systems have full-time staff that provide these tasks every day. For a small
municipality like Birmingham, the selection of an architect for a specific building type as a community center happens rarely. Engaging an owner’s
representative, with specific expertise with community centers would bring great value to us. Their proven experience could help us understand what
neighboring communities have or are doing, guide us in establishing the criteria for selection of consultants and contractors, managing the overall
process, and understanding all relevant financial aspects of the project. Their fees are typically offset by the value they bring during the pre-
construction and construction phases through owner occupancy of the building.

B. STAKEHOLDER COMMITTEE

Create a Stakeholder Committee (or whatever name we want to apply to this) consisting of a number of people representing the City of Birmingham
residents and NEXT members that bring an understanding of the project and some unique relevant expertise. We are blessed with having some
amazing people with various backgrounds in our community. Let us tap into that expertise. Possible Stakeholder Committee members could include:

City Commissioners (2) 8B



Are residents/taxpayers, elected by the people, will have an intimate understanding of the project, and provide seamless communication
from the committee to commissioners.

NEXT Board Members (2)

Are residents/taxpayers, understand the mission and needs of NEXT.

Planning Board Member (1)

Is a resident/taxpayer, understands planning and zoning expectations.

Architect (1)

Is a resident/taxpayer, ideally would have an understanding of municipal and community center type projects.

Engineer (1)

Is a resident/taxpayer, ideally would have an understanding of civil and/or mechanical engineering.

Construction Contractor (1)

Is a resident/taxpayer, should be experienced with commercial/institutional type projects.

 

In addition to the Stakeholder Committee members, of course the City Manager and NEXT Director, and possibly the Parks and Recreation Director,
should be participants in all related interactions throughout the project.

 

C.     PROJECT VISION/GOALS AND WORKPLAN

The City Commission and/or Stakeholder Committee should establish the “guiding principles” for the project including goals and metrics for
evaluation. The architect consultant should include this as a driving force for the process and work plan.

 

D.     TOURS

The Stakeholder Committee should tour, along with the architect consultant, other senior/community facilities to learn what others have done, what
works, and what does not work (lessons learned). This is a very affective way for people to become familiar with the building type and reference
throughout the process.

 

E.      SURVEY

Is this necessary and how would it bring value? If yes, then what level of survey is expected (simple Survey Monkey or engaging an expert in
conducting a scientific survey)? The results and costs can vary significantly. How will this inform the space program or design? May be a good idea
to show community support (or maybe not).

 

F.      PROGRAMMING

The space and functional program should be developed on what the unique desired needs are of the community (not how to use/fill an existing
building).

 

G.     EXISTING CITY-OWNED YMCA

The existing YMCA building should be understood in layout, conditions, deficiencies, code issues, function, hazardous environmental materials, etc.,
and quantified.

 

H.     CONCEPTUAL DESIGN

8B



The desired program should then explore how it can be accommodated within the existing building and what modifications and improvements are
required. As an alternative, a new building option should be conceptually designed, also incorporating the desired program (maybe the new building
is constructed in the parking lot adjacent to the existing YMCA building, completed, occupied, and then the existing building demolished).  

 

I.        DESIGN EVALUATION

Both the existing building renovation and new building options should be compared based on how they function and meet project needs (note that a
poorly functioning building may be fragmented, not make for a good social environment, and require more staffing to manage adding significantly to
cost over the years). The level of design should be very simple and conceptual in nature. No expression of architecture or renderings are required for
this evaluation phase of the project. The project cost, function, and schedule will probably influence the final selection, not pretty pictures.

 

J.      COST EVALUATION

Both the existing building renovation and new building options should be compared based on cost. Cost estimates must include ALL related costs
such as:

 

Architectural and Engineering Fees
Site Improvements
Selective Demolition
Environmental Abatement
Construction Cost
Surveys, Testing, Permit and Inspection Fees
Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment, Security and Technology Systems
Moving Expenses
Commissioning Costs
LEED Associated Costs (if desired)
Operation Costs including Staffing, Utilities, and Maintenance (typically represent 1/3 of total project cost!)
Cost Estimate Contingencies (many unknowns at this early stage, especially with an existing building, should be 10% to 15%)
Cost Escalation (5% needs to be added to total cost each year from when construction start is anticipated for anticipated inflation)

Total cost estimates should be calculated for all options under consideration as follows:

At the completion of construction and owner occupancy
At a period 10-years after completion of construction and owner occupancy

Note that it is possible that one option may have a lower “first cost” but in comparison could be significantly higher at a 10-year mark. How might that
influence our decision on the most appropriate solution for us? Again, we need to make informed decisions.

 

 

K. PROJECT SCHEDULE

 

If a Stakeholder Committee could be put in place over the next few weeks, I believe the Programming and Conceptual Design Phases for the project
could be accomplished in 8-12 weeks. Circumventing this process could adversely impact the outcome of the project for decades. Why the rush?

 

CONCLUSION

 

In conclusion, this senior/community center is important to our community. Not just as a civic “building” but how it can positively contribute to the life
of our residents. This initial project phase is THE MOST IMPORTANT in the making of a community center. Let’s not simply make preconceived
presumptions. Let’s do our “homework” as a community and help our architect consultant provide us with the most appropriate and successful
outcome.

 

8B



Sincerely,

Bert Koseck (a resident, architect, and taxpayer)

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8B



MEMORANDUM 
Parking Division 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

February 28, 2024  

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Aaron Ford, Parking Systems Manager 

2023-24 On-Street Parking Changes 

INTRODUCTION: 
Staff is proposing to make two changes to the current on-street parking system with the intent 
of improving the parking experience in the downtown area. Based on feedback from guests 
parking in the city, staff is proposing to increase one (1) hour zones to two (2) hour zones, and 
to expand the current pilot program of short-term 15-minute parking across the downtown area. 

BACKGROUND: 
The City currently uses CivicSmart LNG Smart Meters. Guests can pay for their parking at the 
meters using coins (least popular), credit cards (2nd most popular), and ParkMobile (mobile app, 
most popular). The City currently has four different time zones that restrict the maximum time a 
person can park at a meter: 1 hour, 2 hours, 4 hours, and 12 hours. Patrons can park in a metered 
parking space for one of the 4 time frames from 9 a.m. – 5 p.m. From 5 p.m. – 9 p.m. the time 
limits at the 1 hour and 2 hour zones extend to 4 hours so patrons are not forced to move their 
vehicles during that time.  Currently, parameters are in place that prevent a patron from being 
able to pay by credit card or ParkMobile after the max time (1, 2, 4, 12 hours) has been reached 
in parking zone. Therefore, a patron must move their vehicle to another zone or receive a citation. 

With the implementation of the road improvements on both Maple and Old Woodward and the 
boom of pick-up / deliveries following COVID-19, downtown Birmingham has experienced 
significant issues with patrons parking illegally in ADA spaces, the hashed areas next to ADA 
spaces, moped parking spaces, and in the left-hand turn lanes. 

When Brown St. was renovated in 2023, staff converted four (4) planned metered parking spaces 
to 15-minute short-term parking as a pilot program. Appropriate signage was installed and 
Parking Enforcement has been monitoring its usage. Since it’s implementation, this area has been 
used regularly by both delivery trucks and regular patrons with minimal issues.  

8C



2 

Based on the success of the Brown St. zone, staff is proposing to expand the short-term 15-
minute parking program to fifteen (15) new locations strategically located across downtown. 
Parking staff, Parking Enforcement, and the Parking Meter Shop staff worked together to 
make this recommendation.  

The proposed changes were presented to the BSD Maintenance & Capital Improvement 
Committee, the BSD Board, and the Advisory Parking Committee. Staff originally proposed to 
convert all one (1) hour zones to two (2) hour zones. However, based on feedback from the BSD 
Board, it is recommended that one (1) hour zones on Maple, West of Old Woodward, and all one 
(1) hour zones on Old Woodward between Willits and Brown remain one (1) hour. Board members 
thought that because these areas are the busiest and most desirable that they should remain as 
one (1) hour zones to ensure there is turnover. The BSD and APC all supported the conversion of 
the other one (1) hour zones to two (2) hour zones. The APC recommended that all the proposed 
changes start as pilots and be reevaluated before being implemented permanently.

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed and approved the suggested action. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
There are seventeen on-street meter spaces impacted by the proposed 15-minute short-term 
parking expansion. Removing the revenue generated from these spaces would result in the loss 
of an estimated $49,898 annually to the parking system, as no fees are proposed for the 15 
minute short-term spaces.   

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
None. 

SUMMARY: 
Staff is proposing to make two changes to the current on-street parking system with the intent 
of improving the parking experience in the downtown area. Staff proposes to increase one (1) 
hour zones to two (2) hour zones, except in the zones located on Maple between Old Woodward 
and Chester, and on Old Woodward between Willits and Brown, and to expand the current pilot 
program of short-term 15-minute parking at fifteen (15) new locations across downtown.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 2023-24 On-Street Parking Changes presentation
2. Minutes from the January APC meeting
3. Minutes from the BSD Board meeting

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to convert all one (1) hour parking meters to two (2) hour 
meters, except those on Maple between Old Woodward and Chester, and those on Old 
Woodward between Willits and Brown St., and to expand the 15 minute short-term pilot 
program through downtown, between Brown St. and Harmon, and Woodward and Chester.    

8C



2023-24 On-Street Parking 
Changes

Parking

Presented by: Aaron Ford

Date: March 4, 2024

City Commission 

8C



Current Parking Meter Program
Introduction
• On-Street Parking Changes

• Removal of 1 Hour Zones, except on Maple, between 
Old Woodward and Chester, and on Old Woodward 
between Willits and Brown St.

• Expansion of 15 Minute Parking              

8C



Current Parking Meter Program
• The City is currently using CivicSmart LNG Smart Meters. Guests can 

pay for the parking at the meters in one of three different ways:
• Coins – least popular form of payment
• Credit Card (All four major cc’s accepted) – 2nd most popular form of payment
• ParkMobile (Mobile App) – Most popular form of payment

• The City currently has four different time zones that restrict the 
maximum time a person can park at a meter.

• 1 hour
• 2 hours
• 4 hours
• 12 hours

• Patrons can park in a metered parking space for one of the 4 time 
frames from 9 a.m. – 5 p.m. From 5 p.m. – 9 p.m. the time limits at 
the 1 hour and 2 hour zones extend to 4 hours. S

• Currently, parameters are in place that prevent a patron from being 
able to pay by credit card or ParkMobile after the max time (1, 2, 4, 12 
hours) has been reached in parking zone. 

8C



Proposed Changes
• City staff is proposing to make the following 

changes to enhance the on-street parking 
experience

1. Convert some 1 hour zones to 2 hour zones
2. Identify specific parking spaces to convert to short-

term parking

8C



On-Street Program 
Recommended Changes
1. Convert some 1 hour zones to 2 hour zones

• According to the BSD (Birmingham Shopping District) the 
average length of stay from a visiting patron is 2 hours.

• One of the more common complaints is that it takes longer 
than 1 hour to go out to eat, get your hair done, or complete 
a workout/yoga class

8C



CURRENT 1 HOUR ZONES

8C



On-Street Program
2. Expand Short-Term Parking (15 Minute) Program

• Expand 15 minute pilot program to 17 spaces throughout 
downtown to provide locations for deliveries (FedEx & UPS), 
DoorDash, & GrubHub, etc. 

• Providing spaces for these services will hopefully decrease 
the current offenses of those parking in the left-hand turn 
lanes, in ADA spots, and hashed off areas next to ADA 
spaces.

• Exploring potential solutions that will notify Parking 
Enforcement when a vehicle has overstayed so they can 
more efficiently enforce the spaces.

8C



This zone currently exists and has 
been used as a pilot zone since the  

Brown St. road improvement

8C



7935-3

7934-13

7918-1

7913-2

8C



7939-15

7975-8

7910-5

8C



7956-5

Current Yellow Curb

8C



7964-3&4

8C



7914-7

7916-3-4

8C



7922-1&2

7930-11

8C



7972-1

8C



BSD/APC Board 
Recommendations
Proposed changes to the parking meter program 
were presented to both the BSD and the APC
1. Removal of 1 hour zones – Both the BSD and APC 

recommend that 1 hour zones be converted to 2 hour 
zones except those areas on Old Woodward between 
Willits and Brown, and on Maple, west of Old 
Woodward.

2. Expansion of 15 Minute Parking – Both the BSD and APC 
recommend approval of all aspects of this program.

3. Both the BSD and APC recommend that these programs 
should start as pilots before permanent implementation.

8C



BSD PROPOSED 1 HOUR ZONES

8C



Advisory Parking Committee 
Meeting of January 10, 2024 

151 Martin Street, City Commission Room, Birmingham, MI 

Minutes 

These are the minutes of the Advisory Parking Committee ("APC") regular meeting held on 
Wednesday, January 10, 2024. The meeting was called to order by Chair Vaitas at 7:30 a.m. 

1. Roll Call

Present: Chair Al Vaitas, Vice Chair Richard Astrein; Committee Members Jim Arpin, Kevin  
Kozlowski, Michelle Moody, Mary-Claire Petcoff (left at 9:02 a.m.), Lisa Silverman 

Absent: None 

Staff: Parking Systems Manager Ford; City Transcriptionist Eichenhorn 

2. Approval Of Minutes: Meeting Of November 1, 2023

Motion by Mr. Astrein 
Seconded by Mr. Arpin to accept the minutes of November 1, 2023 as submitted. 

Motion carried, 7-0. 

VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Kozlowski, Moody, Petcoff, Astrein, Vaitas, Arpin, Silverman 
Nays:  None 

3. Discussion/Review from December’s Parking Workshop

The APC discussed the parking workshop. PSM Ford answered informational questions from the 
APC.  

The APC discussed one member drafting a communication for the Commission that expressed 
APC concerns, suggested processes, and perspectives on their responsibilities and mission for 
review at the next APC meeting. 

Motion by Mr. Kozlowski 
Seconded by Mr. Astrein to request that City Staff provide a presentation on the 
finances of the parking system and the parking fund at a future meeting.  

Motion carried, 7-0. 

VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Kozlowski, Moody, Petcoff, Astrein, Vaitas, Arpin, Silverman 
Nays:  None 

8C



 

4. Parking Operations Update 
 
PSM Ford presented the item and answered informational questions from the APC.  
 
The APC discussed topics to be covered by the City’s potential EV charging vendors at a future 
presentation by said vendors to the APC. 
 
5. Proposed Parking Meter Changes Follow up 
 
PSM Ford presented the item and answered informational questions from the APC. 
 
It was suggested that it would be necessary to add signage indicating any dynamic pricing 
schemes for different parking areas. 
 
Motion by Ms. Moody 
Seconded by Dr. Silverman to approve the BSD recommendation of one hour on 
Maple, west of Woodward, on Old Woodward in the central shopping district, and two 
hours everywhere else, per the map. 
 
Motion carried, 6-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Kozlowski, Moody, Astrein, Vaitas, Arpin, Silverman  
Nays:  None 
 
Motion by Mr. Kozlowski 
Seconded by Ms. Moody to extend the 15 minute parking program to the spots 
designated in the diagrams in the packet. 
 
It was noted that the APC could evaluate the success of the program at a future date, and that a 
pilot program was included in the recommendation. 
 
Motion carried, 6-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Kozlowski, Moody, Astrein, Vaitas, Arpin, Silverman  
Nays:  None 
 
Motion by Dr. Silverman 
Seconded by Ms. Moody to decline dynamic pricing at this time. 
 
It was reiterated that sufficient signage would be necessary for dynamic pricing to be successful 
in changing parking behavior. It was recommended that the two prior motions be implemented 
for a period before dynamic pricing is potentially reconsidered. 
 
Motion carried, 6-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 

8C



 

Yeas:  Kozlowski, Moody, Astrein, Vaitas, Arpin, Silverman  
Nays:  None 
 
Motion by Dr. Silverman 
Seconded by Ms. Moody to implement the motioned programs as 90 day pilots from 
implementation, with subsequent evaluation to be performed by the APC. 
 
Motion carried, 6-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Kozlowski, Moody, Astrein, Vaitas, Arpin, Silverman  
Nays:  None 
 
6.  Review Parking Reports 
 
7. Meeting open to the public for items not on the agenda 
 
8. Adjournment 
 
No further business being evident, the meeting adjourned at 9:15 a.m. 
 
 
 

 

Aaron Ford, Parking Systems Manager  
  

Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 

 

8C



8C



8C



8C



8C



8C



To the Birmingham City Commission,

We at the Advisory Parking Committee are charged with providing guidance to the City
Commission on the management of the City’s parking system. Recently, however, a number of
important decisions about the parking system have been made with either limited input from the
APC, or sometimes without any input whatsoever. The most recent of these was the decision to
replace our parking management contractor, SP+, with a large new team of city staff. Setting
aside whether this was the right decision for the City, it is most certainly a decision which
fundamentally affects the Parking System both operationally and financially. The APC, however,
was not even informed that such a change was being considered until after all decisions had
been made.

There have been several other cases where neither City staff nor the Commission has
sought nor the Commission required input from the APC before making changes to the parking
system. A similar situation occurred with the Parking Equipment in the structures. Originally,
staff had only brought to the APC their recommended vendor for parking equipment, a company
called Flash. We were not shown the equipment in operation and were only given promotional
materials for Flash, not for any of the other companies that responded to the RFP. We were
essentially asked to rubber-stamp staff’s recommendation having never seen or touched the
equipment that was going to be installed and having virtually no information about the
competing bids. Eventually, after being provided with presentations from both Flash and Tiba,
staff’s second-pick, we voted to recommend Flash. However, it was determined later that Flash
did not properly respond to the RFP, so they were disqualified. Instead of returning to the APC
for further input, staff simply presented Tiba to the Commission for approval, and received it.

In another instance, the APC was formerly consulted on the addition of outdoor dining
decks which would be built on top of (and therefore remove) street parking spaces. Previously,
proposals for these decks were presented to the APC for review and recommendation.
However, we recently learned that because the Commission votes were not typically following
the APC recommendations, staff simply stopped presenting these proposals to the APC.

At this point we would like to note that the Advisory Parking Committee is just that -
advisory. We don’t have any formal power and fully accept that. We do not expect the
Commission to follow our recommendations all or even most of the time, but we believe that our
input can be valuable to the Commission regardless of your final decision. As of late, however,
our input has often been sought only in a token way, or sometimes not at all. This is typically
done in the name of expediency or efficiency. We have all volunteered our time in hopes that we
can do our part to improve this City, and it is painful and frustrating to be treated as an obstacle
to be overcome or evaded rather than a valuable source of input.

Having no formal authority ourselves, we are dependent on you, the Commission, for
support. The most concrete way you can support us is by simply requiring an APC vote on
parking-related issues before the Commission is willing to vote on them. We are not requesting
that you vote in accordance with our recommendations - only that we be given an opportunity to
weigh in on matters pertinent to the parking system. Another element of support we need is
periodic reporting, at least annual, from someone in the City’s finance department. Financial
management of the parking system is one of our most critical duties, but we are provided with



no regular, comprehensive information about the revenues and expenses of the system, much
less projections of capital expenses.

We endeavor to use our different perspectives and expertise to improve this City by
helping to manage some of its most valuable assets. We also wish to be a point of contact for
the public, who bring their concerns about parking to us for consideration and action. We know
that as Commissioners you are motivated by the same desire to be of service to this community.
With your support, we know that we can be a resource you can rely on for insight and advice
concerning parking in Birmingham. Thank you for your time and consideration.

- The Advisory Parking Committee



Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Fwd: Shirley & Arlington Street Improvements
1 message

Jana Ecker <Jecker@bhamgov.org> Fri, Feb 9, 2024 at 12:53 PM
To: Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Jana L. Ecker
City Manager
Birmingham, MI
(248) 530-1811

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Therese Longe <tlonge@bhamgov.org>
Date: Fri, Feb 9, 2024 at 10:42 AM
Subject: Fwd: Shirley & Arlington Street Improvements
To: Jana Ecker <Jecker@bhamgov.org>

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Erich Voeffray <evoeffray@gmail.com>
Date: Fri, Feb 9, 2024 at 10:37 AM
Subject: Shirley & Arlington Street Improvements
To: tlonge@bhamgov.org <tlonge@bhamgov.org>, along@bhamgov.org <along@bhamgov.org>, bhost@bhamgov.org
<bhost@bhamgov.org>, ahaig@bhamgov.org <ahaig@bhamgov.org>, cballer@bhamgov.org <cballer@bhamgov.org>,
kschafer@bhamgov.org <kschafer@bhamgov.org>, emclain@bhamgov.org <emclain@bhamgov.org>

Hi, my name is Erich Voeffray and I wanted to write to you supporting narrowing Arlington/Shirley roads and adding
sidewalks. I live in the Quarton Lake neighborhood, but frequently walk in this area. The lack of sidewalks makes walking
in the area difficult as this is a relatively heavily trafficked road with a few blindspots due to curves in the roads. I believe
one of the reasons there is a lot of traffic on these roads is because they are so wide compared to other roads and run
between Maple and Lincoln. This makes them a perfect high speed cut through, but unsafe for pedestrian traffic,
especially children. 

Narrowing the roads would improve their appearance and reduce their use as a cut through. Aspen, Linden, and
Hawthorne roads just east look far better and are not used as cut throughs because they are far more narrow, which
forces drivers to go too slowly to use them as a cut through. In addition, as these are some of the last roads in
Birmingham without a sidewalk it would seem obvious this improvement needs to be made.

Thanks for your time,
Erich Voeffray
621 Fairfax St. 

mailto:tlonge@bhamgov.org
mailto:Jecker@bhamgov.org
mailto:evoeffray@gmail.com
mailto:tlonge@bhamgov.org
mailto:tlonge@bhamgov.org
mailto:along@bhamgov.org
mailto:along@bhamgov.org
mailto:bhost@bhamgov.org
mailto:bhost@bhamgov.org
mailto:ahaig@bhamgov.org
mailto:ahaig@bhamgov.org
mailto:cballer@bhamgov.org
mailto:cballer@bhamgov.org
mailto:kschafer@bhamgov.org
mailto:kschafer@bhamgov.org
mailto:emclain@bhamgov.org
mailto:emclain@bhamgov.org


Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

One More Vote for Arlington & Shirley
1 message

jmirro <jmirro@intromarketing.com> Sun, Feb 11, 2024 at 10:14 PM
To: emclain@bhamgov.org, kschafer@bhamgov.org, along@bhamgov.org, tlonge@bhamgov.org, ahaig@bhamgov.org,
bhost@bhamgov.org
Cc: Jana Ecker <Jecker@bhamgov.org>, abingham@bhamgov.org, mkucharek@bhlaw.us.com, cballer@bhamgov.org,
Melissa Coatta <mcoatta@bhamgov.org>

Dear Commissioners,

 

Background:  Thank you for last Monday’s vote on Arlington/Shirley Streets.  While we are very grateful for the vote not
to destroy 137 trees in the ROW space, not to narrow our two streets and not to install sidewalks, we need to ask you
for one more vote tomorrow to complete this process.  This vote is not to dig up/replace our existing streets and the
reasons are both environmental and financial.  It also reflects a central truth that Arlington and Shirley primarily have
an immediate water main and sewer replacement problem, not an immediate street replacement problem, which
seems to have been lost in the process.

 

Environmental:  We know that the root system for our 137 trees in the ROW space is about as extensive below ground
as the branch system is above ground.  And approximately 50% of the tree roots are under our two streets.  Because
of this, if we dig up our roads to replace water mains and sewers, there is a good chance that at least half of our 137
trees will die from this root disturbance.  And this is what your Arlington/Shirley vote last Monday was intended to
avoid.

 

Financial:  The 1st attachment is the City Staff special assessment cost example of $36,700 for a 26’ street
replacement.  When adjusted for our 33’ street width approved last Monday, this cost example increases to $44,700. 
Because most of our lots have over 100’ in frontage and allowing for repairs to driveways, etc., the total cost per lot is
probably closer to $50,000 (assuming no overruns which can add up to 25% more).  This is a total project cost for 80
lots of at least $4 million.  Explaining that this can be paid for over 10 years at a 9% interest rate does not make the
experience any less traumatic for our property owners, especially those on a fixed income. 

 

City Definition:  The 2nd attachment  is the published City document used for many years that our property owners
have relied upon to age in place with the knowledge that our streets fit perfectly the definition of an “improved” street
since they were first installed and, because of this, they would never face a large assessment in the future that might
force them to move.  To reinforce this understanding is the knowledge that our two streets were built at the same time
and in the same “engineered” and “durable” manner as our sister streets, Hawthorne/Aspen/Linden (HAL) which the
City has always agreed are “improved” and not subject to a future assessment. 

 

Street History:  The 3rd attachment is researched information on the history of our 5 streets that confirms Arlington and
Shirley Streets are “improved.”  Based on this information, it is our property owners’ belief that, due to HAL streets
having sidewalks and Arlington/Shirley not having sidewalks, someone in the Engineering Department made a
misclassification a few years back and the error has not been corrected to date.  The City Engineer’s description of our
streets’ foundation last Monday was the first time this information was ever presented and does not change our
property owners’ first-hand knowledge that our streets are meeting our durability test day in and day out and does not
change the City’s published definition.  This misunderstanding between the City and our property owners has such
significant financial implications that we must find an acceptable way to meet the goals of both in order to move
forward.

 



Cost Responsibility:  The 4th attachment is a 2-7-24 letter from Clinton Baller as a private citizen that states “the cost of
sewer and water improvements will be borne solely by the city and paid for by the allocation of money from the water
and sewer funds, which are fed by water and sewer fees, as well as general tax revenue.”  If the City and voting
Commissioners agree with Mr. Baller’s statement, this means that, if the Arlington/Shirley project is strictly a sewer and
water improvement project without a street replacement element, neither the City nor the property owners are required
to bear any of the cost.  And this, is the solution we have been looking for to meet both of our goals.  Thank you Mr.
Baller.

 

Horizontal Directional Drilling (HDD):  As described briefly at a previous Commission Meeting, HDD is the technology
used by many cities to replace water mains and/or sewer pipes without having to dig up an entire street and the 5th

attachment is a list of 30 companies in metro Detroit that are in the business of doing this.  In fact, one company
successfully did this on Strathmore Street in Bloomfield Hills just last year.  And none of the companies interviewed
believe that 1) the curving nature of our streets or 2) the gradual drop in elevation or 3) existing utilities under the
streets pose an obstacle to HDD work on Arlington and Shirley.

 

Water Mains:  Discussions with metro Detroit HDD companies suggest that the average cost to drill a tunnel beneath
our streets to accept an 8” water main is about $30 per foot or about $160,000 for both Arlington and Shirley Streets
combined.  This is 4% of the $4 million cost to replace our two streets.   And, if Mr. Baller is correct, this entire
$160,000 should be borne by the water and sewer fund because it is being spent solely to replace an aged water
main. 

 

Sewer Pipes:  A tunnel to replace sewer pipes will be more expensive than water mains due to a wider diameter than
8” if the City chooses replacement versus lining the existing sewer pipes which the City has stated is also a viable
alternative.  But the cost of either sewer pipe replacement or sewer pipe lining should also be borne by the water and
sewer fund.  So, through either method, the City and property owners are spared from paying for water main and
sewer upgrades either from the City’s general fund or through property owner assessments.

 

Exploratory Bids:  The only way to move forward on this project is for you to pass a motion asking the Engineering
Department to take a precise water main/sewer pipe measurement and to create design specs for HDD companies to
bid on the Arlington/Shirley project.  To avoid any delay in this process, we property owners are asking you to do this at
the 2-12-24 Commission Meeting during either the “unfinished business” or “new business” segments of the meeting.

 

Asphalt Milling:  After the water main and sewers are replaced and the 15 house projects on Arlington and Shirley are
completed, the City can then take bids for milling the top surface of our existing chip seal pavement and reusing it to
create a new asphalt surface.  This will achieve the appearance and usability of two new streets at a fraction of the
cost to completely replace them without endangering one tree in the ROW space.   And, voila, we have fixed the water
main, sewer and street surface problems at the least possible cost to everyone and in the most environmentally-
friendly way.  This is how the City and its citizens work together to meet all of our goals.  Thank you.

 

Jim Mirro, Resident Agent

Save Our Streets & Trees

A MI Nonprofit Foundation

248-420-5113

 

P. S.  This letter and attachments have been reviewed by a former NASA scientist and 5 engineers including one with a
U of M Master’s Degree in Civil Engineering who is presently building a $16 billion HDD tunnel under the Hudson River
in NYC.  They all agree that this plan is inherently feasible.

5 attachments



Special Assessment Cost Example..pdf
453K

Birmingham Definition of Improved & Unimproved Streets..pdf
915K

History of Arlington, Shirley, HAL Streets..pdf
659K

Clinton Baller Letter, 2-7-24..pdf
561K

List of 30 Metro Detroit HDD Companies..pdf
1969K

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18d9b4fc80171859&attid=0.1&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18d9b4fc80171859&attid=0.1&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18d9b4fc80171859&attid=0.2&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18d9b4fc80171859&attid=0.2&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18d9b4fc80171859&attid=0.3&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18d9b4fc80171859&attid=0.3&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18d9b4fc80171859&attid=0.4&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18d9b4fc80171859&attid=0.4&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18d9b4fc80171859&attid=0.5&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=122eed7f76&view=att&th=18d9b4fc80171859&attid=0.5&disp=attd&safe=1&zw




















Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Arlington/Shirley Agenda Item Request
jmirro <jmirro@intromarketing.com> Sun, Feb 18, 2024 at 9:52 PM
To: emclain@bhamgov.org
Cc: Jana Ecker <Jecker@bhamgov.org>, abingham@bhamgov.org, mkucharek@bhlaw.us.com, Melissa Coatta
<mcoatta@bhamgov.org>

Dear Mayor McLain,

 

Thank you for the opportunity to speak at the last Commission Meeting during the “Items Not On The Agenda”
segment.  Also thank you for allowing all the Commissioners to vote at the end of the meeting to consider Horizontal
Directional Drilling (HDD) for future infrastructure changes.  Unfortunately, I believe that some of the Commissioners
did not have my 2-11-24 letter in front of them when you asked your question as to whether the motion referred to all
city streets in general or to just Arlington and Shirley Streets.  Clearly, Arlington and Shirley property owners cannot
speak for streets other than their own.

 

In view of the misunderstanding noted above, our property owners are requesting that I speak at the 3-4-24
Commission Meeting as part of a separate agenda item entitled “Arlington/Shirley Infrastructure/Street Changes.”  The
logic goes something like this.  If we property owners are being asked to pay an assessment for changes to property
owned by the City (water mains, sewers, streets), we would like the City Staff/Commissioners to have information that
impacts the amount of the project cost/assessment before any design decisions are made and bids taken for this
work.  If we can save money for both the City and property owners, this information should be presented now.

 

In my Commissioner letter of 2-11-24, I attached a list of 30 companies in the metro Detroit area that are in the HDD
business.  During the past week, I have talked with representatives from most of these companies, including some who
have visited our streets and who have done work for the City in the past.  At the 3-4-24 Commission Meeting, I would
like to share information from these representatives with the Commissioners/City Staff that can affect the total cost of
our project moving forward.  In view of the timing involved, please let me know by Tuesday, 2-20-24, if you can place
this item on the 3-4-24 agenda and, if not, how such an item can be placed on the agenda so that we do not miss the
deadline for doing so.  Please also let me know if the City is able to provide me with civil drawings of our two streets.  If
not, this will not affect our request to be on the agenda.  Thank you.

 

Jim Mirro, Resident Agent

Save Our Streets & Trees

A MI Nonprofit Foundation

737 Arlington

248-420-5113



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
MARTHA BALDWIN PARK BOARD 

At the regular meeting of Monday, April 15, 2024 the Birmingham City Commission intends 
to appoint two regular members to the Martha Baldwin Park Board to serve four-year terms 
to expire May 1, 2028. Members must be electors of the City of Birmingham. 

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the City Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City 
Clerk's office on or before noon on Wednesday, April 10, 2024.  These documents will 
appear in the public agenda for the regular meeting at which time the City 
Commission will discuss recommendations, and may make nominations and vote on 
appointments.  

All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 
2, Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

Criteria/Qualifications of Open Position Date 
Applications Due 
(by noon) 

Date of 
Interview 

Members must be electors in the City of 
Birmingham.   

4/10/2024 4/15/2024 

11A1

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities


NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
HOUSING BOARD OF APPEALS 

At the meeting of Monday, April 15, 2024, the Birmingham City Commission intends to 
appoint one regular member to the Housing Board of Appeals to serve a three-year term to 
expire May 4, 2027, and two regular members to serve the remainder of three-year terms 
set to expire May 4, 2026. Members shall be educated or experienced in building, 
construction administration, social services, real estate or other responsible positions. 

The Housing Board of Appeals was established in order to provide an appeal process from 
regulation derived from the housing and maintenance requirements found in Chapter 22 of 
the City Code. The purpose of the housing and maintenance regulations is to protect, 
preserve and promote the physical and social well being of the people, to regulate privately 
and publicly owned dwellings for the purpose of maintaining adequate sanitation and public 
health. 

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the City Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's 
office on or before noon on Wednesday, April 10, 2024.  These documents will appear in the 
public agenda for the regular meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss 
recommendations, and may make nominations and vote on appointments.  

All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 
2, Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

Criteria/Qualifications of Open Position Date 
Applications Due 
(by noon) 

Date of 
Interview 

Members shall be educated or experienced in 
building, construction administration, social 
services, real estate or other responsible 
positions. 

4/10/2024 4/15/2024 

11A2

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities


MEMORANDUM 
Finance 

DATE: February 19, 2024 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Mark Gerber, Director of Finance/Treasurer 

SUBJECT: Second Quarter Financial Reports  

Background 
Chapter 7, section 3(b) of the City Charter requires the Director of Finance to report on 
the condition of the City quarterly.  Quarterly reports are prepared for the first 3 quarters of the 
year with the annual audit serving as the 4th quarter report.  Only the following funds are 
reported quarterly because by state law they require a budget:  General Fund, Greenwood 
Cemetery Perpetual Care Fund, Major and Local Street Funds, Solid Waste Fund, Community 
Development Block Grant Fund, Law and Drug Enforcement Fund, Baldwin Public Library 
Fund, Principal Shopping District Fund, Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Fund, Triangle 
District Corridor Improvement Authority Fund, and the Debt Service Fund.   

Overview 
Attached are the second quarter 2023-2024 fiscal year financial reports.  The reports compare 
budget to actual for the current fiscal year and the prior fiscal year for the same quarter.  The 
previous year’s budget and actual have been restated using the required State chart of account 
groupings. This allows meaningful comparisons between fiscal years as well as percentage 
of budget received/spent for the year.  The budget categories used for each fund are the 
same ones approved by the Commission when they adopted the 2023-2024 budget.  Budget 
discussions that follow will focus on each fund individually. 

At this point, 50% of the fiscal year has lapsed. 

General Fund 
Revenues are approximately $3M higher than the previous year as a result of an increase in tax 
revenue.  Decreases in Licenses and Permits were offset by an increase in Fines and Forfeitures 
and Interest and Rent.  Taxes increased as a result of an increase in taxable value.  Licenses and 
Permits decreased as a result of large scale construction permits in FY 2022-2023.  Interest is 

1 

11E1



higher due to an increase in the interest rate and Fines and Forfeitures are higher due to 48th 
District Court revenues. 

Federal, State, and Local Grant funds, Special Assessments and Fines and Forfeitures are below 
expected budget due to timing of when the revenues are received.   

Total current year-to-date expenditures for the General Fund are higher than the prior year by 
approximately $.7M, or 3%.  Most of the increase is related to an increase in Transfers Out of 
$1.5M, Public Safety of $.5M, General Government of $.3M, and Recreation and Culture of $.2M.  
This was offset by a decrease in Public Works of $2M.  The increase in the Transfers Out is due 
to an increase in transfers to the Major and Local Street Funds.  The increase in Public Safety and 
General Government is mainly the result of higher personnel costs and implementing OpenGov 
budgeting.  The increase in Recreation and Culture is the result of personnel costs and parks 
master plan.  The decrease in Public Works is related to construction on S. Old Woodward which 
was in fiscal year 2022-2023.   

Greenwood Cemetery Fund 
Cemetery perpetual care revenues are slightly higher than last year as a result of plot sales. 

Major Street Fund 
Total revenues are approximately $1M higher than the prior year as a result of higher budgeted 
transfers from the General Fund.  State grant revenue is at 34% as a result of November and 
December road funding being received after the quarter ended.   

Overall expenditures are approximately $.2M higher than the previous year as a result of higher 
traffic control expenditures through the end of the quarter compared to the prior year.    

Local Street Fund 
Total revenues for the year are approximately $.6M higher than the previous year as a result 
of higher transfers from the General Fund.  As with the Major Street fund, State grants are 
generally received 2 months after the close of the month which explains the low budget to 
actual variance.  

Total expenditures are $.2M higher than the previous year, approximately the same as the prior 
year.  Maintenance of Streets and Bridges is higher by $.2M due to a cape sealing project.  
Street Cleaning is higher by $.1M as a result of the cape sealing project.  Street Trees is $.1M 
higher as a result of storm damage.  This was partially offset by a decrease in Construction of 
Roads and Bridges of $.2M.   

Solid Waste Fund 
Revenues are approximately $.1M higher than the previous year as a result of higher 
property tax revenue.  

Expenditures are approximately the same as the prior fiscal year. 

2 

11E1



Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Fund 
Revenues are approximately $.2M lower than the prior year.  This is the result of lower property 
taxes being captured on brownfield sites. 

Reimbursements to developers for site contamination cleanup were paid in October 2023 
and October 2022.    

Principal Shopping District 
Revenues and expenditures are approximately the same as the prior fiscal year.  Special 
assessments are normally billed in January.   

Community Development Block Grant Fund 
CDBG expenditures for this fiscal year represent work for the ADA parking space at the 
Birmingham Historic Museum.    

Triangle District Corridor Improvement Authority 
The City is attempting to re-engage with the County regarding tax capture for the district.  To-
date no property taxes have been captured and no funds spent on this activity. 

Michigan Indigent Defense Fund 
Revenues are approximately $.1M higher as a result of grants from the State.  Expenditures to 
defense attorneys is approximately the same as last year. 

Baldwin Library 
Revenue has increased approximately $.3M.  This is the result of an increase in property tax 
revenue of $.3M.  

Expenditures are approximately $2M more than the prior fiscal year due to building construction 
for the next phase of building improvements in the current fiscal year.    

Law and Drug Enforcement Fund 
Revenues are approximately $.1M more than the previous fiscal year as a result of receiving 
forfeiture funds related to the Fraud and Financial Crimes Task Force. 

Debt Service Fund 
Budgeted revenues and expenditures are based on scheduled debt service payments.  
Expenditures are at 95% spent for the year as a result of making a principal payment in 
September.   

3 

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE 2,856,787 ‐                       0% 2,482,384 ‐                       0%

TAXES 33,524,900 33,410,572         100% 30,327,140 30,304,878         100%

SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 656,810 79,853                 12% 1,265,360 133,794              11%

LICENSES AND PERMITS 2,720,510 1,553,643           57% 2,678,930 2,176,487           81%

FEDERAL GRANTS 133,190 85,692                 64% 51,500 50,638                98%

STATE GRANTS 2,833,900 563,028              20% 2,446,470 580,775              24%

LOCAL CONTRIBUTIONS 151,650 36,936                 24% 90,240 2,793                  3%

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 3,557,890 1,610,653           45% 3,159,460 1,598,898           51%

FINES AND FORFEITURES 1,957,340 588,504              30% 1,372,250 410,241              30%

INTEREST AND RENT 756,500 657,318              87% 417,320 326,062              78%

OTHER REVENUE 250,130 63,602                 25% 51,650 48,466                94%

TRANSFERS IN 100,000                50,000                 50% 100,000 50,000                50%

TOTAL REVENUES 49,499,607          38,699,801         78% 44,442,704          35,683,032         80%

EXPENDITURES:

  GENERAL GOVERNMENT 6,596,920             2,836,659           43% 5,801,960 2,526,283           44%

  JUDICIAL 1,999,280             1,114,750           56% 1,243,770 958,326              77%

  PUBLIC SAFETY 20,068,345          9,521,803           47% 18,451,712 9,065,459           49%

  PUBLIC WORKS 8,866,222             2,685,582           30% 10,979,849 4,780,546           44%

  HEALTH AND WELFARE 217,630                113,754              52% 179,040 77,911                44%

  COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 784,658                315,105              40% 739,544 264,014              36%

  RECREATION AND CULTURE 3,366,519             1,548,905           46% 3,210,828 1,331,355           41%

  TRANSFERS OUT 7,600,000             3,500,000           46% 3,835,968 1,960,968           51%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 49,499,574          21,636,558         44% 44,442,671          20,964,863         47%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

GENERAL FUND
QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022

% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



2023‐2024 2022‐2023
AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE (58,000)                 ‐                         0% (82,500)               ‐                         0%

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 35,000 47,800 137% 60,000                 21,150 35%

INTEREST AND RENT 23,000 12,249 53% 22,500                 14,679 65%

TRANSFERS IN ‐                         ‐                         0% ‐                       ‐                         0%

  TOTAL Revenues ‐                         60,049                   0% ‐                       35,829                   0%

EXPENDITURES:

ENGINEERING AND PUBLIC SERVICES ‐                         ‐                         0% ‐                       ‐                         0%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES ‐                         ‐                         ‐                       ‐                        

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT
GREENWOOD CEMETERY FUND

QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022
% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE 5,174,957 0 0% 3,170,411 0 0%

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT 0 0 0% 31,900 0

STATE GRANTS 1,841,950 633,496 34% 1,786,350 608,977 34%

INTEREST AND RENT 35,180 79,569 226% 38,590 40,974 106%

OTHER REVENUE ‐                         3,252                   0% ‐                         ‐                       0%

TRANSFERS IN 3,500,000             1,750,000           50% 1,500,000             750,000              50%

TOTAL REVENUES 10,552,087          2,466,317           23% 6,527,251             1,399,951           21%

EXPENDITURES:

PUBLIC WORKS:

ADMINISTRATIVE 19,670 10,707 54% 19,640                  10,785 55%

TRAFFIC CONTROLS & ENGINEERING 1,347,407 294,531 22% 993,067                141,929 14%

CONSTRUCTION OF ROADS & BRIDGES 7,710,454             2,223,275           29% 4,098,064             2,228,726           54%

MAINTENANCE OF ROADS & BRIDGES 488,256 166,472 34% 447,520                145,390 32%

STREET CLEANING 236,050 86,034 36% 237,990                97,976 41%

STREET TREES 471,580 227,116 48% 456,420                193,752 42%

SNOW AND ICE REMOVAL 278,670                25,171                 9% 274,550                25,320                9%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 10,552,087          3,033,306           29% 6,527,251             2,843,878           44%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

MAJOR STREETS
QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022

% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE 969,147 ‐                       0% 478,752 ‐                       0%

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT 237,740 19,901                 8% 521,730 47,362                9%

STATE GRANTS 752,340 254,928 34% 729,630 244,805 34%

INTEREST AND RENT 42,000 51,811 123% 28,950 20,631 71%

OTHER REVENUE 5,000                    7,700                   154% 5,000 3,938 79%

TRANSFERS IN 3,500,000             1,750,000           50% 2,250,000             1,125,000           50%

TOTAL REVENUES 5,506,227             2,084,340           38% 4,014,062             1,441,736           36%

EXPENDITURES:

PUBLIC WORKS:

ADMINISTRATIVE 27,690 14,565 53% 27,680                  14,630                53%

TRAFFIC CONTROLS & ENGINEERING 74,110 31,051 42% 66,100                  27,332                41%

CONSTRUCTION OF ROADS & BRIDGES 2,762,265 240,214 9% 1,466,862             421,301              29%

MAINTENANCE OF ROADS & BRIDGES 1,214,002 420,152 35% 1,073,210             214,070              20%

STREET CLEANING 265,690 177,026 67% 258,350                84,698                33%

STREET TREES 982,950 550,487 56% 946,370                470,424              50%

SNOW AND ICE REMOVAL 179,520                25,151                 14% 175,490                24,254                14%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 5,506,227             1,458,645           26% 4,014,062             1,256,710           31%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

LOCAL STREETS
QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022

% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE 3,672 0 0% (7,320)                    ‐                       0%

TAXES 2,343,860 2,344,783 100% 2,245,000             2,248,764           100%

STATE GRANTS 4,000 4,976 124% 3,990                     4,180                   105%

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 100 2,428 2428% 17,100                   9,584                   56%

INTEREST AND RENT 20,000 28,325 142% 15,440                   14,016                 91%

OTHER REVENUE 300                        200                       67% ‐                         208                       0%

TOTAL REVENUES 2,371,932             2,380,712           100% 2,274,210             2,276,752           100%

EXPENDITURES:

PUBLIC WORKS 2,371,932             1,131,164           48% 2,274,210             1,151,664           51%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

SOLID WASTE

QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022
% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE (880)                       ‐                        0% (770)                       ‐                       0%

TAXES 481,830 464,340 96% 627,240                691,568               110%

CHARGES FOR SERVICES ‐                         ‐                        0% ‐                         ‐                       0%

INTEREST AND RENT 880 3,438                   391% 770                        1,478                   192%

OTHER REVENUE 20,000                   1,989                   10% 20,000                   5,394                   27%

TRANSFERS IN ‐                         ‐                        0% ‐                         ‐                       0%

TOTAL REVENUES 501,830                469,767               94% 647,240                698,440               108%

EXPENDITURES

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 501,830                462,145               92% 647,240                471,787               73%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT FUND
QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022

% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE 111,004 ‐                        0% 173,135                ‐                       0%

SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 1,201,500             1,513                   0% 1,101,370             27,390                 2%

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 25,000 ‐                        0% 25,000                   ‐                       0%

INTEREST AND RENT 5,420                     15,829 292% 5,310                     5,782                   109%

OTHER REVENUE 220,000                148,585               68% 160,000                155,730               97%

TOTAL REVENUES 1,562,924             165,928               11% 1,464,815             188,902               13%

EXPENDITURES

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 1,562,924             630,889               40% 1,464,815             574,521               39%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT
PRINCIPAL SHOPPING DISTRICT

QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022
% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

FEDERAL GRANTS 65,640                   3,950                   6% 36,670                   ‐                       0%

EXPENDITURES

HEALTH AND WELFARE 65,640                   46,340                 71% 36,670                   ‐                       0%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT
QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022

% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE (220)                       ‐                        0% (190)                       ‐                       0%

PROPERTY TAXES ‐                         ‐                        0% ‐                         ‐                       0%

INTEREST AND RENT 220                        265                       120% 190                        130                       68%

TOTAL REVENUES ‐                         265                       0% ‐                         130                       0%

EXPENDITURES

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ‐                         ‐                        0% ‐                         ‐                       0%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

TRIANGLE DISTRICT CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENT AUTHORITY
QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022

% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE ‐                         ‐                        0% 2,860                     ‐                       0%

STATE GRANTS 494,100                252,207               51% 128,810                162,621               126%

LOCAL CONTRIBUTIONS 17,600                   ‐                        0% ‐                         ‐                       0%

INTEREST AND RENT 3,000                     3,196                   107% 480                        1,706                   355%

TOTAL REVENUES 514,700                255,403               50% 132,150                164,327               124%

EXPENDITURES:

HEALTH AND WELFARE 514,700                165,583               32% 132,150                141,226               107%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

MICHIGAN INDIGENT DEFENSE FUND
QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022

% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE 2,203,880 ‐                        0% (478,930) ‐                       0%

TAXES 4,165,640 4,173,278           100% 3,854,880 3,867,794           100%

FEDERAL GRANTS 0 ‐                        0% 0 6,400                   0%

STATE GRANTS 42,000 8,558                   20% 36,000 7,052                   20%

LOCAL CONTRIBUTIONS 1,093,140 440,876               40% 1,062,390 425,462               40%

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 20,650 16,280                 79% 21,000 14,300                 68%

FINES AND FORFEITURES 5,000 3,179                   64% 6,000 2,209                   37%

INTEREST AND RENT 5,000                     58,323                 1166% 30,000                   28,607                 95%

OTHER REVENUE 260,000                152                       0% ‐                         ‐                       0%

TOTAL REVENUES 7,795,310             4,700,646           60% 4,531,340             4,351,826           96%

EXPENDITURES:

RECREATION AND CULTURE 7,795,310             4,178,741           54% 4,531,340             2,137,808           47%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

BALDWIN LIBRARY
QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022

% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE 29,790                   ‐                        0% (20,150)                 ‐                       0%

FINES & FORFEITURES 25,000                   136,790               547% 25,000                   42,410                 170%

INTEREST AND RENT ‐                         3,134                   0% 580                        1,134                   195%

OTHER REVENUE ‐                         ‐                        0% ‐                         ‐                       0%

TOTAL REVENUES 54,790                   139,924               255% 5,430                     43,543                 802%

EXPENDITURES:

PUBLIC SAFETY 54,790                   3,878                   7% 5,430                     3,635                   0%

CAPITAL OUTLAY ‐                         ‐                        0% ‐                         ‐                       0%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 54,790                   3,878                   7% 5,430                     3,635                   67%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

LAW & DRUG ENFORCEMENT FUND
QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022

% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET AMENDED YEAR‐TO‐DATE % OF BUDGET
BUDGET ACTUAL USED BUDGET ACTUAL USED

REVENUES:

USE OF (CONTRIB. TO) FUND BALANCE ‐                         ‐                        0% ‐                         ‐                       0%

TAXES 1,637,910 1,639,832 100% 1,508,190             1,513,248           100%

STATE GRANTS 2,770 3,324 120% 5,200                     2,982                   57%

INTEREST AND RENT 5,500                     4,963                   90% 1,740                     2,314                   133%

TOTAL REVENUES 1,646,180             1,648,119           100% 1,515,130             1,518,544           100%

EXPENDITURES:

DEBT SERVICE 1,646,180             1,566,211           95% 1,515,130             1,398,411           92%

2023‐2024 2022‐2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT

DEBT SERVICE FUND
QUARTER ENDED:  DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022

% OF FISCAL YEAR COMPLETED:  50%

11E1



MEMORANDUM 
Finance Department

DATE: February 14, 2024 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Mark Gerber, Finance Director/Treasurer 

SUBJECT: 2nd Quarter Investment Report 

Public Act 213 of 2007 requires investment reporting on the City’s general investments to be 
provided to the City Commission on a quarterly basis.  This information is also required to be 
provided annually, which the City has and will continue to include within the audited financial 
statements. 

General investments of the City are governed by State law and the City’s General
Investment Policy approved by the City Commission.  The services of an outside investment 
advisor are utilized to assist the treasurer in determining which types of investments are most 
appropriate and permitted under the investment policy, maximize the return on the City’s 
investments within investment policy constraints, and provide for cash flow needs.

The two primary objectives for investment of City funds are the preservation of principal and 
liquidity to protect against losses and provide sufficient funds to enable the City to meet all 
operating requirements that might be reasonably anticipated. Investment activities include all City 
funds except the retirement and retiree health-care funds as follows: 

 General Fund
 Permanent Funds

 Special Revenue Funds
 Capital Projects Fund
 Enterprise Funds
 Debt Service Funds
 Component Unit Funds
 Internal Service Funds

Overall, the City has $120.8 million invested in various securities according to its general 
investment policy as of December 31, 2023.   

11E2



The City has two pooled funds (CLASS Pool and J-Fund), which are used to meet 
payroll, contractor and other accounts payable needs.  As indicated on the attached schedule, 
there was approximately $10.6 million invested in pooled funds at the end of December.  A 
maximum of 50% of the portfolio may be invested in pooled funds that meet State guidelines.  
The amount currently invested in pooled funds is 9%.    

The City also holds approximately $56.2 million, or 46%, of its investments in treasury notes and 
bills, which are obligations of the United States. The maximum amount of investments that may 
be held in government securities is 100%. 

Investments in federal agencies total approximately $54.0 million, or 45%, of the City’s 
investments.  The maximum amount of the portfolio that may be invested in federal agencies is 
75%. 

The Investment Policy requires that the average maturity of the portfolio may not exceed two 
and one-half years.  The current average maturity of the portfolio is 1.8 years.  

11E2



12/31/2023

MATURITY CURRENT YEARLY

YEAR DATE DESCRIPTION % YIELD * PAR VALUE COST MARKET VALUE TOTAL

2023 12/31/2023 CLASS POOL 5.225% CITY 2,302,572.66 2,302,572.66 2,302,572.66

12/31/2023 J FUND 4.841% CITY 8,300,785.33 8,300,785.33 8,300,785.33

10,603,357.99     

2024 1/18/2024 TR NOTE 5.335% INSIGHT 1,000,000.00          985,625.14 997,650.00           

1/19/2024 AGENCY 0.241% INSIGHT 1,000,000.00          999,670.00 997,600.00           

2/5/2004 AGENCY 1.572% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,558,201.50          1,496,025.00        

2/29/2024 TR NOTE 1.637% INSIGHT 1,750,000.00          1,785,621.10          1,741,022.50        

3/8/2024 AGENCY 4.396% INSIGHT 2,900,000.00          2,868,825.00          2,891,068.00        

4/15/2024 TR NOTE 0.434% INSIGHT 3,000,000.00          2,995,546.88          2,958,750.00        

5/17/2024 AGENCY 0.360% INSIGHT 1,000,000.00          999,800.00 981,120.00           

5/31/2024 TR NOTE 0.462% INSIGHT 1,000,000.00          1,040,823.66          986,680.00           

6/14/2024 AGENCY 0.377% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,556,520.00          1,477,665.00        

6/14/2024 AGENCY 4.343% INSIGHT 2,500,000.00          2,481,025.00          2,483,425.00        

7/2/2024 AGENCY 1.719% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,502,037.00          1,474,980.00        

8/19/2024 AGENCY 0.450% INSIGHT 2,000,000.00          1,999,500.00          1,942,560.00        

9/13/2024 AGENCY 1.729% INSIGHT 1,750,000.00          1,843,345.00          1,725,430.00        

9/30/2024 TR NOTE 0.569% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,541,020.65          1,462,320.00        

10/31/2024 TR NOTE 0.465% INSIGHT 1,000,000.00          1,032,695.31          2,918,670.00        

10/31/2024 TR NOTE 2.476% INSIGHT 1,000,000.00          994,378.35 978,440.00           

11/15/2024 TR NOTE 0.560% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,578,637.84          1,466,430.00        

12/16/2024 AGENCY 0.500% INSIGHT 1,000,000.00          1,000,000.00          957,990.00           

12/30/2024 AGENCY 0.390% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,499,025.00          1,434,285.00        

31,372,110.50     

2025 1/7/2025 AGENCY 0.362% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,580,434.50          1,453,515.00        

1/28/2025 AGENCY 0.550% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,500,000.00          1,436,745.00        

2/12/2025 AGENCY 0.344% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,575,136.50          1,448,115.00        

2/26/2025 AGENCY 0.680% INSIGHT 1,000,000.00          1,000,000.00          959,320.00           

2/28/2025 TR NOTE 0.508% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,533,925.38          1,440,765.00        

3/28/2025 AGENCY 1.250% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,370,835.00          1,432,830.00        

3/28/2025 AGENCY 0.450% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,500,000.00          1,422,180.00        

3/31/2025 TR NOTE 0.669% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,491,215.96          1,426,230.00        

4/22/2025 AGENCY 0.625% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,399,770.00          1,426,170.00        

6/30/2025 AGENCY 0.750% INSIGHT 2,000,000.00          2,000,000.00          1,895,260.00        

7/15/2025 TR NOTE 4.233% INSIGHT 3,000,000.00          2,903,095.99          2,934,480.00        

8/15/2025 TR NOTE 3.037% INSIGHT 2,000,000.00          1,937,506.70          1,924,620.00        

9/15/2025 TR NOTE 4.187% INSIGHT 3,000,000.00          2,942,939.74          2,955,810.00        

10/15/2025 TR NOTE 4.457% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,491,386.71          1,497,195.00        

10/31/2025 TR NOTE 3.167% INSIGHT 2,500,000.00          2,487,020.09          2,441,800.00           

11/15/2025 TR NOTE 3.025% INSIGHT 2,000,000.00          1,951,959.82          1,926,260.00        

12/15/2025 TR NOTE 5.023% INSIGHT 2,000,000.00          1,984,517.46          1,989,300.00        

30,010,595.00     

2026 1/15/2026 TR NOTE 5.005% INSIGHT 2,000,000.00          1,953,209.83          1,984,760.00        

2/25/2026 AGENCY 3.577% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,487,659.50          1,470,765.00        

3/31/2026 TR NOTE 4.144% INSIGHT 3,000,000.00          2,816,142.86          2,877,900.00        

5/26/2026 AGENCY 5.015% INSIGHT 1,965,000.00          1,797,385.50          1,846,117.50        

6/16/2026 AGENCY 4.203% INSIGHT 3,000,000.00          2,928,240.00          2,952,180.00        

7/27/2026 AGENCY 4.412% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,504,590.00          1,514,220.00        

8/14/2026 AGENCY 4.731% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,490,415.00          1,512,615.00        

9/11/2026 AGENCY 4.963% INSIGHT 2,000,000.00          1,995,156.00          2,039,100.00        

10/15/2026 TR NOTE 4.847% INSIGHT 3,000,000.00          2,981,611.61          3,044,520.00        

11/15/2026 TR NOTE 4.852% INSIGHT 2,000,000.00          1,838,131.70          1,890,780.00        

12/18/2026 AGENCY 4.790% INSIGHT 1,885,000.00          1,675,380.46          1,704,473.55        

22,837,431.05     

2027 1/12/2027 AGENCY 3.803% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,520,295.00          1,505,010.00        

3/31/2027 TR NOTE 4.071% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,406,430.81          1,433,610.00        

4/30/2027 TR NOTE 4.867% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,398,930.81          1,442,865.00        

6/30/2027 TR NOTE 3.701% INSIGHT 3,000,000.00          2,943,867.19          2,931,690.00        

8/15/2027 TR NOTE 4.510% INSIGHT 1,950,000.00          1,799,643.25          1,839,103.50        

9/30/2027 TR NOTE 4.005% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,507,851.56          1,509,495.00        

10/13/2027 AGENCY 4.885% INSIGHT 3,000,000.00          2,985,456.00          3,079,440.00        

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM
GENERAL INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO SUMMARY

11E2



11/30/2027 TR NOTE 4.513% INSIGHT 1,700,000.00          1,658,701.01          1,696,413.00        

15,437,626.50     

2028 2/29/2028 TR NOTE 4.736% INSIGHT 2,000,000.00          1,942,272.32          2,006,560.00        

3/10/2028 AGENCY 3.539% INSIGHT 1,575,000.00          1,641,386.28          1,612,248.75        

6/30/2028 AGENCY 4.433% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,471,840.50          1,506,300.00        

7/31/2028 TR NOTE 4.825% INSIGHT 1,500,000.00          1,455,825.34          1,515,465.00        

8/28/2028 AGENCY 4.454% INSIGHT 1,800,000.00          1,803,792.60          1,835,388.00        

9/22/2028 AGENCY 4.779% INSIGHT 2,000,000.00          1,975,600.00          2,052,040.00        

10,528,001.75     

3.232% 120,878,357.99 119,495,214.40 120,789,122.79   120,789,122.79   

AVERAGE MATURITY (YEARS): 1.83

POOLS $10,603,357.99 8.78%

TR NOTES $56,219,584.00 46.54%

AGENCIES $53,966,180.80 44.68%

   TOTAL $120,789,122.79 100.00%

COMPARATIVE RETURNS

City Portfolio 1-Yr TR 2-Yr TR

Current Month 3.17% 4.96% 4.47%

Previous Month 3.24% 5.27% 4.89%

1 Year Ago 2.11% 4.71% 4.30%

8.78%

46.54%

44.68%

ASSET MIX

POOLS

TR NOTES

AGENCIES

$0

$5,000,000

$10,000,000

$15,000,000

$20,000,000

$25,000,000

$30,000,000

$35,000,000

MATURITY BY YEAR

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

11E2



* Berkley * Beverly Hills * Bingham Farms * Birmingham

* Clawson * Huntington Woods * Lathrup Village * Pleasant Ridge

* Royal Oak * Southfield * Southfield Township

SOCWA ⚫ 3910 W. Webster Road ⚫ Royal Oak ⚫ Michigan ⚫ 48073 ⚫ Phone 248.288.5150 ⚫ Fax 248.435.0310 ⚫ Email socwa@socwa.org 

www.socwa.org 

Printed on Post-Consumer Recycled Content Paper

www.socwa.org

Printed on Post Consumer Recycled Content Paper

QUARTERLY REPORT 

January 2024 

F BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Representative Municipality 

Shawn Young City of Berkley 

Jeff Campbell Village of Beverly Hills 

Kurt Jones Village of Bingham Farms 

Melissa Coatta City of Birmingham 

Trever Zablocki City of Clawson 

Rocco Fortura City of Huntington Woods 

Susie Stec City of Lathrup Village 

Jim Breuckman City of Pleasant Ridge 

Aaron Filipski City of Royal Oak 

Patrick Ryan City of Southfield 

Jeff Campbell Township of Southfield 

OFFICERS 

Chair: J. Breuckman

Vice Chairman: K. Jones

Secretary: R. Fortura

Advisory Committee: Breuckman, Jones, Fortura, 

Filipski 

Jeff McKeen General Manager 

Bob Jackovich Operations Manager 

mailto:socwa@socwa.org
http://www.socwa.org/


                    January 2024 
 
 
 
Board of Trustees 
Southeastern Oakland County Water Authority 
 
Subject:  Quarterly Report - January 2024 
 
Board Members: 
 
Attached is a copy of the Southeastern Oakland County Water Authority's Quarterly Report 
covering the first six months operation of the fiscal year 2023/24.  The report contains a financial 
statement of the Authority's operation and an outline of projects in progress or completed during 
the second quarter.  The report also contains statistical information and other information of 
general interest to the members of this Authority. 
                          
FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
 
The total net operating income before depreciation for the first 6 months of 2023/24 was 
$125,154, which was $1,077,108 less than budgeted.  This was a very large decrease from the 
net income of $1,765,101 for the first six months of 2022/23.   
 
 Actual Compared to Budget 
Revenue $14,633,887 - $2,125,550   
 
Expenses $14,508,733                    - $1,048,442 
 
Net Income (before depreciation) $ 125,154 - $1,077,108 
 
SOCWA’s working capital was 20.3% as of December 30, 2023.  This is higher than the 8.3% 
working capital goal approved by the Board and a decrease from the 23.6% working capital as of 
December 29, 2022.   
 
The decrease in revenue was primarily due to lower than planned water sales to the member 
communities (-$1,132,000) and to Bloomfield Hills and Bloomfield Twp. (-$1,256,000) which 
were partially offset by higher than planned miscellaneous revenue (+$186,000) and interest 
income (+$84,000).  Water sales volumes for the six-month period were 14.6% lower than the 
actual water sales volumes for the same period in 2022/23 and were 14.7% lower than budgeted.  
 
The decrease in expenses was due largely to lower than planned costs for water purchased  
(-$954,000), utilities (-$29,000), supplies (-$28,000), Miss Dig (-$22,000, which are largely a 
matter of timing), non-labor Administrative & General (-$21,000), maintenance (-$20,000) and 
labor (-9,000) which were partially offset by higher regulatory water testing costs (+$35,000). 
 
Capital expenditures for the first six months of the fiscal year totaled $133,048 and were for 
purchase of two vehicles ($68,000) and for the initial expenses for the replacement of two 
pressure reducing valves ($62,000). 
   
Additional financial detail is attached. 



 
The following is the Authority’s record of revenues and expenditures based on the average cost 
per 1,000 cu. ft. of water. 
 

  
 

2021/22 

 
 

2022/23 

 
 

2023/24 

Over or 
Under 

2022/23 
Total Sales (MCF) 645,997 728,574 622,172 -106,402 
     
Water Sales $20.99 $21.70 $22.87 +1.17 
Other Income 0.12 0.16 0.65 +0.49 
Total Income $21.11 $21.86 23.52 +$1.66 
     
Water Purchased for Resale 18.94 18.19 21.48 +3.29 
Operating Expenses 1.86 1.42 1.84 +0.42 
Total Operating Expenses $20.80 $19.60 $23.32 +$3.71 
     
Available for Improvements $0.31 $2.26 $0.20 -$2.06 

 
 
COMPARATIVE STATEMENT 
 
The following is a comparison of the first six months operation of the current fiscal year with the 
same period of the previous fiscal year. 

 
Revenues From the Sale of Water -$1,580,048 

 Revenues From Other Sources                            +    166,201 
 TOTAL REVENUES  - $ 1,413,847 
 
 Operating Expenses 
 Water Purchased for Resale + $114,436 
 Other Operating Expenses   +   111,664 
 TOTAL EXPENDITURES  + $226,100      
 
      NET INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION  - $1,639,947 
 
The table on the next page is the record of SOCWA water sales volumes for the period July 1 
through December 31.  The six-month record shows a very large decrease in water sales volume 
of 14.6% during the current fiscal year compared with the same period of the previous fiscal 
year.  Water sales volumes were also 14.6% below budget for the period.  Precipitation was 
much higher than normal for July and August. Water sales were lower than the previous year for 
all six months of the period.   
  



 
 
         

WATER CONSUMPTION – DAILY AVERAGE (MGD) 
JULY 1 THROUGH DECEMBER 31 

 
 
Month 

 
 

2019 

 
 

2020 

 
 

2021 

 
 

2022 

 
 

2023 

Over or 
Under 
2022 

July 36.08 44.53 30.79 39.81 33.77 -6.04 
August 38.35 39.57 33.02 37.13 31.19 -5.94 
September 30.00 31.16 29.77 34.10 28.27 -5.83 
October 22.48 22.88 22.51 24.52 21.26 -3.26 
November 20.21 19.78 20.68 21.00 18.69 -2.31 
December 20.12 19.73 20.74 21.02 18.46 -2.56 
       
Average 27.90 29.65 26.26 29.62 25.29 -4.33 
       
Variance -5.8% +6.3% -11.4% +12.8% -14.6%  

 
The following is the precipitation record, as recorded at the Webster Station: 
 

PRECIPITATION – INCHES 
Month 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 
July 7.15 2.46 7.15 3.06 4.25 
August 3.04 7.31 5.64 4.93 5.47 
September 4.84 2.72 6.00 1.89 1.42 
October 4.97 3.27 6.20 0.53 3.14 
November 1.52 2.49 2.39 1.28 1.19 
December 2.60 5.30 2.13 2.60 3.40 
Total: 24.12 23.55 30.15 14.29 18.87 

 
MAJOR PROJECTS 
 
GLWA WATER RATES 
GLWA will be announcing the rates for 2024/25 in January.  GLWA is budgeting water sales for 
2024/25 that will be lower than the 2023/24 budget which may make the expected rate increase 
from GLWA greater than in previous years.  SOCWA water rate estimates for 2024/25 will be 
provided to the SOCWA Board at their February meeting.     
 
GLWA ISSUES 
GLWA Customer Outreach 
GLWA has adopted the same Customer Outreach Program that DWSD has used for many years.  
SOCWA staff is continuing to participate in the GLWA Customer Outreach Process.  I have 
been serving as one of seven elected customer co-chairs of the One Water Partnership that guides 
this process.  Significant progress has been made in improving the level of communication and 
understanding between GLWA and its customers through this process, which will be a 
continuing effort.  SOCWA continues to be a strong proponent of GLWA’s customer partnering 
process.  The Customer Outreach Program continues to be very important in continuing the 
excellent relationship between GLWA and its customers. 



 
GLWA Board of Directors 
Mr. Brian Baker, the GLWA Director representing Macomb County, was elected Board Chair 
for 2024.  Mr. Baker replaces Mr. Freman Hendrix, one of the GLWA Directors representing 
Detroit, who was Board Chair for 2023.  GLWA is using an annual rotation for Board Officers.   
 
Highland Park  
A settlement has been reached between GLWA, Highland Park and the State of Michigan that 
resolves the various court actions over Highland Park’s unpaid water and sewer bills.  As of June 
30, 2023, Highland Park owed over $54 million in unpaid bills for water service ($12.1 million) 
and sewer service ($42.2 million).  As part of this settlement, Highland Park will be using a third 
party to set their water and sewer rates and all water and sewer revenue will be deposited into a 
trust account which will pay GLWA’s bills before any remaining funds are provided to Highland 
Park.  The State of Michigan will be providing $25 million to GLWA for sewer infrastructure 
projects and $5 million for water infrastructure projects.  GLWA has determined that they will 
use a portion of this money to make refunds to their customers that have seen increased costs due 
to Highland Park not paying their GLWA bills.  The refunds will be made after all the settlement 
details have been resolved.  SOCWA will receive a refund of $327,000.  GLWA will be making 
larger refunds to their sewer customers.  The SOCWA Board determined that this refund will be 
passed along to the member communities based on historic water consumption.  These refunds 
will probably not be made until the 2024/25 fiscal year. 
 
GLWA will not be including any costs associated with Highland Park’s unpaid water bills in 
their rates for 2024/25.     
 
GLWA Website 
The GLWA website, www.glwater.org, is a great source of information regarding GLWA.  The 
agendas and minutes for all Board and Board Committee meetings are posted along with 
procurement information about all projects being performed by GLWA. 
 
SUMMER 2023 OPERATIONS 
The summer of 2023 was very poor for water sales.  The consistently rainy weather greatly 
reduced the amount of water sold for outdoor irrigation.  SOCWA water sales volumes for the 
first half of the year decreased by 14.6% from last year.  Our maximum day occurred on June 2 
when we purchased 46.22 million gallons from GLWA.  This was only 0.2% lower than the 
maximum day for 2022 and was 24% below our GLWA contract limit.  The weather deteriorated 
after early June, and we had only 3 days with water sales over 40 million gallons during the 
summer of 2023 compared with 28 days with water sales over 40 million gallons during the 
summer of 2022.  SOCWA water sales were significantly below budget for every month of the 
first half of the year.     
 
WEBSTER WATER TANK SEPARATION PROJECT 
We have begun working on a project to separate the two large water storage tanks at Webster 
Station.  This $4 million project will result in increased operational flexibility and increase the 
resiliency of the SOCWA water storage system.  The engineering design work for this project 
has been completed.  We applied for and received an infrastructure planning grant from Oakland 
County that paid for a portion of the engineering costs of this project.  We also applied for a low 
interest loan for this project from Michigan’s Drinking Water State Revolving Fund.  However, 
our project did not have high enough priority to be included in the 2023 or 2024 programs.   
 

http://www.glwater.org/


The first phase of this project, the installation of a 36” isolation value at Webster Station, will 
take place in early 2024.  We are currently revisiting the construction schedule for the remainder 
of this project.      
 
WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT AND VERIFICATION CONTRACTS 
SOCWA has a contract in place that can be used by the member communities for the 
replacement of lead water services.   The member communities with lead water services will 
need to replace 5% to 7% of those services each year under the new State of Michigan lead and 
copper rules.  Having a contractor available for all the member communities has helped reduce 
the cost of performing this required work.  Several communities have begun to use the services 
of the lead service line replacement contractor.   
 
SOCWA also has a contract in place that can be used by the member communities to verify 
water service line material type.  The State of Michigan is requiring each community to verify 
the material type of a random sample of about 20% of the water service lines in the community.  
Several communities have begun to use the services of the service line verification contractor.   
 
ANNUAL AUDIT 
The audit report for the 2022/23 fiscal year was completed by our auditors, Plante & Moran, and 
was reviewed at the November SOCWA Board meeting.  The audit found the Authority to be in 
complete conformity with generally accepted accounting practices.  The auditors concluded that 
the Authority’s level of working capital increased by $1.3 million in the fiscal year due to 
increased water sales.  Working capital continues to be maintained above the goal level 
established by the Board.  The net position of SOCWA increased by $945,313 during the year.   
 
Audit standards require SOCWA to conduct an annual actuarial valuation of our liability for 
Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB or retiree health insurance).  We performed this year’s 
valuation using a tool provided by Milliman, which was significantly less expensive and much 
quicker than having the analysis performed by our prior actuarial firm.  The valuation as of June 
30, 2023 showed that the OPEB plan for salaried employees was 186.0% funded and the OPEB 
plan for Union employees was 137.0% funded.  We are now using the OPEB trust funds to pay 
for all of our retiree health insurance expenses.  
 
NEW GENERAL MANAGER     
I will be retiring as the General Manager of SOCWA and SOCRRA during the second quarter of 
2024 after more than 22 years of service.  In preparation for my retirement, the SOCWA and 
SOCRRA Boards conducted a detailed interview process that resulted in the selection of Eric 
Griffin as the new General Manager of SOCWA and SOCRRA.  Eric is starting as General 
Manager on February 12, 2024.  I will be continuing to work with Eric for a couple of months to 
ensure a smooth transition.  Eric is an engineer that has been working for GLWA and DWSD for 
over 10 years.  He worked closely with SOCWA staff on SCADA and metering issues, so he is 
familiar with the SOCWA water system.   
          

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
       Jeffrey A. McKeen, P.E.   
       General Manager 



SOUTHEASTERN OAKLAND COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY
INCOME STATEMENT
07/01/23 -12/31/23

Period Actual Period Budget Variance
REVENUES
SALE OF WATER MEMBERS 9,071,416.00 10,203,754.00 (1,132,338.00)
SALE OF WATER OTHERS 5,156,064.77 6,412,312.00 (1,256,247.23)

TOTAL SALE OF WATER REVENUES 14,227,480.77 16,616,066.00 (2,388,585.23)

RENTALS 59,274.04 63,370.60 (4,096.56)
WATER ANALYSIS & MISC 670.00 3,000.00 (2,330.00)
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 158,552.41 75,000.00 83,552.41
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 187,909.73 2,000.00 185,909.73

TOTAL OTHER REVENUES 406,406.18 143,370.60 263,035.58
TOTAL REVENUES 14,633,886.95 16,759,436.60 (2,125,549.65)

LEAD SERVICE REPLACEMENT 525,326.75 1,350,000.00 (824,673.25)

EXPENSES
PURCHASE OF WATER FOR RESALE 7,285,449.13 8,019,000.00 (733,550.87)
POWER, PUMPING & GROUNDS WEBSTER 285,251.81 305,770.04 (20,518.23)
POWER, PUMPING & GROUNDS 97,834.26 158,442.08 (60,607.82)
COMPUTER OPERATIONS 50,712.81 51,999.65 (1,286.84)
PURIFICATION 98,160.92 77,262.48 20,898.44
METERS & MAINS 119,521.57 131,400.88 (11,879.31)
ADMINISTRATION & GENERAL 492,888.36 514,300.00 (21,411.64)
WATER IN TRANSIT 6,078,914.18 6,299,000.00 (220,085.82)
TOTAL EXPENSES 14,508,733.04 15,557,175.13 (1,048,442.09)

LEAD SERVICE LINE REPLACEMENT 525,516.01 1,350,000.00 (824,483.99)

NET INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION 125,153.91 1,202,261.47 (1,077,107.56)

DEPRECIATION 317,512.00

NET INCOME (192,358.09)



SOUTHEASTERN OAKLAND COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED WITH TOTAL BUDGET
07/01/23 - 12/31/23

Period Actual
Total Budget 

2023-2024
Remaining 

Budget
% Received 

or Expended
REVENUES
SALE OF WATER MEMBERS 9,071,416.00 19,015,100.00 (9,943,684.00) 48%
SALE OF WATER OTHERS 5,156,064.77 10,686,200.00 (5,530,135.23) 48%

TOTAL SALE OF WATER REVENUES 14,227,480.77 29,701,300.00 (15,473,819.23) 48%

RENTALS 59,274.04 130,999.90 (71,725.86) 45%
WATER ANALYSIS & MISC 670.00 10,000.00 (9,330.00) 7%
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 158,552.41 150,000.00 8,552.41 106%
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 187,909.73 2,000.00 185,909.73 9395%

TOTAL OTHER REVENUES 406,406.18 292,999.90 113,406.28
TOTAL REVENUES 14,633,886.95 29,994,299.90 (15,360,412.95) 49%

LEAD SERVICE REPLACEMENT 525,326.75 2,500,000.00 (1,974,673.25) 21%

 
EXPENSES
PURCHASE OF WATER FOR RESALE 7,285,449.13 27,357,000.00 (20,071,550.87) 27%
POWER, PUMPING & GROUNDS WEBSTER 285,251.81 595,500.08 (310,248.27) 48%
POWER, PUMPING & GROUNDS 97,834.26 314,240.16 (216,405.90) 31%
COMPUTER OPERATIONS 50,712.81 103,499.63 (52,786.82) 49%
PURIFICATION 98,160.92 154,524.96 (56,364.04) 64%
METERS & MAINS 119,521.57 263,049.76 (143,528.19) 45%
ADMINISTRATION & GENERAL 492,888.36 830,300.00 (337,411.64) 59%
WATER IN TRANSIT 6,078,914.18 0.00 6,078,914.18 0%

TOTAL EXPENSES 14,508,733.04 29,618,114.59 (15,109,381.55) 49%

LEAD SERVICE LINE REPLACEMENT 525,516.01 2,500,000.00 (1,974,483.99) 21%

NET INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION 125,153.91 376,185.31 (251,031.40) 33%



SOUTHEASTERN OAKLAND COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE STATEMENT
07/01/23 - 12/31/23

Period Actual
2023-2024

Period Actual
2022-2023

Over/Under

REVENUES
SALE OF WATER 9,071,416.00 9,838,319.70 (766,903.70)
SALE OF WATER OTHERS 5,156,064.77 5,969,209.20 (813,144.43)

TOTAL SALE OF WATER REVENUES 14,227,480.77 15,807,528.90 (1,580,048.13)

RENTALS 59,274.04 64,270.20 (4,996.16)
WATER ANALYSIS-LAB & MISC 670.00 730.00 (60.00)
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 158,552.41 53,668.40 104,884.01
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 187,909.73 121,536.43 66,373.30

TOTAL OTHER REVENUES 406,406.18 240,205.03 166,201.15
TOTAL REVENUES 14,633,886.95 16,047,733.93 (1,413,846.98)

LEAD SERVICE LINE REPLACEMENT 525,326.75 1,929,068.89 (1,403,742.14)

EXPENSES
WATER PURCHASED FOR RESALE 7,285,449.13 7,358,750.64 (73,301.51)
WATER PURCHASE IN TRANSIT 6,078,914.18 5,891,175.88 187,738.30
OPERATING EXPENSES 1,144,369.73 1,032,706.18 111,663.55
FIXED CHARGES 0.00 0.00 0.00
TOTAL EXPENSES 14,508,733.04 14,282,632.70 226,100.34

LEAD SERVICE LINE REPLACEMENT 525,516.01 1,932,238.89 (1,406,722.88)

NET INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION 125,153.91 1,765,101.23 (1,639,947.32)

DEPRECIATION 317,512.00 320,715.50 (3,203.50)

NET INCOME (192,358.09) 1,444,385.73 (1,636,743.82)



SOUTHEASTERN OAKLAND COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY
TOTAL CHARGES
07/01/23 - 12/31/23

MUNICIPALITY

WATER 
CONSUMPTION 

CUBIC FEET
TOTAL WATER 

CHARGES
MEMBERS
BERKLEY 23,681.68 455,535.18
BEVERLY HILLS 19,909.70 383,085.58
BINGHAM FARMS 5,601.10 107,060.71
BIRMINGHAM 61,769.28 1,178,353.04
CLAWSON 17,512.56 334,551.21
HUNTINGTON  WOODS 10,832.02 209,257.63
LATHRUP VILLAGE 6,675.09 135,356.78
PLEASANT RIDGE 5,466.20 105,017.54
ROYAL OAK 115,753.89 2,241,312.71
SOUTHFIELD 195,948.22 3,774,658.89
DETROIT ZOO & RACKHAM 7,340.19 140,985.91

MEMBERS TOTAL 470,489.93 9,065,175.18

NON MEMBERS
BLOOMFIELD HILLS 30,537.23 1,028,793.90
BLOOMFIELD TOWNSHIP 121,144.84 4,125,311.67

NON MEMBERS TOTAL 151,682.07 5,154,105.57

GRAND TOTAL 622,172.00 14,219,280.75



SOUTHEASTERN OAKLAND COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY
INCOME STATEMENT WITH AVERAGE PER CUBIC FOOT
07/01/23 - 12/31/23

Period
Actual

2023/2024 
Average Per 
1,000 cubic 

feet

2022/2023 
Average Per 
1,000 cubic 

feet

REVENUES
SALE OF WATER 9,071,416.00 19.2808 18.1692
SALE OF WATER OTHERS 5,156,064.77 33.9926 31.9055

TOTAL SALE OF WATER REVENUES 14,227,480.77 22.8674 21.6965

RENTALS 59,274.04 0.0953 0.0882
WATER ANALYSIS-LAB & MISC 670.00 0.0011 0.0010
INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 158,552.41 0.2548 0.0726
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES 187,909.73 0.3020 0.1668

TOTAL OTHER REVENUES 406,406.18 0.6532 0.1618
TOTAL REVENUES 14,633,886.95 23.5206 21.8584

EXPENSES
WATER PURCHASED FOR RESALE 7,285,449.13 11.7097 10.1002
POWER, PUMPING & GROUNDS WEBSTER 285,251.81 0.4585 0.4062
POWER , PUMPING & GROUNDS 97,834.26 0.1572 0.1658
COMPUTER OPERATIONS 50,712.81 0.0815 0.0610
PURIFICATION 98,160.92 0.1578 0.1082
METERS & MAINS 119,521.57 0.1921 0.1104
ADMINISTRATIVE & GENERAL 492,888.36 0.7922 0.5657
WATER IN TRANSIT 6,078,914.18 9.7705 8.0859
TOTAL EXPENSES 14,508,733.04 23.3195 19.6033

NET INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION 125,153.91



SOUTHEASTERN OAKLAND COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY
CAPITAL EXPENSES
07/01/23 - 12/31/23

2023 Ford F150 Pick Up #1 32,213.00

12 Mile Meter Station (PRV) 30,204.00

2023 Ford F150 Pick Up #2 36,080.00

11 & Franklin (16" Valve) 31,810.00

11 & Greenfield (2-8" Valves & Handwheels) 2,655.92

Tank Separation (Engineering) 84.83

Total Expenditures 133,047.75

Fixed Asset Expenditures



MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: February 29, 2024 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Scott A. Grewe, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: Torry and Haynes Yield Sign Review 

At the January 8, 2024, regular meeting, Commissioner Haig asked for a review of the yield 
sign located at the intersection of Torry and Haynes noting that earlier in the meeting a yield 
sign was changed to stop sign on Columbia. 

It should be noted that the review of Columbia was conducted after multiple complaints of 
speeding vehicles, cut-through traffic, and sight line issues at intersections.  Other mitigation 
attempts failed to address the issue on a more permanent basis, such as extra patrols for 
enforcement and temporary speed boards.  Therefore, a review of sight line distances was 
conducted by F&V which found that the stop sign installations were warranted according to the 
Michigan Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MMUTCD). 

In regards to the intersection of Torry and Haynes, there have been no traffic complaints received 
by the Police Department for this stretch of roadway.  Additionally, there were no recorded 
accidents at this intersection in 2023, and the daily volume of vehicles at this location does not 
meet the levels identified by the MMUTCD for the installation of a stop sign.  A review of the 
location also shows no permanent visual obstruction for drivers attempting to turn onto Haynes 
from Torry, however, the presence of parked vehicles on the south side of Haynes could present 
an obstruction. 

Therefore, F&V was asked to provide a recommendation for this intersection.  They have 
completed their review and it is attached. 

11E4



 
 
 
 

MEMO 

27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 195 
Farmington Hills, MI 48334 

P: 248.536.0080 
F: 248.536.0079 

823808 Torry & Haynes Traffic Control Review FINAL 2-22-2024  www.fveng.com 

 VIA EMAIL: RKearney@bhamgov.org 

To: 
Cpt. Ryan Kearney 
Birmingham Police Department  

From: 
Julie M. Kroll, PE, PTOE 
Paul Bonner, EIT 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering 

Date: February 22, 2024 

Re: 
Torry Street and Haynes Street 
Traffic Control Review 

Fleis & VandenBrink (F&V) staff is pleased to present this memo to the City of Birmingham for your use in 
evaluating the recommended traffic control signing for the intersection of Torry Street and Haynes Street, shown 
in Figure 1 below. This study was performed to determine if changes to the existing yield-control is 
recommended.  

FIGURE 1: STUDY INTERSECTION LOCATION MAP 

 

The guidance regarding regulatory traffic measures is provided in the Michigan Manual of Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices (MMUTCD) Sections 2B.05 and 2B.09. Additional information is provided in the American 
Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) Geometric Design of Highway and Streets 
(Green Book). F&V referenced the MMUTCD and additional documents to evaluate the existing intersection 
conditions and develop recommendations. The results of the analysis and recommendations are included 
herein. 

Haynes Street 

11E4



City of Birmingham | Torry Street and Haynes Street | Traffic Control Evaluation 
February 22, 2024 │ Page 2 of 3 

823808 Torry & Haynes Traffic Control Review FINAL 2-22-2024823808 Torry & Haynes Traffic Control Review FINAL 2-22-2024 
  

FIELD REVIEW  

F&V staff performed a field review of the study intersections on Tuesday, January 23, 2024, to review the 
intersection and sight distance. The photos taken during the field visit are attached.  

Key findings from the field review are summarized below: 

• YIELD control is provided on the Torry Street northbound approach. 

• No vehicles were observed to be parked along Torry Street or Haynes Street that would impact sight 
distance.  

• Marked crosswalks are provided on Haynes Street on both the east and west legs of the intersection.  

INTERSECTION CONTROL ANALYSIS 

Section 2B.05 of the MMUTCD provides guidance in order to determine when the installation of a STOP sign 
should be considered at an intersection. The application guidance includes the evaluation of the following 
conditions: 

A. Intersection of a less important road with a main road where application of the normal right-of-way rule 
would not be expected to provide reasonable compliance with the law; Not met. 

B. Street entering a through highway or street; Met. 

C. Unsignalized intersection in a signalized area; and/or Not met. 

D. High speeds, restricted view, or crash records indicate a need for control by the STOP sign. Not met. 

Due to the study intersection being at three-way “T-leg” intersection, there is an underlying implication that the 
major roadway is designated as the through street and the dead-end street is the minor roadway. Additionally, 
Torry Street and Haynes Street are both residential streets where there are no traffic signals present at similar 
intersections in the surrounding area. 

The crash data utilized in the analysis was obtained by F&V from the Michigan Traffic Crash Facts (MTCF) 
website. The historical crash data was obtained for the most recent available five years (January 1, 2018 – 
December 31, 2022). The result of the crash analysis indicates that there have been zero (0) crashes reported 
at the study intersection in the most recent five years. 

F&V conducted an evaluation of the corner clearance for the intersection of Torry Street and Haynes Street and 
compared existing conditions to the requirements for corner clearance outlined in the AASTHO Green Book. 
The evaluation indicates that the study intersection of Torry Street and Haynes Street has the necessary 
intersection corner clearance provided and there are no vehicles parked within approximately 60 feet of the 
intersection on the east side and approximately 80 feet on the west side. The field review showed that there 
were no vehicles parked at this intersection.  

Additionally, Section 2B.09 of the MMUTCD was reviewed which provides guidance as to when a YIELD sign 
may be used instead of a STOP sign. The guidance includes the evaluation of the following conditions: 

A. When the ability to see all potentially conflicting traffic is sufficient to allow a road user traveling at the 
posted speed, the 85th percentile speed, or the statutory speed to pass through the intersection or to 
stop in a reasonably safe manner. Met. 

B. If controlling a merge type movement on the entering roadway where acceleration geometry and/or 
sight distance is not adequate for merging traffic operation. N/A 

C. The second crossroad of a divided highway, where the median width at the intersection is 30 feet or 
greater. In this case, a STOP sign may be installed at the entrance to the first roadway of a divided 
highway, and a YIELD sign may be installed at the entrance to the second roadway. N/A 

D. An intersection where a special problem exists and where engineering judgment indicates the problem 
to be susceptible to correction by the use of the YIELD sign. Not met. 

  

11E4



City of Birmingham | Torry Street and Haynes Street | Traffic Control Evaluation 
February 22, 2024 │ Page 3 of 3 

823808 Torry & Haynes Traffic Control Review FINAL 2-22-2024823808 Torry & Haynes Traffic Control Review FINAL 2-22-2024 
  

SUMMARY 

• The results of the analysis show that a STOP sign is not recommended at the intersection of Torry 
Street and Haynes Street and the existing YIELD control is appropriate at this intersection. 

• No changes to the existing traffic control measures is recommended. 

Stop Sign Guidance (MMUTCD Section 2B.05) Met? 

A. Intersection of a less important road with a main road where 
application of the normal right-of-way rule would not be 
expected to provide reasonable compliance with the law.  

No 

B. Street entering a through highway or street.  Yes 

C. Unsignalized intersection in a signalized area. No 

D. High speeds. Restricted view, or crash records indicate a need 
for control by the STOP sign.  

No 

Stop Control Not Recommended No 

Yield Sign Guidance (MMUTCD Section 2B.09) Met? 

A. When the ability to see all potentially conflicting traffic is 
sufficient to allow a road user traveling at the posted speed, 
the 85th percentile speed, or the statutory speed to pass 
through the intersection or to stop in a reasonably safe 
manner.  

Yes 

B. If controlling a merge type movement on the entering roadway 
where acceleration geometry and/or sight distance is not 
adequate for merging traffic operation. 

No 

C. The second crossroad of a divided highway, where the median 
width at the intersection is 30 feet or greater. In this case, a 
STOP sign may be installed at the entrance to the first roadway 
of a divided highway, and a YIELD sign may be installed at the 
entrance to the second roadway.  

No 

D. An intersection where a special problem exists and where 
engineering judgment indicates the problem to be susceptible 
to correction by the use of the YIELD sign.   

No 

Yield Control Recommended Yes 

 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this engineering analysis, please do not hesitate to contact 
our office. 
 
 
Attachments: Sight Distance Exhibit 

Intersection Photos 
 
 

CC:   Brooks Cowan, City Planner 
  Melissa Coatta, PE, City Engineer 
 
 

11E4



 

11E4



 

Westbound Haynes Street approach at Torry Street 
Looking West 

11E4



  

Westbound Haynes Street approach at Torry Street 
Looking South 

 11E4



 

Eastbound Haynes Street approach at Torry Street 
Looking South 

 11E4



 

Eastbound Haynes Street approach at Torry Street  
Looking East 

11E4



  

Northbound Torry Street approach at Haynes Street  
Looking East 

 11E4



  

Northbound Torry Street approach at Haynes Street  
Looking West 

11E4



 

Northbound Torry Street approach at Haynes Street 
Looking North 

11E4



Improving traffic signal timing with a
handful of connected vehicles

February 20 2024, by Jim Lynch

Traffic signal retiming with vehicle trajectories. a Trajectory point scatters in
the City of Birmingham, Michigan, which has a total of 34 signalized
intersections, including three main corridors and some isolated intersections.
Each point represents a vehicle’s location at a certain timestamp, and the color of
the point changes with speed. Corridors and intersections that were identified
with traffic signal re-timing opportunities are labeled with different colors. b
Time-space (TS) diagram and connected vehicle trajectory. The blue line shows
the vehicle trajectory of a connected vehicle. Each blue dot represents a
trajectory point. c Eulerian and Lagrangian traffic state representations. Eulerian

1/5 INFORMATION ONLY



traffic state representation defines the traffic state as the density of each cell,
while the Lagrangian keeps track of the movement of the vehicle. d Comparison
of current practice based on fixed-location detector data and the proposed
method with vehicle trajectories. LWR models are frequently used to model
traffic flow from detector data, which directly provides speed, density, and
volumes at certain locations. We utilize the stochastic point-queue model under
the Newellian coordinates, where vehicle trajectory data, which directly provides
delays and stop locations, is the only input. e OSaaS system: an integrated closed-
loop system with performance evaluation, traffic state & parameter estimation,
diagnosis, optimization, and field implementation. Credit: Nature
Communications (2024). DOI: 10.1038/s41467-024-45427-4

With GPS data from as little as 6% of vehicles on the road, University of
Michigan researchers can recalibrate traffic signals to reduce congestion
and delays at intersections significantly.

In an 18-month pilot study conducted in Birmingham, Michigan, the
team used connected vehicle data insights provided by General Motors
to test its system, resulting in a 20% to 30% decrease in the number of
stops at signalized intersections. GM vehicles make up 6-10% of cars
currently on the road in the United States.

Officially, it's the world's first large-scale, cloud-based traffic signal
retiming system, and it represents a major opportunity for communities
to recalibrate their signal patterns at a reduced cost. U-M's research 
appears in Nature Communications.

The U-M system takes GPS data from a percentage of vehicles on the
road and extrapolates traffic patterns. For example, a connected vehicle
that comes to a stop roughly 100 feet from an intersection strongly
indicates that it is behind at least three or four other vehicles.

2/5 INFORMATION ONLY



"While detectors at intersections can provide traffic count and estimated
speed, access to vehicle trajectory information, even at low penetration
rates, provides more valuable data including vehicle delay, number of
stops, and route selection," said Henry Liu, U-M professor of civil
engineering and director of both Mcity and the Center for Connected
and Automated Transportation.

There are roughly 320,000 traffic signals in the U.S., and the annual
congestion costs—direct and indirect—associated with those
intersections come out to $22.9 billion. Those costs include time spent
waiting at lights, as well as unnecessary energy consumption caused by
signal times that can be improved.

Most traffic signals operate on a time-of-day signal timing plan, where
preset patterns are in place for morning, afternoon, evening, and
overnight. Traffic planners attempt to coordinate those cycles with
surrounding intersections to allow cars to flow between intersections
with as little stop-and-go travel as possible.

"The reason these signals should be changed more often is that traffic is
always changing," Liu said. "A good example is the traffic patterns we
saw in the year before COVID's arrival and the two years afterward.
Your morning peak hour changed drastically with so many people
working from home. When you see that kind of change, you need to
retime these signals."

Optimizing signals to keep up with changes in traffic flows isn't a simple
task. The costs and time involved in doing traffic counts and
recalculation mean most municipalities won't reassess for two to five
years or sometimes decades.

While adaptive signals have been around since the 1970s, detecting
vehicles at intersections to reprogram signals almost in real-time, the

3/5 INFORMATION ONLY



cost has kept them from widespread use. Installation of an adaptive
system at a single intersection can cost as much as $50,000, with regular
maintenance required—a price tag not all communities can afford. The
U-M system for optimization would cost a fraction of that of an adaptive
system.

The U-M system, called a probabilistic time-space diagram, allows for a
smaller percentage of connected vehicle data to do the same workload as
sensors at an adaptive traffic signal. To test its effectiveness, researchers
collected data over the course of three weeks in March 2022 from each
of Birmingham's 34 signalized intersections—most of which are fixed-
time systems.

"What this has done is really solve our data collection issue," said Gary
Piotrowicz, deputy managing director of the Road Commission for
Oakland County. "And I could argue that this is going to be the way
everybody in the country does it. Once they've solidified the system,
there's no reason to do it any other way."

Liu's team features several graduate students including Zachary Jerome,
a graduate research assistant and member of the Michigan Traffic Lab
who helped develop U-M's algorithm. Jerome worked directly with
RCOC and hopes to collaborate with industry partners to help other
municipalities deploy this cost-saving technology.

"The opportunity to work with industry to bring this groundbreaking
technology into real-world applications is incredibly inspiring," Jerome
said. "My vision is that this system will provide a revolutionary signal
retiming solution for communities across the world that is scalable,
sustainable and efficient."

  More information: Xingmin Wang et al, Traffic light optimization
with low penetration rate vehicle trajectory data, Nature Communications

4/5 INFORMATION ONLY



(2024). DOI: 10.1038/s41467-024-45427-4

Provided by University of Michigan

Citation: Improving traffic signal timing with a handful of connected vehicles (2024, February
20) retrieved 22 February 2024 from https://techxplore.com/news/2024-02-traffic-vehicles.html

This document is subject to copyright. Apart from any fair dealing for the purpose of private
study or research, no part may be reproduced without the written permission. The content is
provided for information purposes only.

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

5/5 INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY


	20240304 City Commission Agenda
	3A 20240304 MMTB APPOINTMENT PACKET -amended
	Paul. Eddleston APP
	ROSTER
	MMTB Birmingham, MI Code of Ordinances

	5A 20240304 CC Workshop Minutes (DRAFT) - 2-05-24
	Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

	5B 20240304 CC Minutes (DRAFT) - 02-05-24
	Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

	5C 20240304 CC Minutes (DRAFT) - 02-12-24
	Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

	5D 202400304 warrant 20240215
	5E 20240304 warrant list 20240222
	5F 20240304 Warrant List of 2-28-2024
	5G 20240304 SE Day on the Town
	MEMO-Draft
	Day on the Town-Application
	Department Approval
	DEPARTMENT


	5H 20240304 SE Birmingham Farmers Market
	MEMO-DRAFT
	Farmers Market-Application
	Department Approvals
	DEPARTMENT


	5I 20240304 SE Birmingham Movie Nights
	MEMO
	Movie Nights-Application
	Department Approvals
	DEPARTMENT


	5J 20240304_Edgewood_Road_Contract_Award_CC_Memo_w_attachments
	8A 20240304_Adams_Road_Diet_CC_Memo_w_attachment_presentation
	8B 20240304 Senior-Recreation Center Committee - 2-28-24
	8B1 City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd_ Senior_Community Center Feasibility Study Process
	8C 20240304 Proposed On-Street Parking Changes
	Memo - 2023-24 On-Street Parking Changes
	20240304 Proposed On-Stree Parking Changes
	2023-24 On-Street Parking Changes
	Current Parking Meter Program
	Current Parking Meter Program
	Proposed Changes
	On-Street Program  Recommended Changes
	Slide Number 6
	On-Street Program
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	BSD/APC Board Recommendations
	Slide Number 17

	1_10_24 APC Minutes
	Aaron Ford, Parking Systems Manager 

	BSD - January 4, 2024 - Minutes SIGNED

	10A APC Letter
	10B 20240304 Shirley and Arlington Communications
	Voeffray - City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd_ Shirley & Arlington Street Improvements
	Mirro - City of Birmingham MI Mail - One More Vote for Arlington & Shirley
	20240304 Communication - Mirro - City of Birmingham MI Mail - Arlington_Shirley Agenda Item Request

	11A1 20240304 NOTICE OF INTENTION - MBPB
	11A2 20240304 NOTICE OF INTENTION - Housing Board
	11E1 20240304 2nd Quarter Budget Report
	11E2 20240304 2nd Quarter Investment Report
	11E3 20240304 SOCWA WA Final 2Q24 packet
	ADPD89F.tmp
	FINANCIAL STATEMENT
	COMPARATIVE STATEMENT

	July
	PRECIPITATION – INCHES
	Month

	MAJOR PROJECTS
	GLWA WATER RATES
	SUMMER 2023 OPERATIONS
	ANNUAL AUDIT



	11E4 20240304 Torry and Haynes Yield Sign Review
	823808 Torry & Haynes Traffic Control Review FINAL 2-22-2024
	Torry & Haynes Sight Distance 1-23-2024
	Torry & Haynes Intersection Photos 1-23-2024

	IO 20240304 Improving traffic signal timing with a handful of connected vehicles
	IO 20240304 Pickleball Letter - Signed - 2-22-24

	BoardCommittee of Interest: Multi Modal Transportation Board
	Specific CategoryVacancy on Board: Bike/Ped Advocate
	Name: Patrick Hillberg
	Phone: 248.797.1804                                 
	Residential Address: 1853 Fairview
	Email: patrick_hillberg@hotmail.com
	Residential City Zip: Birmingham, 48009
	Length of Residence: Since 2006                      
	Business Address: 
	Occupation: Adjunct Professor, Consultant
	Business City Zip: 
	Reason for Interest Explain how your background and skills will enhance the board to which you have applied: 
	Explain your background: I walk frequently through Bham, and bike to Royal Oak, Detroit, and W. Oakland County.
	List your related employment experience 1: Teach a grad eng. mgt. course in sustainable transportation at OU, 
	List your related employment experience 2: and bring content from MMTB into class. Previously, US Lead for Academic & Workforce Development for Siemens.
	List your related community activities 1: I have been an alternate member of the MMTB since 2022. 
	List your related community activities 2: Interact with Urban Robotics Fdn (writing ISO std on autonomous delivery robots in cities).
	List your related educational experience 1: BS Computer Sci., MS, PhD in systems engineering.                                  
	List your related educational experience 2: Member of the Assoc. of Pedestrian and Bicycle Professionals (APBP).
	direct compensation or financial benefit If yes please explain 1: 
	direct compensation or financial benefit If yes please explain 2: No
	Do you currently have a relative serving on the boardcommittee to which you have applied: No
	Are you an elector registered voter in the City of Birmingham 1: Yes
	Date: 27-Feb-2024


